Multidisciplinary Approaches Examining the Genetic Basis of Drug-Induced Locomotor Stimulation

by

Helen M. Kamens

A DISSERTATION

Presented to the Department of Behavioral Neuroscience

and Oregon Health & Science University

School of Medicine

in partial fulfillment

of the requirements for the degree of

Doctor of Philosophy

September 2007

School of Medicine Oregon Health & Science University

CERTIFICATE OF APPROVAL

This is to certify that the Ph.D. thesis of

Helen M. Kamens

has been approved

Tamara J. Phillips, Mentor

Ũ John K. Belknap, Member

Amy A-Eshleman, Member

Robert J. Hitzemann, Member

Gregory P. Mark, Member

LIST OF FIGURES
LIST OF TABLES
LIST OF ABBREVIATIONSvii
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS ix
ABSTRACTxi
Chapter 1: General Introduction
Behavioral Stimulation: Humans2
Behavioral Stimulation: Rodents
Behavioral Stimulation as an Endophenotype7
Behavioral Stimulation is a Complex Trait8
Genetic Dissection of Complex Traits
QTL for the Acute Locomotor Response to Amphetamines, Cocaine, and Ethanol 16
Neural Basis of Stimulation
Nicotinic Acetylcholine Receptors
Nicotinic Acetylcholine Receptors are Involved in Behavioral Stimulation
Dissertation Goals
Chapter 2: A Role for Neuronal Nicotinic Acetylcholine Receptors in Ethanol-Induced
Stimulation, but Not Cocaine- or Methamphetamine-Induced Stimulation
Abstract
Introduction
Methods
Results
Discussion
Chapter 3: The Alpha 3 Subunit of the Nicotinic Acetylcholine Receptor is a Candidate Gene for Ethanol-Induced Locomotor Activation
Abstract
Abstract
Introduction
Introduction
Introduction

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Abstract	111
Introduction	
Methods	116
Results	121
Discussion	129
Chapter 5: General Discussion	139
Methamphetamine Stimulation	139
Cocaine Stimulation	141
Ethanol Stimulation	144
Stimulation as an Endophenotype	
Genetic Correlations and Pleiotropy	154
Progressing from Candidate Gene to Quantitative Trait Gene (QTG)	155
Conclusions and Future Directions	157
References	

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1. Reciprocal chromosome 9 congenic mice
Figure 2. An illustration of mapping QTL with interval-specific congenic strains 17
Figure 3. The mesolimbic circuitry and some associated neural connections
Figure 4. Mecamylamine attenuated ethanol-induced stimulation in (a) FAST-1 and (b)
FAST-2 mice
Figure 5. Hexamethonium did not affect ethanol (2 g/kg) stimulated activity in (a)
FAST-1 or (b) FAST-2 mice
Figure 6. Methyllycaconitine did not affect ethanol (2 g/kg) stimulated activity in (a)
FAST-1 or (b) FAST-2 lines
Figure 7. Dihydro- β -erythroidine did not affect ethanol (2 g/kg) stimulated activity in (a)
FAST-1 or (b) FAST-2 lines
Figure 8. There were no differences in <i>Chrna3</i> gene expression among FAST-1, SLOW-
1, FAST-2, and SLOW-2 mice
Figure 9. Mecamylamine attenuated ethanol-induced stimulation in D2 mice. Data
(mean \pm SEM) are from the last 10 min of a 15 min test
Figure 10. Hexamethonium did not affect ethanol (1.5 g/kg) stimulated activity in D2
mice
Figure 11. Mecamylamine did not affect cocaine (10 mg/kg) stimulated activity in D2
mice
Figure 12. Mecamylamine did not affect methamphetamine (2 mg/kg) stimulated activity
in D2 mice

Figure 13. Capture of the chromosome 9 QTL for the locomotor response to ethanol is
dependent on congenic background strain
Figure 14. The chromosome 9 ethanol stimulation QTL is not captured in a B6
background congenic
Figure 15. A longer segment congenic does not capture the chromosome 9 ethanol
stimulation QTL on the B6 background
Figure 16. QTL mapping in a congenic F_2 population reduces the QTL interval from a 62
to a 46 cM region
Figure 17. Greater whole brain Chrna3, but not Chrna5 or Chrnb4, expression
corresponds with reduced locomotor response to ethanol
Figure 18. Greater ventral midbrain and striatum Chrna3 expression corresponds with
reduced locomotor response to ethanol
Figure 19. [¹²⁵ I]-epibatidine saturation binding in olfactory bulb tissue from chromosome
9 D2.B6 congenic and D2 control animals 103
Figure 20. Cytisine inhibition of [¹²⁵ I]-epibatidine binding in olfactory bulb tissue from
chromosome 9 D2.B6 congenic and D2 control animals 104
Figure 21. Strains of mice that differ in response to an acute injection of ethanol have
similar densities of α 3-containing acetylcholine receptors in the ventral midbrain and
olfactory bulbs 106
Figure 22. The locomotor response to cocaine in the chromosome 9 B6.D2 congenic and
B6 strains is dependent on sex
Figure 23. The chromosome 9 D2 background congenic strain provides no evidence of a
QTL on chromosome 9 for cocaine-induced locomotor activity

Figure 24. The QTL for the acute locomotor response to methamphetamine is captured
in the chromosome 9 D2.B6 and B6.D2 congenic mouse strains
Figure 25. Fine mapping of a QTL for methamphetamine stimulation on mouse
chromosome 9 to a 24.16 Mb region

LIST OF TABLES

Table 1.	QTL mapped for the acute locomotor response to amphetamines, cocaine, and	d
ethanol c	on mouse chromosomes	19
Table 2.	Nicotinic acetylcholine receptor subunits found in the nervous system	28
Table 3.	The acetylcholine receptor antagonists referred to in this dissertation	30

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

- 5-HT 5-Hydroxytryptamine
- AMPA Amino-3-Hydroxy-5-Methylisoxazole-4-Propionic Acid
- ANOVA Analysis of Variance
- B6-C57BL/6 Mice
- BEC Blood Ethanol Concentration

BXD RI – Recombinant Inbred Strains Derived from the C57BL/6J and DBA/2J Inbred Strains

- Ct Crossing Threshold
- D2 DBA/2 Mice
- DEPC Diethylpyrocarbonate
- dfw Degrees of Freedom Within

DSM-IV – Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders – Fourth Edition

EC₅₀ - the concentration of agonist at which 50% of the maximum response is achieved

- GABA γ-Amino Butyric Acid
- i.p. Intraperitoneal
- ISCS Interval-Specific Congenic Strains
- i.v. Intravenous
- LOD Logarithm of the Odds
- NMDA N-Methyl-D-Aspartate
- RI Recombinant Inbred
- RNAi RNA interference
- qRT-PCR Quantitative Real Time-PCR

- QTG Quantitative Trait Gene
- QTL Quantitative Trait Locus (Loci)
- siRNA small interfering RNA

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

There a number of people who have in some way helped me complete this dissertation. Some were critical in the actual collection of the data, while others provided more of a supporting role over the past few years. My mentor Dr. Tamara Phillips is by far the person to whom I owe most credit for this research. Thank you Tamara for letting me come into your lab and develop my own project. I still am amazed that Tamara let me pick a single gene in the chromosome 9 QTL region and let me develop a set of projects to examine the role of that gene. Tamara is a great mentor and I feel very fortunate to have worked in her lab.

Without Carrie McKinnon, Na Li, and Sue Burkhart-Kasch I'm sure I would still be trying to figure out how to get experiments done and collect data for this dissertation. These three women are great and I really can't say enough good things about them. Carrie taught me how to do just about everything in the lab, and collected approximately half of the data for the chromosome 9 ISCS – methamphetamine stimulation project. She also tested the chromosome 9 B6.D2 – long congenic for ethanol stimulation. Na Li helped me develop the microdissection procedure. Further, she collected the other half of the data for the chromosome 9 ISCS – methamphetamine stimulation project and tested the chromosome 9 congenics for ethanol stimulation project and tested the chromosome 9 congenics for ethanol stimulation project and tested the breeding queen and was responsible for the production of most of the mice in this dissertation. Beyond the help with these projects, these three made it fun to be in the lab.

I would also like to acknowledge my advisory committee members, Drs. Amy Eshleman, Greg Mark, and John Belknap for all of their advice on these projects over the past few years. A special thank you to Amy Eshleman for helping me design the binding experiments. Thank you to Dr. Kristine Wiren for the use of her lab for the qRT-PCR experiments and Joel Hashimoto for teaching me how to run this assay. John Belknap has been critical for every experiment that required genotyping. John always gave good advice on experimental design and allowed me to use his laboratory space and equipment. Furthermore, Dr. Kari Buck and her lab, in particular Dr. Renee Shirley and Sarah Alexander, have genotyped the mice that were used to develop the chromosome 9 ISCS. Finally, I thank Dr. Robert Hitzemann for agreeing to be on my examination committee.

Angela Scibelli, Sarah Holstein, Dr. Raúl Pastor, and Dr. Jeanna Wheeler have been great people to share an office with over the past year. These four were great for advice on all things science related. In addition to those already mentioned it was nice to be in the lab with Dr. Amanda Sharpe, Dr. Cheryl Reed, and Carolina Therrin. I am also grateful to my fellow graduate students: Rick Bernardi, Dr. Chris Kliethermes, Dr. Paul Meyer, Lauren Milner, Rebecca Gorin-Meyer, Will Horton, and Trish Pruis for making graduate school more interesting. In particular, Rick taught me everything I know about CSs, USs, and consolidation. Mark Rutledge-Gorman always has an answer to any question and is one of the best people to know at OHSU. The Behavioral Neuroscience departmental staff is also great. Kris Thomason, Ginger Ashworth, and Charlotte Wenger have been very helpful over the past five years. Furthermore, without Kris and her special candy drawer I would have never made it through seminar!

I would also like to thank my parents Harry and Carol Kamens for being extremely supportive of me through everything I have done.

Finally, none of this research would have been possible without the financial support of the Department of Veterans Affairs, the N.L. Tartar Trust, the University Club of Portland, and NIH grants P50 AA10760, T32 AA07468, and F31 AA015822.

ABSTRACT

Drug abuse is a complex trait that is influenced by both genetic and environmental factors. Endophenotypes are simple traits that are genetically related to complex traits. Understanding the biological basis of an endophenotype is thought to be a way to understand a partial component of a complex trait. The acute locomotor responses to ethanol and psychostimulants are examined here as putative endophenotypes for drug and alcohol abuse.

In this dissertation I set out to determine if nicotinic acetylcholine receptors are involved in ethanol, cocaine, and methamphetamine stimulation, and to confirm the presence of a quantitative trait locus (QTL) for the acute locomotor responses to these drugs on mouse chromosome 9 using congenic strains of mice. In this region of chromosome 9, there is a cluster of genes encoding acetylcholine receptor subunits. Therefore, the α 3, α 5, and β 4 subunits of the nicotinic receptor (*Chrna3, Chrna5,* and *Chrnb4*, respectively) were examined as candidate genes for the acute locomotor response to ethanol. To achieve this goal, gene and protein expression assays were used.

Behavioral pharmacological studies provided evidence that neuronal nicotinic acetylcholine receptors are involved in the acute locomotor response to ethanol, but not cocaine or methamphetamine. Mecamylamine, a nonspecific acetylcholine receptor antagonist, decreased ethanol-induced locomotor activation in two genetic models of enhanced sensitivity (DBA/2J [D2] and FAST mice). Hexamethonium, a nicotinic acetylcholine receptor antagonist which does not cross the blood brain barrier, did not attenuate this response. Antagonists specific for $\alpha 4\beta 2$ and $\alpha 7$ receptors did not affect stimulation, therefore providing evidence against the role of these receptors. A QTL on

xi

mouse chromosome 9 was confirmed for ethanol, cocaine, and methamphetamine stimulation. The location of the QTL for ethanol and methamphetamine stimulation was further narrowed using a congenic F_2 population and interval-specific congenic strains (ISCS), respectively. To determine if nicotinic acetylcholine receptors containing an α 3 subunit were involved, molecular assays were utilized since antagonists specific for these receptors are not commercially available. The D2 strain of mice, which is robustly stimulated by ethanol, had less *Chrna3* expression compared to the chromosome 9 D2.B6 congenic mice, which are less stimulated by ethanol. Mice selectively bred for sensitivity (FAST) and insensitivity (SLOW) to the stimulant effects of ethanol had similar *Chrna3* expression. The assays currently used to assess protein expression of nicotinic acetylcholine receptors subunits are inadequate; therefore the question of differences in *Chrna3* protein levels remains unresolved.

These data provide evidence that a gene on chromosome 9 accounts for part of the variation in the acute locomotor responses to ethanol and psychostimulants. There is evidence that *Chrna3* is a candidate gene for the acute response to ethanol, but this gene does not appear to be involved in psychostimulant-induced locomotor activation. Further work is needed to determine if *Chrna3* is the quantitative trait gene (QTG) on chromosome 9 for ethanol stimulation, and to identify the QTG on chromosome 9 for the locomotor responses to cocaine and methamphetamine.

Chapter 1: General Introduction

Drug and alcohol abuse are major health problems in the United States. The National Comorbidity Survey – Replication, conducted between February 2001 and April 2003 surveyed 9,282 individuals living in the United States. In this survey, diagnosis of drug use and dependence were defined by the Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders Fourth Edition (DSM-IV) criteria. The prevalences of lifetime alcohol and drug abuse (13.2 and 7.9%, respectively) were greater than those of alcohol and drug dependence (5.4 and 3%, respectively; Kessler et al., 2005b). The 12-month prevalences were similar to lifetime prevalences; abuse was greater than dependence. Furthermore, people who abused or were alcohol dependent at the time of this survey were more likely to abuse or be dependent on other drugs, as indicated by significant correlations between the traits (Kessler et al., 2005a).

The societal costs of drug abuse are substantial. In 1998, the cost of illicit drug abuse, as defined by loss of productivity, health care costs, and social services rendered, was 143.4 billion dollars (Office of National Drug Control Policy, 2001). The cost associated with alcohol abuse during the same time period was estimated to be 184 million dollars (Harwood, 2000). Approximately 33.4 – 49.8% of the people diagnosed with abuse or dependence of drugs and alcohol sought medical care for their condition, visiting a medical care worker a median of 5.3 times, in the year prior to the National Comorbidity Survey – Replication (Wang et al., 2005). Thus, research aimed at understanding the biological basis of drug and alcohol addiction is warranted.

Behavioral Stimulation: Humans

Amphetamine abusers who received a single 200 mg intravenous dose of amphetamine reported euphoria that peaked 15 min after drug administration and decreased over the following 10 hours. Plasma levels of amphetamine peaked by 30 min (blood levels were not assessed at 15 min post-amphetamine injection) and decreased over the next 10 hours of observation, suggesting that the subjective effects of amphetamine administration correlate with plasma amphetamine levels (Jonsson et al., 1971). Subcutaneous and oral administration of amphetamine causes dose-dependent increases in ratings of euphoria and liking of the drug (Jasinski et al., 1974). Subjects reported greater positive subjective effects at lower amphetamine doses with subcutaneous drug administration than with oral administration, but with higher doses of amphetamine the subjects reported similar effects with both administration routes. In addition to the subjective effects of amphetamine, physiological effects were also observed. Heart rate and blood pressure increased in the same dose responsive pattern as the subjective effects (Jasinski et al., 1974). Since these early studies on amphetamine administration, other studies have reported similar findings; humans report greater stimulant-like feelings after administration of amphetamine compared to placebo (Holdstock and de Wit, 2001; Veenstra-VanderWeele et al., 2006). In 2004, Vollm and colleagues reported that subjects reported an increased feeling of "mind racing" following intravenous methamphetamine administration compared to when they received saline (Vollm et al., 2004).

In this dissertation, studies using amphetamine and methamphetamine will be described together. These drugs are similar in structure and have similar

pharmacokinetic properties as well as elimination rates (Melega et al., 1995).

Amphetamine and methamphetamine elevate dopamine levels in the nucleus accumbens to a similar extent (Melega et al., 1995), but amphetamine increases dopamine levels in the prefrontal cortex significantly more than methamphetamine (Shoblock et al., 2003). Additionally, amphetamine is more potent than methamphetamine, producing greater behavioral stimulation with the same milligram dosage (Shoblock et al., 2003).

Similar to subjective reports after amphetamine administration, subjects administered cocaine intravenously or intranasally in a laboratory setting exhibited subjective and physiological effects of the drug. In response to cocaine, heart rate and blood pressure increased in a dose-dependent manner and subjects reported feeling high and amphetamine-like effects (Resnick et al., 1977). Unfortunately, in this study plasma concentrations of cocaine were not taken to determine if the subjective and physiological effects were consistent with the temporal pattern of plasma cocaine levels. However, other studies evaluating plasma concentrations of cocaine and the subjective and physiological effects of cocaine in the same individuals have shown that the temporal pattern of the effects of cocaine mirrors cocaine plasma levels (Javaid et al., 1978; Van Dyke et al., 1978). More recent studies have examined the activating effects of cocaine administration in the laboratory; feelings of high, stimulated, talkative, liking, and good drug effect all dose-dependently increased with cocaine administration (Foltin and Fischman, 1991; Foltin and Haney, 2004; Lynch et al., 2006).

Amphetamines and cocaine are purely psychostimulants (they increase motor activity such as locomotion and stereotypic behaviors), however ethanol has both stimulant and depressant effects. In an early study of the effects of alcohol in human

subjects, alcohol increased talkativeness, a behavior that may reflect the euphoric effects of this drug (Ahlenius et al., 1973), but blood alcohol concentrations were not analyzed. Further studies have demonstrated that the effects of ethanol on mood appear to be related to blood ethanol concentration. When subjects reported mood at several time points throughout the blood alcohol curve, positive moods were associated with ascending blood alcohol concentrations, while negative mood states were associated with the descending portion of the curve (Babor et al., 1983). In 1988, Lukas and Mendelson showed that male volunteers given 0.695 g/kg alcohol reported euphoria following ethanol consumption. This study also linked the increased reports of euphoria to the rising phase of the blood alcohol curve (Lukas and Mendelson, 1988). Sons of alcoholics had greater gross motor activity following alcohol (0.5 g/kg) consumption than sons of nonalcoholics (Newlin and Thomson, 1991, 1999). Recently, the locomotor stimulant effects of alcohol were observed in humans during the ascending limb of the blood alcohol curve. Activity in human subjects was assessed via accelerometers worn on the subject's wrists, and was monitored throughout the session (before, during, and after alcohol administration). Subjects that consumed wine were more activated by alcohol during the ascending limb of the blood alcohol curve (defined as the first 15 min postethanol consumption) than subjects that received alcohol-free wine or soda (Davidson et al., 2002). Activity was not monitored during the descending portion of the blood alcohol curve. Together these data show that in human subjects amphetamines, cocaine, and ethanol all increase self-reports of euphoria.

Behavioral Stimulation: Rodents

Amphetamines, cocaine, and ethanol also stimulate rodent behavior. The locomotor stimulant response is the primary behavioral measure of activation in rodents. The behavioral response to amphetamines in animals is dependent upon the dose administered. Low doses increase locomotor activity (Brien et al., 1978; Meng et al., 1999; Atkins et al., 2001), but higher doses increase stereotypic behaviors (motor behaviors that are repetitively performed for no obvious purpose; Brien et al., 1978). In Lewis rats, amphetamine caused a dose-dependent increase in locomotor activity up to doses of 10 mg/kg, but the increase in response to 17.8 mg/kg amphetamine was diminished, although this could have been due to increased stereotypy in these rats (George et al., 1991). Sensitivity to the stimulant effects of amphetamines are straindependent in both rats and mice (Moisset and Welch, 1973; Anisman et al., 1975; Anisman, 1976; Remington and Anisman, 1976; Moisset, 1977; Kitahama and Valatx, 1979; Hamburger-Bar et al., 1986; George et al., 1991; Camp et al., 1994), but patterns of strain sensitivity are dependent upon dose and testing parameters.

Similar to the work with amphetamines, cocaine also increases locomotor activity in rodents (Elliott et al., 1987), an effect which appears to be dose-dependent (Kalivas et al., 1988; Downing et al., 2003a). The time course of cocaine stimulation and brain cocaine levels follow a similar temporal pattern, peaking approximately 5-min after an acute injection. Furthermore, brain cocaine levels are significantly correlated with the locomotor response to cocaine when administered into the peritoneal cavity (i.p.; Benuck et al., 1987). The strain of rat (George et al., 1991; Camp et al., 1994) or mouse (Ruth et al., 1988; Jones et al., 1993; Tolliver and Carney, 1994; Womer et al., 1994; Henricks et

al., 1997; Rocha et al., 1998; Downing et al., 2003a) is also an important factor in determining the response to cocaine.

Many studies have assessed the acute locomotor response to ethanol in rodents. Similar to work done in humans, the behavioral activating effect of ethanol in rodents appears to be related to blood ethanol concentration. Low doses of ethanol have been shown to increase locomotor activity in both rats and mice (Ahlenius et al., 1974; Pohorecky, 1977; Frye and Breese, 1981; Erickson and Kochhar, 1985; Imperato and Di Chiara, 1986; Crabbe et al., 1994), but higher doses of alcohol cause locomotor depression (Pohorecky, 1977; Frye and Breese, 1981). In addition to ethanol having biphasic effects depending on dose administered, ethanol also produces biphasic effects that are dependent upon the time after administration. In Swiss mice, ethanol stimulated locomotor activity during the first 15 min post-ethanol injection then decreased activity thereafter (Smoothy and Berry, 1985). Similar results have been observed in the inbred DBA/2N (D2; this abbreviation will be used for any DBA/2 subline) strain (Crabbe et al., 1982).

The acute response to ethanol in rodents is also strain-dependent (Randall et al., 1975; Tabakoff and Kiianmaa, 1982; Erickson and Kochhar, 1985; Crabbe, 1986; Lister, 1987; Dudek and Phillips, 1990; Crabbe et al., 1994; Dudek et al., 1994; Tritto and Dudek, 1994; Glick et al., 2002). As with psychostimulants, the pattern of strain differences is likely dependent on dose and testing procedures. Similar to the effects observed in humans, amphetamine, cocaine, and ethanol all stimulate locomotor activity in rodents.

Behavioral Stimulation as an Endophenotype

An endophenotype is a measurable trait that is genetically related to a complex phenotype. The use of endophenotypes to identify the biological basis of complex phenotypes was first described for psychiatric traits over 30 years ago (Gottesman and Shields, 1973). The theory behind the use of endophenotypes is that a complex trait is influence by many genes, as well as environmental influences, and an endophenotype is a relatively simple trait that is influenced by fewer genetic and environmental factors (Gottesman and Gould, 2003). Identifying genes that influence an endophenotype will lead to an understanding of a partial component of the complex trait.

The acute locomotor response to ethanol has been proposed to be an endophenotype for alcohol abuse (Gabbay, 2005). Several studies have shown a positive relationship between the acute stimulant response to alcohol and one's likelihood of abuse. For example, in 1987 de Wit and colleagues showed that subjects who reported more positive mood and arousal following alcohol administration were more likely to choose an alcohol containing drink over placebo compared to individuals who report dysphoria following consumption of a beverage containing alcohol (de Wit et al., 1987). Moreover, heavy drinkers were more stimulated by alcohol than light drinkers, and less sedated (Holdstock et al., 2000; King et al., 2002), even when blood alcohol concentrations were not different. Recently, Thomas and colleagues (2004) showed that non-treatment seeking alcoholics were more stimulated by alcohol administered in a laboratory setting than social drinkers.

Although many studies have shown a positive relationship between alcohol stimulation and heavy use of this drug, in one case-control study high stimulation was

associated with low alcohol dependence (Poikolainen, 2000). While this study reported the opposite relationship, the methods used to assess ethanol stimulation and the populations studied were quite different. In this study, alcohol dependent subjects, in a hospital treatment program for their dependence, were compared to a representative household sample. Furthermore, in this study the subjects rating of stimulation was based on recall of the last time they were intoxicated (Poikolainen, 2000). This is different from the other studies where stimulation was assessed after subjects were administered a low dose of ethanol (0.34 - 0.8 g/kg) in a laboratory setting.

The positive relationship between the acute stimulant response and further drug intake has also been observed with psychostimulants. Drug preference studies have provided evidence that the initial stimulant response to amphetamine predicts the likelihood of further drug use (de Wit et al., 1986; Gabbay, 2003). Similarly, Davidson and colleagues showed that there was a significant positive relationship between subjects ratings of positive cocaine effects, including euphoria, and lifetime cocaine use (Davidson et al., 1993). These data provide evidence that, similar to the acute locomotor response to ethanol being an endophenotype for alcohol abuse, the stimulant response to amphetamines and cocaine may be an endophenotype for psychostimulant abuse. Thus, understanding the biological basis of the acute response to these drugs may lead to a partial understanding of drug and alcohol abuse.

Behavioral Stimulation is a Complex Trait

There is little work in humans regarding the amount of variation in the behavioral response to ethanol and psychostimulants that is attributed to genes or environmental factors. As mentioned in the previous section, a number of studies have suggested a

positive relationship between the acute stimulant response to these drugs and further drug intake, but these results do not provide information regarding the basis of these findings. This relationship could be influenced by genes, the environment, or interactions among these factors (e.g., gene X gene, gene X environment, and environment X environment).

In contrast to human studies, there is ample evidence in mice that the acute locomotor responses to amphetamines, cocaine, and ethanol are influenced by multiple genes. The first evidence that the locomotor response to amphetamine was influenced by polygenic factors came from a study using recombinant inbred (RI) strains of mice. Seven RI strains derived from the C57BL/6By (B6; this abbreviation will be used for any C57BL/6 subline) and BALB/cBy inbred strains were tested for their acute response to amphetamine. The strain distribution pattern of the behavioral response in these mice provided evidence that amphetamine-induced stimulation was influenced by multiple genetic factors (Oliverio et al., 1973). Similar results for the acute locomotor response to cocaine were found a few years later (Shuster et al., 1977).

Although an original study in RI strains derived from the B6 and BALB/cBy progenitor strains suggested that the acute response to ethanol was mediated by a single gene on chromosome 4 (Oliverio and Eleftheriou, 1976), there has been substantial data since this original study that this trait, like the acute response to psychostimulants, is influenced by multiple genetic factors. For example, in 1983 Crabbe and colleagues examined the acute response to ethanol in 20 RI strains derived from the B6 and D2 inbred strains (BXD RI). The strain distribution pattern provided evidence that several loci modulated the locomotor response to a 1.33 g/kg ethanol injection (Crabbe et al., 1983). Other studies have since shown that the stimulant response to ethanol is

influenced by many genes (Phillips et al., 1995; Phillips and Shen, 1996; Erwin et al., 1997; Demarest et al., 1999; Demarest et al., 2001; Downing et al., 2003b).

A few studies have described the genetic architecture of the acute locomotor response to ethanol. These have primarily used a diallel cross methodology. In a diallel cross study, three or more inbred strains (or sometimes selected lines) are crossed to produce all possible reciprocal F₁s. Evaluation of the relationships between the parental strains and F₁ offspring provides information regarding the sources of genetic influence on the trait. Phillips and Dudek (1991) assessed the acute locomotor response to 2 g/kg ethanol in a diallel cross of the LS (Long Sleep), SS (Short Sleep), B6, and MOLD/RkAbg lines and strains. These data suggested that the behavioral response to ethanol was under mostly additive genetic control, but that there was also a small dominant component. There was no evidence of epistasis, sex linkage, or maternal effects (Phillips and Dudek, 1991). Results from a diallel cross of the B6, D2, AU/SsAbg, and MOLD/RkAbg strains revealed the same genetic architecture (Dudek et al., 1991).

Another way to determine the make up of the genetic influences on a trait is to use a Mendelian cross design. In this type of experiment, two inbred strains are crossed to produce F_1 , F_2 , and reciprocal backcross animals. The mean phenotypic values from these populations of animals provide evidence regarding the mode of genetic inheritance of the trait within populations derived from the two progenitor strains. A Mendelian cross experiment with the B6 and D2 inbred strains provided evidence that only additive genetic factors influenced the acute locomotor response to ethanol in these strains (Dudek and Tritto, 1994). There has been a single diallel cross study examining psychostimulant

activation. In a diallel cross of the A/J, B6, and D2 strains, most of the genetic influence on amphetamine stimulation appeared to be additive, but there also appeared to be some maternal effects and overdominance (Anisman, 1976).

Further evidence that the acute locomotor responses to amphetamines, cocaine, and ethanol are influenced by multiple genetic factors was provided by selective breeding experiments. Lines of mice have been successfully bred for sensitivity and insensitivity to all of these drugs. The first selection experiment for the locomotor stimulant response to one of these drugs was for the response to ethanol. In 1987, Crabbe and co-workers reported on the first 4 generations of selective breeding of the FAST and SLOW lines of mice (Crabbe et al., 1999a). The FAST line was bred for sensitivity to the stimulant effects of ethanol, while the SLOW line was bred for insensitivity to this effect of ethanol. These lines were bred in replicate from a genetically heterogeneous (HS/Ibg) population of mice (McClearn et al., 1970). In the first generation of selective breeding, the FAST and SLOW lines (both replicates) differed in the locomotor response to an acute injection of ethanol. These lines continued to diverge throughout many of the 37 generations of selective breeding (Phillips et al., 1991; Shen et al., 1995; Crabbe et al., 1999a; Phillips et al., 2002b).

Similar to the lines of mice bred for ethanol stimulation, replicate CAHI and CALO lines were bred for differential sensitivity to an acute injection of cocaine (10 mg/kg; Marley et al., 1998). The CAHI lines were bred for heightened sensitivity to cocaine-induced locomotor activation, while the CALO lines were bred for reduced sensitivity. HS/Ibg mice served as the founding population. The CAHI and CALO lines

differed in the first generation of selection, and progressively diverged further throughout 12 generations of selective breeding (Marley et al., 1998).

Finally, lines of mice selectively bred for the locomotor response to methamphetamine provided evidence that the locomotor response to amphetamines is polygenic. The HMACT and LMACT lines were selectively bred for differential acute locomotor response to 2 mg/kg methamphetamine from a B6XD2 F₂ population. The HMACT line was bred for heightened sensitivity to 2 mg/kg methamphetamine, while the LMACT line was bred for decreased sensitivity. The HMACT and LMACT lines differed in response to an acute injection of methamphetamine in the first selection generation, and continued to diverge over the course of selection to the point where in the fourth selection generation they differed 5-fold in this response (Kamens et al., 2005).

While there is strong evidence that genes are important in the behavioral response to ethanol and psychostimulants, environmental factors can also modulate the locomotor response to these drugs. For example, housing can affect the locomotor response to cocaine. Long-Evans rats that were group housed were more stimulated by 10 or 20 mg/kg cocaine, even when taking into account differences in baseline locomotor activity, than rats that were housed in isolation (Boyle et al., 1991). Furthermore, the lighting in the test environment can also influence this behavioral response. For example, Crabbe and colleagues (1988) showed that in a brightly lit arena, ethanol-induced locomotor stimulation was greater than when assessed in an arena that was dimly lit. These data provide evidence that the acute locomotor response to ethanol, cocaine, and methamphetamine is influenced by both genetic and environmental factors.

Genetic Dissection of Complex Traits

The previous section described evidence that the acute locomotor response to ethanol and psychostimulants is a complex trait (i.e., influenced by multiple genetic and environmental factors). To identify which genes influence the locomotor responses to these drugs quantitative trait loci (QTL) have been mapped. The abbreviation QTL will be used for both quantitative trait locus (singular) and quantitative trait loci (plural) in this dissertation. A QTL refers to a chromosomal region containing a gene that influences a complex trait. An extensive review of the techniques used to map QTL is beyond the scope of this dissertation, but there are a number of reviews and book chapters that provide details on these approaches (Crabbe et al., 1999b; Wehner et al., 2001; Palmer and Phillips, 2002; Phillips et al., 2002a; Flint, 2003; Flint et al., 2005). Instead, I will talk briefly about QTL mapping approaches, with specific details given for the methods used in this dissertation.

A number of different genetic crosses can be used to map QTL. In most cases, QTL have been mapped in crosses derived from two inbred strains. For the behavioral responses to drugs of abuse, these have usually been the B6 and D2 inbred strains. Populations derived from crossing two inbred strains that can be used to map QTL include: RI strains, recombinant congenic strains, chromosome substitution strains, intercross populations (including F₂ and backcross populations), and short-term selected lines. More recently heterogenous mice, derived from crosses of four or more inbred strains, have also been used to map QTL. The strengths and weaknesses associated with using these different mapping populations can be found elsewhere (Palmer and Phillips, 2002; Flint, 2003), but the QTL mapping in all of these populations follows the same

general methods. To map QTL, one of these populations is phenotyped for the trait of interest, and the behavioral response is correlated with the variant alleles at a specific genetic marker. If there is a significant association between the genotype and phenotype of the animals, there is evidence that a gene influencing the trait is close to the genetic marker.

Congenic strains of mice provide a valuable tool for confirmation of QTL (Bailey, 1981; Bennett, 2000). Congenic strains are isogenic animals that are derived from two inbred strains (i.e., progenitor strains). One strain serves as a donor strain while the other is the recipient (Figure 1). A small region of the donor's genome is introgressed (moved onto another genomic background) via homologous recombination onto the recipient strain. In some cases reciprocal congenic strains exist, such that in one case strain X is the donor strain while strain Y is the background strain and in the opposite strain the Y strain is the donor strain and the X strain is the background strain. If the congenic strain differs from the pure background strain, a gene in the introgressed region affects the trait of interest.

Once QTL are provisionally mapped with one or more of the populations described above, finer mapping can then ensue. The goal of fine mapping is to narrow the QTL region with the ultimate goal of identifying the quantitative trait gene (QTG). A number of approaches can be used for finer mapping (Darvasi, 1998). These include using advanced intercross lines and interval-specific congenic strains (ISCS).

ISCS have been useful in narrowing the location of QTL that influence behavioral traits (e.g., Fehr et al., 2002; Ferraro et al., 2004; Shirley et al., 2004). This strategy employs multiple congenic strains containing unique overlapping introgressed segments



Figure 1. Reciprocal chromosome 9 congenic mice. The background strain is always listed first, and then the donor strain in the congenic designation (e.g., D2.B6). Ch = Chromosome. D9Mit90,18 = represents the makers used to define the congenic region D9Mit90 is the proximal marker and D9Mit18 is the distal genomic marker. D9Mit90,182 = D9Mit90 is the marker that defines the proximal part of the congenic region and D9Mit182 defines the distal portion of the region. This figure was provided by Nicki Walter.

throughout the region thought to harbor the QTL (Darvasi, 1997). Each of the ISCS is tested for the behavior of interest and strains that are significantly different from the background strain (i.e., that capture the QTL) identify the location of the QTL (see Figure 2).

This strategy was successful in fine mapping a QTL for ethanol withdrawal severity as measured by handling-induced convulsions. ISCS narrowed the location of a QTL for ethanol withdrawal severity to an interval of approximately 1.8 Mb, which contained only 15 genes (Fehr et al., 2002; Shirley et al., 2004). This group nominated the *Mpdz* (multiple PDZ domain protein) gene as the quantitative trait gene (QTG), which they were then able to confirm through gene and protein expression assays.

The QTG can influence the behavior in at least two ways. First, there could be a polymorphism (a difference in DNA sequence) in the gene that changes the function of the protein. Second, there could be differences in gene expression leading to differences in the phenotype of interest (Flint, 2003). Recently, gene-expression profiles in strains of mice that differ in the trait of interest have been widely used (e.g., Hitzemann et al., 2004; MacLaren et al., 2006). Genes that are differentially expressed in these strains, and map in the QTL region, are considered candidate genes (Flint et al., 2005). Multiple steps go into mapping QTL with the ultimate goal of identifying the genes that influence a quantitative trait.

QTL for the Acute Locomotor Response to Amphetamines, Cocaine, and Ethanol

There is evidence that a number of genes influence the acute locomotor response to ethanol and psychostimulants. One or more QTL have been mapped on all mouse



Location of the quantitative trait locus (QTL) if strains A, C, D, and E are different from the background strain.

Figure 2. An illustration of mapping QTL with interval-specific congenic strains.

The segment of introgressed donor alleles for congenic A - F is represented as red or blue boxes relative to the chromosome on the left.

chromosomes for the acute locomotor responses to amphetamines, cocaine, or ethanol (Table 1). The strength of the evidence associated with these QTL varies. For example, experiments that used the BXD RI strains reported evidence for a number of QTL, including those in which a single genetic marker was associated with the phenotype of interest. In contrast, some of the QTL exceed the accepted Lander and Kruglyak's threshold for significant QTL (1995).

Some QTL have been mapped in a single genetic population while others have been mapped on multiple genetic backgrounds or in multiple crosses derived from the same genetic population. There are some cases where a single mapping population provides evidence of a significant QTL, but in other cases evidence from a single mapping population provides only suggestive evidence of QTL. In cases where there is suggestive evidence of a QTL, when a QTL is mapped in multiple crosses from the same genetic population (e.g., mapped in a BXD RI and a B6D2 F₂ population) these data may provide additional evidence for the QTL. An example of this can be found in a recent paper by Palmer and colleagues (2006). In this paper a QTL for ethanol stimulation on mouse chromosome 2 was mapped in four different populations of animals derived from the B6 and D2 inbred strains. Alone, data from the BXD RI cross provided only suggestive evidence for this QTL, but when these data were combined with data from three other mapping populations there was significant evidence of a QTL on chromosome 2 for this trait (Palmer et al., 2006). Furthermore, when a QTL is mapped in multiple genetic crosses, this may also provide additional evidence for the QTL. For example, a QTL for ethanol-induced stimulation has been mapped on chromosome 2 in six different

Table 1. QTL mapped for the acute locomotor response to amphetamines, cocaine,and ethanol on mouse chromosomes. Listed are the QTL defined by the authors of therespective studies. The strength of statistical evidence in support of the QTL varies.Those that exceeded Lander and Kruglyak's (1995) threshold for significant QTL (1.0 X10-4 for a cross with 1 degree of freedom or 5.2 X 10-5 for a cross with 2 degrees offreedom) are denoted by a *.

Chr	Amphetamines	Cocaine	Ethanol
1	4 mg/kg MA in BXD RI ¹²	5 mg/kg BXD RI ²¹	1.5 g/kg BXD RI ^{4, 5}
	5 mg/kg AMP AcB/BcA	$10 \text{ mg/kg BXD RI}^{21}$	*1.5 g/kg B6XD2 F2 ^{4, 14, 15, 17}
	RCS ²⁵	*20 mg/kg AcB/BcA RCS ⁹	*1.5 g/kg B6XC3H F2 ⁷
	16 mg/kg MA in BXD RI ¹²	$40 \text{ mg/kg BXD RI}^{21}$	*1.5 g/kg B6XLP F21 ⁷
		$32 \text{ mg/kg} \text{BXD} \text{RI}^{24}$	*1.5 g/kg B6XBALB F2 ^{15, 17}
			*1.5 g/kg HS4 ¹⁷
			$*1.5 \text{ g/kg HS/Npt}^4$
			*2 g/kg B6XD2 F2 ¹⁹
			2 g/kg LSXSS RI ⁸
2	5 mg/kg AMP AcB/BcA	5 mg/kg BXD RI ²¹	1.33 g/kg BXD RI ¹¹
	RCS ²⁵	10 mg/kg BXD RI ²¹	1.5 g/kg BXD RI ^{4, 5}
		$20 \text{ mg/kg} \text{ AXB/BXA RI}^2$	*1.5 g/kg B6XD2 F2 ^{4, 13, 14}
		$40 \text{ mg/kg} \text{ BXD} \text{ RI}^{21}$	1.5 g/kg B6XC3H F2 ⁷
			*1.5 g/kg HS4 ¹⁷
			$*1.5 \text{ g/kg HS/Npt}^4$
			$1.8 \text{ g/kg LXS RI}^6$
			2 g/kg BXD RI^3
			*2 g/kg B6XD2 F2 ¹⁹
			*2 g/kg B6.D2 Congenic ¹⁹
			*2 g/kg D2.B6 Congenic ¹⁹
			2 g/kg LSXSS RI ⁸
			2 g/kg AXB/BXA RI ¹⁰
3	4 mg/kg MA in BXD RI ¹²	5 mg/kg BXD RI ²¹	$1.5 \text{ g/kg B6XC3H F2}^7$
	5 mg/kg AMP AcB/BcA	10 mg/kg BXD RI ^{18, 21}	*1.5 g/kg D2XBALB F2 ¹⁷
	RCS ²⁵	$40 \text{ mg/kg BXD RI}^{21}$	1.5 g/kg LPXBALB F2 ¹⁷
	8 mg/kg MA in BXD RI ¹²		$1.8 \text{ g/kg LXS RI}^6$
			2 g/kg BXD RI ^{3, 22, 23}
			2 g/kg B6XD2 F2 ¹⁹
			2 g/kg AXB/BXA RI ¹⁰
4	5 mg/kg AMP in BXD RI^1	5 mg/kg BXD RI ²¹	1.33 g/kg BXD RI ¹¹
		10 mg/kg BXD RI ^{18, 21}	$1.5 \text{ g/kg BXD RI}^5$
		$40 \text{ mg/kg BXD RI}^{21}$	$1.8 \text{ g/kg LXS RI}^6$
			2 g/kg BXD RI ²³
5	2 mg/kg MA STSL ²⁰	10 mg/kg BXD RI ¹⁸	1.5 g/kg B6XD2 F2 ⁴
	5 mg/kg AMP in BXD RI^1	15 mg/kg BXD RI ¹⁶	$1.5 \text{ g/kg B6XC3H F2}^7$
	5 mg/kg AMP AcB/BcA	20 mg/kg AXB/BXA RI ²	2 g/kg BXD RI^3
	RCS ²⁵	*20 mg/kg AcB/BcA RCS ⁹	2 g/kg B6XD2 F2 ¹⁹
	8 mg/kg MA in BXD RI ¹²	$40 \text{ mg/kg BXD RI}^{21}$	
		45 mg/kg BXD RI ¹⁶	

Chr	Amphetamines	Cocaine	Ethanol
6	4 mg/kg MA in BXD RI ¹²	10 mg/kg BXD RI ¹⁸	1.5 g/kg BXD RI ^{4, 5}
	$5 \text{ mg/kg} \text{AMP in BXD RI}^1$	$20 \text{ mg/kg} \text{AXB/BXA RI}^2$	$*1.5 \text{ g/kg B6XC3H F2}^{7}$
	5 mg/kg AMP AcB/BcA	*20 mg/kg AcB/BcA RCS ⁹	*1.5 g/kg BALBXLP F2 ¹⁴
	RCS ²⁵		2 g/kg BXD RI ^{3, 23}
	8 mg/kg MA in BXD RI ¹²		$2 \text{ g/kg B6XD2 F2}^{19}$
	· ····································		2 g/kg LSXSS RI ⁸
7	4 mg/kg MA in BXD RI ¹²	10 mg/kg BXD RI ¹⁸	1.8 g/kg LXS RI ⁶
	8 mg/kg MA in BXD RI ¹²	*20 mg/kg AcB/BcA RCS ⁹	$2 \text{ g/kg BXD RI}^{3, 23}$
	- 6 6	$40 \text{ mg/kg BXD RI}^{21}$	2 g/kg B6XD2 F2 ¹⁹
8	4 mg/kg MA in BXD RI ¹²	5 mg/kg BXD RI ²¹	1.5 g/kg LPXB6 F2 ¹⁷
	5 mg/kg AMP in BXD RI ¹	10 mg/kg BXD RI ^{18, 21}	1.8 g/kg LXS RI ⁶
	5 mg/kg AMP AcB/BcA		2 g/kg AXB/BXA RI ¹⁰
	RCS ²⁵		- 6,
9	2 mg/kg MA STSL ²⁰	10 mg/kg BXD RI ^{18, 21}	1.33 g/kg BXD RI ¹¹
	5 mg/kg AMP AcB/BcA	*20 mg/kg AcB/BcA RCS ⁹	$1.5 \text{ g/kg BXD RI}^5$
	RCS ²⁵	$32 \text{ mg/kg} \text{ BXD RI}^{24}$	$1.5 \text{ g/kg B6XC3H F2}^7$
	8 mg/kg MA in BXD RI ¹²	$40 \text{ mg/kg BXD RI}^{21}$	*1.5 g/kg LPXB6 F2 ¹⁷
	16 mg/kg MA in BXD RI ¹²	<i>~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ </i>	*1.5 g/kg LPXBALB $F2^{17}$
	<i></i>		2 g/kg BXD RI^3
			$2 \text{ g/kg B6XD2 F2}^{19}$
			$2 \text{ g/kg LSXSS RI}^8$
10	5 mg/kg AMP AcB/BcA	10 mg/kg BXD RI ^{18, 21}	$2 \text{ g/kg BXD RI}^{22}$
_	RCS ²⁵		2 g/kg B6XD2 F2 ¹⁹
	16 mg/kg MA in BXD RI ¹²		$2 \text{ g/kg LSXSS RI}^8$
			6 6 6
11	2 mg/kg MA STSL ²⁰	32 mg/kg BXD RI ²⁴	2 g/kg BXD RI ^{3, 22}
			2 g/kg LSXSS RI ⁸
12	2 mg/kg MA STSL ²⁰	10 mg/kg BXD RI ²¹	1.8 g/kg LXS RI ⁶
	$4 \text{ mg/kg MA in BXD RI}^{12}$	$20 \text{ mg/kg} \text{ AXB/BXA RI}^2$	2 g/kg BXD RI ^{3, 22, 23}
			2 g/kg LSXSS RI ⁸
13		5 mg/kg BXD RI ²¹	1.33 g/kg BXD RI ¹¹
		*20 mg/kg AcB/BcA RCS ⁹	*1.5 g/kg LPXB6 F2 ¹⁷
			$1.8 \text{ g/kg LXS RI}^6$
			$2 \text{ g/kg BXD RI}^{23}$
			2 g/kg B6XD2 F2 ¹⁹
			2 g/kg LSXSS RI ⁸
			2 g/kg AXB/BXA RI ¹⁰
14	$5 \text{ mg/kg AMP in BXD RI}^1$	10 mg/kg BXD RI ²¹	1.5 g/kg LPXBALB F2 ¹⁷
	8 mg/kg MA in BXD RI ¹²	$40 \text{ mg/kg} \text{ BXD } \text{RI}^{21}$	2 g/kg LSXSS RI ⁸
	16 mg/kg MA in BXD RI ¹²		
15	2 mg/kg MA STSL ²⁰	5 mg/kg BXD RI ¹⁶	*1.5 g/kg B6XC3H F2 ^{7, 17}
	8 mg/kg MA in BXD RI ¹²	10 mg/kg BXD RI ²¹	$2 \text{ g/kg BXD RI}^{23}$
	16 mg/kg MA in BXD RI ¹²	$20 \text{ mg/kg AXB/BXA RI}^2$	
16	8 mg/kg MA in BXD RI ¹²	5 mg/kg BXD RI ²¹	1.5 g/kg LPXBALB F2 ¹⁷
		10 mg/kg BXD RI ^{18, 21}	$2 \text{ g/kg B6XD2 F2}^{19}$
		*20 mg/kg AcB/BcA RCS ⁹	2 g/kg AXB/BXA RI ¹⁰
		32 mg/kg BXD RI ²⁴	
		$40 \text{ mg/kg} \text{ BXD } \text{RI}^{21}$	
17	5 mg/kg AMP AcB/BcA	10 mg/kg BXD RI ¹⁸	2 g/kg BXD RI ^{3, 22, 23}
	RCS ²⁵	20 mg/kg AXB/BXA RI ²	$2 \text{ g/kg LSXSS RI}^8$
	16 mg/kg MA in BXD RI ¹²	*20 mg/kg AcB/BcA RCS ⁹	
		32 mg/kg BXD RI ²⁴	
	1		1

Chr	Amphetamines	Cocaine	Ethanol
18	5 mg/kg AMP in BXD RI^1	20 mg/kg AXB/BXA RI ²	2 g/kg BXD RI ^{3, 22, 23}
		*20 mg/kg AcB/BcA RCS ⁹	2 g/kg B6XD2 F2 ¹⁹
		10 mg/kg BXD RI ¹⁸	2 g/kg AXB/BXA RI ¹⁰
		10 mg/kg BXD RI ²¹	
19		5 mg/kg BXD RI ²¹	2 g/kg AXB/BXA RI ¹⁰
		10 mg/kg BXD RI ²¹	
Х	5 mg/kg AMP AcB/BcA		
	RCS ²⁵		

A = A/J; AMP = amphetamine; BALB = BALB/cJ; C3H = C3H/HeJ; Ch = chromosome;

LP = LP/J; LXS = inbred long sleep X inbred short sleep; LSXSS = long sleep X short sleep; MA = methamphetamine; RCS = recombinant congenic strain; STSL = short term

selected lines.

¹(Alexander et al., 1996) ²(Boyle and Gill, 2001) ³(Cunningham, 1995) ⁴(Demarest et al., 2001) ⁵(Demarest et al., 1999) 6 (Downing et al., 2006) ⁷(Downing et al., 2003b) ⁸(Erwin et al., 1997) ⁹(Gill and Boyle, 2003) ¹⁰(Gill et al., 2000) ¹¹(Gora-Maslak et al., 1991) ¹²(Grisel et al., 1997) ¹³(Hitzemann et al., 1998) ¹⁴(Hitzemann et al., 2000) ¹⁵(Hitzemann et al., 2002) ¹⁶(Jones et al., 1999) ¹⁷(Malmanger et al., 2006) ¹⁸(Miner and Marley, 1995) ¹⁹(Palmer et al., 2006) ²⁰(Palmer et al., 2005) ²¹(Phillips et al., 1998) ²²(Phillips et al., 1995) ²³(Phillips et al., 1996) ²⁴(Tolliver et al., 1994) ²⁵(Torkamanzehi et al., 2006) genetic backgrounds (Gora-Maslak et al., 1991; Cunningham, 1995; Erwin et al., 1997; Hitzemann et al., 1998; Demarest et al., 1999; Gill et al., 2000; Hitzemann et al., 2000; Demarest et al., 2001; Downing et al., 2006; Malmanger et al., 2006; Palmer et al., 2006). These data provide strong evidence for a QTL for ethanol-induced stimulation on mouse chromosome 2. A significant QTL in a single mapping population is strong evidence of a QTL, but when a QTL has been mapped in multiple genetic crosses, like this QTL for ethanol sensitivity, these data provide a replication of the QTL finding and allow for finer resolution of the QTL location (Hitzemann et al., 2002).

In some cases there are QTL mapped on the same chromosome for more than one trait. In this situation there could be one gene that has pleiotropic effects on more than one phenotype, or different genes in the same region could affect the different traits. Case in point, there is evidence that a gene on mouse chromosome 9 accounts for part of the phenotypic variation in the response to amphetamines, cocaine, and ethanol. Genetic correlations have been observed between the acute locomotor responses to these drugs (Marley et al., 1998; Bergstrom et al., 2003; Kamens et al., 2005, 2006), providing evidence that a common gene (or genes) influences these behaviors. Therefore, it is possible that a single gene on mouse chromosome 9 may have pleiotropic effects on the acute locomotor responses to amphetamines, cocaine, and ethanol.

The studies in this dissertation sought to determine if a common gene on mouse chromosome 9 influenced the locomotor responses to cocaine, ethanol, and methamphetamine. The initial interval mapping data of these QTL are large with over 1,000 genes in the QTL regions (www.genome.ucsc.edu). Of the genes located in the QTL region, the α 3 subunit of the nicotinic acetylcholine receptor (*Chrna3*) was
examined as a candidate gene. This gene was chosen as the candidate because it mapped to distal chromosome 9 (the location that the QTL mapping data had suggested were the most likely QTL location), and because there is evidence that nicotinic acetylcholine receptors are involved in the responses to these drugs (see below).

Neural Basis of Stimulation

Activation of the mesolimbic dopamine system is thought to be a common response to many abused drugs. Amphetamines, cocaine, and ethanol cause an increase in dopamine levels in the nucleus accumbens (a principal nucleus in this system) at doses which stimulate locomotor activity (Imperato and Di Chiara, 1986; Di Chiara and Imperato, 1988; Carboni et al., 1989; Robinson and Camp, 1990; Broderick, 1991). A simplified diagram of this circuitry can be found in Figure 3 (Amalric and Koob, 1993; Ikemoto, In Press; Pierce and Kalivas, 1997; Kalivas and Nakamura, 1999; Kalivas and Volkow, 2005; Nestler, 2005). The mesolimbic dopamine system is comprised of the ventral tegmental area, from which dopamine neurons project to the nucleus accumbens, prefrontal cortex, amygdale, and ventral pallidum. Within the ventral tegmental area, γ amino butyric acid (GABA) interneurons provide negative input. Furthermore, GABA neurons from the nucleus accumbens and ventral pallidum provide negative feedback to the ventral tegmental area, while excitatory glutamate projections come from the prefrontal cortex. Excitatory glutamate neurons project from the amygdala to the nucleus accumens. There are reciprocal GABAergic projections between the nucleus accumbens and ventral pallidum. The ventral pallidum is an important structure because it connects the mesolimbic dopamine pathway with basal ganglia nuclei and motor cortices (via the



Figure 3. The mesolimbic circuitry and some associated neural connections. Red arrows indicate GABAergic neurons, blue arrows indicate glutamatergic neurons, black arrows indicate dopaminergic neurons, and green arrows indicate cholinergic neurons. Dotted red arrow indicates an assumed GABAergic projection neuron. MD = mediodorsal; LDT/PPT = laterodorsal tegmentum/pedunculopontine tegmentum; IPN = interpeduncular nucleus; FR = fasciculus retroflexus.

mediodorsal thalamus), which are important in controlling movement (for review see Albin et al., 1989; Hauber, 1998).

There are at least three of ways in which cholinergic neurons may modulate the mesolimbic dopamine circuit. Two cholinergic pathways innervate the ventral tegmental area and therefore, may modulate dopamine neurotransmission. Cholinergic interneurons in the striatum may also modulate this circuit (see Figure 3).

The ventral midbrain receives cholinergic input from the laterodorsal tegmental and pedunculopontine tegmental nuclei (Oakman et al., 1995). Cholinergic neurons from these areas innervate dopamine and GABA neurons in the ventral tegmental area and substantia nigra (Oakman et al., 1995; Blaha et al., 1996; Omelchenko and Sesack, 2005). When the cholinesterase inhibitor, neostigmine, was infused into the ventral tegmental area, dopamine levels in the nucleus accumbens increased, an effect which was blocked by lesions of the laterodorsal tegmentum, but not by lesions of the pedunculopontine tegmentum (Blaha et al., 1996). In contrast, pedunculopontine tegmentum lesions attenuated dopamine increases when neostigmine was infused into the substantia nigra (Blaha and Winn, 1993; Blaha et al., 1996). In addition to cholinergic neurons, the laterodorsal tegmental and pedunculopontine tegmental nuclei also send excitatory glutamate projections to the ventral midbrain (Oakman et al., 1995; Lanca et al., 2000; Omelchenko and Sesack, 2005). It appears that the cholinergic projection is involved in the initial stimulatory effect of the laterodorsal tegmentum on ventral tegmental area dopamine neurons, since intra-ventral tegmental area mecamylamine, a nonspecific nicotinic acetylcholine receptor antagonist, blocks the laterodorsal tegmentum stimulated dopamine increase in the nucleus accumbens (Forster and Blaha, 2000). Thus,

cholinergic neurons from the laterodorsal tegmentum and pedunculopontine tegmentum may be important for activation of mesolimbic dopamine system.

The habenulointerpeduncular pathway, also known as the dorsal diencephalic pathway, is another cholinergic pathway that feeds into the ventral midbrain. The major afferent pathway into the habenula is the stria medullaris (Sutherland, 1982; Ellison, 1994; Klemm, 2004). Some fibers of the stria medullaris make connections in the habenula while others course through the area to downstream targets, including the interpeduncular nucleus (Contestabile and Fonnum, 1983). Leaving the habenula, efferent fibers travel in the fasciculus retroflexus to the interpeduncular nucleus, ventral tegmental area, substantia nigra, and thalamic and hypothalamic nuclei (Sutherland, 1982; Ellison, 1994; Klemm, 2004). This pathway provides an alternative circuit for cholinergic modulation of dopamine neurons in the ventral tegmental area.

The habenulointerpeduncular pathway provides a negative tone on dopamine neurons in the ventral tegmental area. Lesions of the habenula have been shown to increase (Lisoprawski et al., 1980), while stimulation of the lateral habenula has been shown to inhibit dopamine cell firing (Christoph et al., 1986). Additionally, lesions of the stria medullaris and fasciculus retroflexus have been shown to increase dopamine metabolites in dopamine terminal fields such as the nucleus accumbens and prefrontal cortex (Nishikawa et al., 1986). Due to the overall negative tone that the habenulointerpeduncular pathway has on dopamine levels, it is accepted that there is a GABA projection from the interpeduncular nucleus to the ventral tegmental area, although clear neurochemical evidence of this is yet to be shown.

Finally, there are cholinergic interneurons located within the striatum (Fibiger,

1982; Woolf, 1991; Di Chiara et al., 1994). The striatum is involved in motor behavior; therefore, nicotinic acetylcholine receptors located in this brain region may also modulate drug-induced locomotor activation. Since cholinergic neurons innervate key structures of the mesolimbic dopamine system, nicotinic acetylcholine receptors may modulate the acute locomotor response to drugs of abuse.

Nicotinic Acetylcholine Receptors

A number of recent reviews have focused on nicotinic acetylcholine receptors (McGehee, 1999; Romanelli and Gualtieri, 2003; Dajas-Bailador and Wonnacott, 2004; Jensen et al., 2005; Arias et al., 2006; Romanelli et al., 2007). There are currently seventeen α , β , δ , γ , and ε nicotinic receptor subunits that form ligand-gated ion channels. The $\alpha 1$, $\beta 1$, δ , γ , and ε subunits are found exclusively in muscle acetylcholine receptors, while the $\alpha 2 - \alpha 10$ and $\beta 2 - \beta 4$ subunits are found in the nervous system. These subunits form pentameric ion channels that are permeable to cations. Acetylcholine receptors come in two varieties: homomeric and heteromeric. In the central nervous system the primary homometric receptor is the α 7 receptor. Heterometric receptors are usually comprised of two α and three β subunits with the most abundant in the brain being the $\alpha 4\beta 2$ receptor. Table 2 provides details on which subtypes form heteromeric versus homomeric channels. The acetylcholine binding site on the heteropentameric receptors is at the interface of α and β subunits, thus there are two binding sites per receptor. There are five binding sties on the homopentameric receptors at the interface of the α subunits. Acetylcholine receptors are localized on both the pre- and post-synaptic terminals where

Subunit	Homopentameric	Forms Functional	Involved in Agonist Binding
		Receptors With	
α2	No	α5, β2, β3, β4	Yes
α3	No	α5, β2, β3, β4	Yes
α4	No	α5, β2, β3, β4	Yes
α5	No	α2, α3, α4, α6, β2, β4	No
α6	No	α4, α5, β2, β3	Yes
α7	Yes	α7	Yes
α8	Yes	α8	Yes
α9	Yes	α9, α10	Yes
α10	No	α9, α10	Yes
β2	No	α2, α3, α4, α5, α6	Yes
β3	No	α2, α3, α4, α6, β2, β4	No
β4	No	α2, α3, α4, α5	Yes

Table 2. Nicotinic acetylcholine receptor subunits found in the nervous system.

Listed are the twelve nicotinic acetylcholine receptors found in the nervous system. Next to each subunit there is information regarding whether that subunit forms homopentameric receptors or not, what other subunits it can form functional receptors with, and if the subunit is known to be involved in agonist binding. they depolarize the membrane by allowing the influx of Na⁺ or Ca²⁺ ions. A number of antagonists currently exist that block acetylcholine receptors, those discussed in this dissertation are listed in Table 3 (McGehee, 1999; Romanelli and Gualtieri, 2003; Dajas-Bailador and Wonnacott, 2004; Jensen et al., 2005; Arias et al., 2006; Romanelli et al., 2007).

The nicotinic acetylcholine receptor subunits can have differential effects on receptor function. For example, $\alpha 3\beta 2$ receptors desensitize more rapidly than $\alpha 3\beta 4$ receptors (Bohler et al., 2001). The α subunit also appears to mediate the rate of desensitization since receptors containing an $\alpha 3$ subunit desensitize faster than those containing either a $\alpha 2$ or $\alpha 4$ (Le Novere et al., 2002). Not only is the rate of desensitization influenced by the subunit composition, but the other channel properties are also affected. For example, the subunit composition is important for receptor function. The pattern of channel functioning as defined by the EC₅₀, or concentration of agonist at which 50% of the maximum response is achieved, appears to be influenced by the combination of α and β subunits in the receptor (Le Novere et al., 2002). In regards specifically to $\alpha 3$ containing nicotinic acetylcholine receptors, acetylcholine is more potent at $\alpha 3\beta 2$ receptors than $\alpha 3\beta 4$ receptors (Cachelin and Rust, 1994).

Nicotinic Acetylcholine Receptors are Involved in Behavioral Stimulation

The role of nicotinic acetylcholine receptors in ethanol-induced stimulation has been examined in both humans and animals. In humans, mecamylamine, a nonspecific nicotinic acetylcholine receptor antagonist, was shown to decrease the subjective stimulant effects of alcohol (Chi and de Wit, 2003) and the physiologic stimulant effects (Blomqvist et al., 2002). A decrease in ethanol-induced locomotor stimulation has also

Antagonist	Receptor Specificity	Crosses the Blood Brain Barrier
18-Methoxycoronaridine	α3β4	Yes
α-Conotoxin AuIB	α3β4	No
α-Conotoxin MII	α 3 β 2, β 3, and α 6	No
α-Conotoxin OmIA	α3β2	No
α-Conotoxin PIA-analogue	α6	No
α-Conotoxin Vc1.1	α3	No
Dihydro-β-erythroidine	α4β2	Yes
Hexamethonium	Nonspecific	No
Mecamylamine	Nonspecific	Yes
Methyllycaconitine	α7	Yes

Table 3. The acetylcholine receptor antagonists referred to in this dissertation.

Listed next to each antagonist is the information regarding which receptors the drug

blocks and if it is capable of crossing the blood brain barrier.

been observed in animals. Systemic mecamylamine decreased ethanol-induced stimulation as well as ethanol-induced increase in extracellular dopamine in the nucleus accumbens (Blomqvist et al., 1992; Larsson et al., 2002), and this effect on dopamine was localized to acetylcholine receptors in the ventral tegmental area (Blomqvist et al., 1997). In the ventral tegmental area, a number of nicotinic acetylcholine subunits have been detected. Both dopamine and GABA neurons in this region express the $\alpha 3-\alpha 7$ and $\beta 2-\beta 4$ nicotinic acetylcholine receptor subunits (Klink et al., 2001; Azam et al., 2002), and receptors containing any of these subunits could be involved in the acute locomotor response to ethanol

In NMRI outbred mice, two other nicotinic acetylcholine receptor antagonists have been tested. Dihydro- β -erythroidine is most selective for $\alpha 4\beta 2$ nicotinic acetylcholine receptors, while methyllycaconitine is a selective antagonist at $\alpha 7$ nicotinic acetylcholine receptors. Neither of these drugs attenuated the locomotor stimulant effects of ethanol or blocked accumbal dopamine increase like mecamylamine, providing no evidence of a role for these receptor subtypes (Larsson et al., 2002). To identify which nicotinic acetylcholine receptors were involved in this response, Larsson and colleagues administered different conotoxins into the ventral tegmental area to see if they could attenuate ethanol-induced stimulation. α -conotoxin MII, which is specific for $\alpha 3\beta 2$ -, $\beta 3$ -, and $\alpha 6$ -containing nicotinic acetylcholine receptors, attenuated ethanol-induced locomotor activation, but α -conotoxin PIA-analogue, which is specific for $\alpha 6$ -containing nicotinic acetylcholine receptors, did not (Larsson et al., 2004; Jerlhag et al., 2006). These data suggest that $\alpha 3\beta 2$ - or $\beta 3$ -containing nicotinic acetylcholine receptors are involved in ethanol-induced locomotor activation. To my knowledge, the role of $\alpha 3\beta 4$

nicotinic acetylcholine receptors, where mecamylamine is most potent (Papke et al., 2001), in ethanol-induced stimulation has not been specifically examined.

The evidence that nicotinic acetylcholine receptors are involved in the acute locomotor response to psychostimulants is mixed. In rats, pretreatment with mecamylamine, dihydro-β-erythroidine, methyllycaconitine, and 18methoxycoronaridine (α 3 β 4-specific) had no effect on the locomotor response to amphetamines (Szumlinski et al., 2000a; Schoffelmeer et al., 2002; Escubedo et al., 2005). In contrast, the effect of nicotinic acetylcholine receptors on cocaine stimulation is receptor subtype-dependent. Mice lacking the gene encoding the α 4 subunit of the nicotinic acetylcholine receptor were more stimulated by cocaine than were wildtype mice (Marubio et al., 2003), but mice lacking the β 2 subunit showed a normal response to an acute injection of this drug. The role of $\alpha 3\beta 4$ nicotinic acetylcholine receptors is unclear. In an initial study, blocking $\alpha 3\beta 4$ receptors with 18-methoxycoronaridine had effects on cocaine stimulation that were time dependent. When 18-methoxycoronaridine was administered 1 hour prior to cocaine it decreased cocaine stimulation, but when given 19 hours prior to cocaine it increased activation (Maisonneuve et al., 1997). In a later study, pretreatment with 18-methoxycoronaridine (19 h) had no effect on cocaineinduced stimulation (Szumlinski et al., 2000b). These data provide some evidence that nicotinic acetylcholine receptors may be involved in the acute locomotor response to ethanol and psychostimulants.

Dissertation Goals

There were three goals of this dissertation. The first goal was to establish whether nicotinic acetylcholine receptors are involved in sensitivity to the stimulant effects of

cocaine, ethanol, and methamphetamine. To accomplish this, strains or lines of mice that are highly sensitive to the stimulant effects of these drugs were examined. FAST mice were chosen because they were selectively bred for their increased sensitivity to an acute injection of ethanol (see above) and D2 mice were chosen because they exhibit robust behavioral activation following administration of cocaine, ethanol, and methamphetamine compared to other strains of mice. I tested whether pretreatment with mecamylamine would attenuate the behavioral activation produced by these drugs. Furthermore, when mecamylamine did attenuate locomotor stimulation, hexamethonium, which does not cross the blood brain barrier, was then tested to determine if the effect was due to central nicotinic acetylcholine receptors. In addition, since FAST mice are a specific model of genetic susceptibility to ethanol stimulation, the effect of additional nicotinic acetylcholine receptor antagonists (dihydro- β -erythroidine and methyllycaconitine) on ethanol-induced locomotor stimulation were examined in these mice (Chapter 2).

The second goal of this dissertation was to confirm the presence of a QTL on mouse chromosome 9 for cocaine-, ethanol-, and methamphetamine-induced stimulation. I first set out to confirm the presence of a QTL using reciprocal congenic strains. When a QTL was detected for the locomotor response to ethanol and methamphetamine, an attempt was made to fine map the location of the gene. These studies are reported in Chapters 3 and 4.

Finally, my third goal was to explore the viability of a single gene (the gene coding for the α 3 subunit of the nicotinic acetylcholine receptor) as a viable candidate gene for ethanol-induced stimulation. To address this goal, since no specific pharmacological antagonists for α 3-containing nicotinic acetylcholine receptors are

commercially available, molecular approaches were used. Chrna3 expression in the FAST and SLOW lines was examined as well as in a congenic strain that captured the QTL for ethanol stimulation. After examining Chrna3 expression in the FAST and SLOW lines (Chapter 2), it was determined that the database used to determine the location of Chrna3 in 2003 was incorrect. Instead of mapping to distal chromosome 9, Chrna3 maps to mid-chromosome 9 (54.8 Mb) in a cluster of nicotinic acetylcholine receptor subunit genes. In addition to the α 3 subunit, the α 5 and β 4 nicotinic acetylcholine subunits also map to this region. Therefore, in the congenic strain that captured the QTL for ethanol-induced stimulation expression of all three of these genes was analyzed (Chapter 3). Finally, protein expression was analyzed in the congenic strain using a receptor binding assay. Cytisine-resistant epibatidine binding was quantified as a measure of α 3-containing nicotinic acetylcholine receptors (Chapter 3 appendix). These data are included in the appendix because there are concerns about the specificity of the assay, leaving inconclusive results regarding the involvement of α 3containing nicotinic acetylcholine receptors in ethanol stimulation.

Chapter 2: A Role for Neuronal Nicotinic Acetylcholine Receptors in Ethanol-Induced Stimulation, but Not Cocaine- or Methamphetamine-Induced Stimulation

Helen M. Kamens & Tamara J. Phillips

This manuscript has been submitted for publication in Psychopharmacology, and we are currently addressing the reviewers' comments.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

These studies were performed with support from P60 AA10760 (TJP), P50 DA018165 (TJP), F31 AA015822 (HMK), the N.L. Tartar Research Fund (HMK), and the Department of Veterans Affairs (TJP). The authors would like to thank Dr. Kristine Wiren for use of her laboratory equipment for the qRT-PCR study and Joel Hashimoto, Carrie McKinnon, Na Li, and Sue Burkhart-Kasch for technical assistance with these experiments.

Abstract

Rationale. Cocaine, ethanol, and methamphetamine are widely abused substances. These drugs share the ability to stimulate locomotor activity in mice. Locomotor stimulation is a putative endophenotype for drug abuse. Understanding the biological basis of the acute locomotor response to cocaine, ethanol, and methamphetamine may provide a greater understanding of drug and alcohol abuse. *Objectives.* In these studies I set out to determine if neuronal nicotinic acetylcholine receptors, in particular those containing an α 3 subunit, were involved in the acute locomotor responses to these drugs. Methods. A panel of acetylcholine receptor antagonists was used to determine if nicotinic receptors were involved in ethanol-, and psychostimulant-induced locomotor stimulation. The involvement of these receptors was examined in strains of mice (FAST and DBA/2J) that are extremely sensitive to this effect. To determine if the α 3 subunit of the acetylcholine receptor is involved in ethanol stimulation, relative gene expression was examined between mice selectively bred for high and low response to ethanol. *Results*. Mecamylamine, but not hexamethonium, attenuated the acute locomotor response to ethanol. Furthermore, the acetylcholine receptor antagonists dihydro- β -erythroidine and methyllycaconitine had no effect on this response. The α 3 subunit of the acetylcholine receptor was not differentially expressed between mice bred for extreme differences in ethanol-induced stimulation. Mecamylamine had no effect on psychostimulant-induced locomotor activity. *Conclusions.* Neuronal nicotinic receptors are involved in ethanol-, but not psychostimulant-induced, locomotor stimulation. These studies rule out the involvement

of some nicotinic receptor subtypes, but more work is needed to determine the specific receptors types involved in this behavior.

Introduction

Cocaine, ethanol, and methamphetamine are commonly abused substances, and share the ability to cause locomotor stimulation in mice (e.g., Crabbe et al., 1983; Dudek et al., 1991; Crabbe et al., 1994; Grisel et al., 1997; Marley et al., 1998; Phillips et al., 1998; Downing et al., 2006). Locomotor stimulation has been suggested to be an important endophenotype for drug abuse (Gabbay, 2005). The use of endophenotypes to understand the complex biological basis of behavior has grown in recent years. In work to identify genes that underlie alcoholism, the use of endophenotypes has proven more successful than using the clinical diagnosis of alcohol dependence to map genes (Dick et al., 2006).

Genetic correlations have been observed between the acute locomotor response to ethanol and psychostimulants. FAST and SLOW mice were selectively bred for their differential sensitivity to the stimulant effects of ethanol (Crabbe et al., 1987; Phillips et al., 1991; Shen et al., 1995; Phillips et al., 2002b). FAST mice, which were bred for heightened sensitivity to the stimulant effects of ethanol, were more sensitive to the stimulant effects of cocaine and methamphetamine compared to SLOW mice (Bergstrom et al., 2003). An independent set of selected lines has been bred for high (HMACT) or low (LMACT) sensitivity to an acute injection of methamphetamine. Similar to the FAST and SLOW mouse lines, the HMACT line was more stimulated by ethanol and cocaine compared to the LMACT line (Kamens et al., 2005, 2006). Furthermore, lines of mice selectively bred for sensitivity to cocaine's stimulatory effects also differed in response to amphetamine, such that the lines that were more stimulated by cocaine were more stimulated by amphetamine (Marley et al., 1998). No data exists regarding

sensitivity to ethanol in these lines. These data provide support that common genes and neural mechanisms may underlie the acute locomotor responses to ethanol, cocaine, and methamphetamine.

The mesolimbic dopamine system has been implicated in drug reward and behavioral activation (Amalric and Koob, 1993; Pierce and Kalivas, 1997; Kalivas and Nakamura, 1999). Elevations in dopamine levels in the nucleus accumbens, one of the key structures in this pathway, have been observed following the administration of ethanol, cocaine, and methamphetamine at doses which stimulate locomotor activity (Imperato and Di Chiara, 1986; Di Chiara and Imperato, 1988; Carboni et al., 1989; Larsson et al., 2002; Izawa et al., 2006). The mesolimbic dopamine system is a final common pathway through which all three of these drugs produce stimulation; therefore, modulation of this pathway. Specifically, the α 3 subunit of the nicotinic acetylcholine receptors are expressed in midbrain neurons; therefore, these receptors are well positioned to modulate dopamine neuron activity (Klink et al., 2001; Azam et al., 2002). Nicotinic receptors containing this subunit may be involved in drug-induced stimulation.

Pharmacologic data have implicated α 3-containing nicotinic acetylcholine receptors in ethanol-, cocaine-, and methamphetamine-induced behaviors. However, other nicotinic receptor subunit genes are also expressed in dopamine circuits associated with drug-related stimulation. Larsson and colleagues (2002) used a panel of acetylcholine receptor antagonists to determine the role of these receptors in ethanolinduced locomotor stimulation. They showed that mecamylamine, a nonspecific nicotinic acetylcholine receptor antagonist, can attenuate ethanol-induced locomotor

stimulation in NMRI outbred mice. In contrast, dihydro- β -erythroidine, an $\alpha 4\beta 2$ receptor antagonist, and methyllycaconitine, an $\alpha 7$ receptor antagonist, had no effect on ethanol stimulation (Larsson et al., 2002). These data provide evidence against $\alpha 4\beta 2$ and $\alpha 7$ nicotinic receptors in this response. Further, when α -conotoxin MII, an antagonist of $\alpha 3\beta 2$, $\beta 3$, and $\alpha 6$ containing nicotinic receptors, was injected into the ventral tegmental area, ethanol-induced stimulation was decreased (Larsson et al., 2004). The involvement of $\alpha 6$ -containing nicotinic receptors in this response was ruled out by using α -conotoxin PIA-analogue, which specifically blocks $\alpha 6$ receptors; α -conotoxin PIA-analogue did not alter the acute response to ethanol (Jerlhag et al., 2006). Together these data provide support for the involvement of $\alpha 3\beta 2$ nicotinic receptors in ethanol-induced locomotor stimulation, but also leave open the possibility that $\beta 3$ -containing receptors are important.

Further support for the involvement of α 3-containing receptors in the behavioral response to ethanol, cocaine, and methamphetamine comes from the use of 18methoxycoronaridine. 18-methoxycoronaridine is a potent α 3 β 4 nicotinic antagonist (Glick et al., 2002). 18-methoxycoronaridine does not appear to alter the acute locomotor response to methamphetamine or cocaine (Szumlinski et al., 2000a; 2000b), but has been shown to decrease self administration of psychostimulants and ethanol. Administration of 18-methoxycoronaridine has been shown to attenuate operant responding for cocaine and methamphetamine (Glick et al., 1996; Glick et al., 2000; Maisonneuve and Glick, 2003; Pace et al., 2004). Additionally, this drug was shown to decrease ethanol consumption and preference in a 2-bottle choice paradigm (Rezvani et al., 1997), but 18-methoxycoronaridine has not been used to study ethanol stimulation. These data provide

support for the hypothesis that α 3-containing nicotinic acetylcholine receptors are involved in the behavioral responses to these drugs.

The goal of these experiments was to evaluate the role of α 3-containing acetylcholine receptors in the acute locomotor responses to ethanol, cocaine, and methamphetamine. 18-methoxycoronaridine is not commercially available; therefore, in these studies a panel of nicotinic acetylcholine antagonists (mecamylamine, hexamethonium, dihydro- β -erythroidine, and methyllycaconitine) was used. While there is evidence for a role of neuronal nicotinic receptors in the acute response to ethanol in outbred mice (Blomqvist et al., 1992; Larsson et al., 2002), I set out to test if these receptors are involved in ethanol-induced stimulation in two genetic models of high ethanol sensitivity, the selectively bred FAST mice and DBA/2J (D2) mice, an inbred strain that by chance exhibits robust locomotor stimulation following ethanol (Dudek et al., 1991; Crabbe et al., 1994). The involvement of neuronal nicotinic receptors was examined in the acute locomotor response to ethanol in FAST and D2 mice. I predicted that mecamylamine would attenuate ethanol-induced stimulation, but that hexamethonium, a nonspecific nicotinic acetylcholine receptor antagonist that does not cross the blood brain barrier, would not.

A more detailed investigation into which type of nicotinic receptors may be involved in the acute locomotor response to ethanol was performed in FAST mice since they were selectively bred for this trait. I predicted that dihydro- β -erythroidine and methyllycaconitine would have no effect on ethanol stimulation. Since the hypothesis was that α 3-containing nicotinic receptors are involved in ethanol stimulation, quantitative real time-PCR (qRT-PCR) was used to examine potential line differences in

 α 3 gene expression. I predicted that SLOW mice would have more α 3 gene expression than FAST mice. This prediction was based on the gene for the α 3 subunit of the nicotinic acetylcholine receptor being expressed in midbrain dopamine and γ -amino butyric acid (GABA) neurons (Klink et al., 2001; Azam et al., 2002). α 3-containing acetylcholine receptors do not appear to be involved in striatal dopamine release when using a synaptosome preparation (Salminen et al., 2004), but activation of this type of receptor on GABA neurons in the ventral tegmental area may lead to decreased activation of dopaminergic neurons and locomotor activity.

Finally, I wanted to examine if the effects of nicotinic receptors on ethanolinduced stimulation generalize to psychostimulants. D2 mice are extremely sensitive to cocaine- and methamphetamine-induced locomotor stimulation (Grisel et al., 1997; Phillips et al., 1998). To test the role of nicotinic receptors in the acute locomotor response to these drugs the nonspecific antagonist mecamylamine was used. I predicted that mecamylamine would attenuate cocaine- and methamphetamine-induced stimulation.

Methods

Mice were maintained in the Portland Veterans Affairs Veterinary Medical Unit. Mice were housed 2-5 per cage in standard plastic cages with Bed-o cobs' (The Andersons, Maumee, OH) lining. Animals had food (Purina Laboratory Rodent Chow #5001; Purina Mills, St. Louis, MO) and water available *ad libitum*. Mice were kept in colony rooms on a 12h light-dark cycle (lights on at 0600 h) with the temperature maintained at $21 \pm 2^{\circ}$ C. All procedures were approved by the Portland Veterans Affairs Medical Center Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee, and were consistent with the *Guide for the Care and Use of Laboratory Animals* (1996).

All mice were 50 - 101 days old and experimentally naïve at the start of testing. Mice from a single cage were distributed across groups, to avoid all mice from a single family/cage being assigned to a single drug group.

Subjects

FAST Mice

Male and female FAST-1, SLOW-1, FAST-2, and SLOW-2 mice were used for these experiments. The selection of the FAST and SLOW lines has been described in detail elsewhere (Crabbe et al., 1987; Phillips et al., 1991; Shen et al., 1995; Phillips et al., 2002b). Briefly, the FAST and SLOW mice were created through a selective breeding process starting from the heterogenous HS/Ibg stock (McClearn et al., 1970). Mice were bred for 37 generations for their high (FAST) or low (SLOW) sensitivity to the acute locomotor stimulant effects of ethanol. First litter offspring of each generation were tested for their response to ethanol (1.5 - 2 g/kg) for 4 min beginning 2 min after injection in circular open fields (LVE model PAC-001; Lehigh Valley, PA) on day 1. Testing was repeated after an injection of saline on day 2. The difference in locomotor activity was used as the selection criterion (day 1 ethanol response – day 2 saline response). The breeders of the FAST lines were chosen for their extremely high activity scores, while the breeders of the SLOW lines were chosen for their low scores. After 37 generations, selection was relaxed and breeders were arbitrarily chosen within each line. The lines continued to remain divergent in their response to ethanol after selection pressure had been relaxed (Phillips et al., 2002b). Two replicated (1 and 2) lines in each direction were concurrently bred and maintained as independent breeding populations. Mice used in the behavioral studies came from $S_{37}G_{75}$ - G_{81} , while mice for the qRT-PCR

experiment came from $S_{37}G_{84}$ - G_{85} (where S_{xx} refers to the number of selected generations and G_{yy} refers to total number of generations that have elapsed since selection began). For pharmacology experiments, only FAST mice were used since I was interested in testing the effect of nicotinic receptor antagonists on ethanol's stimulant response and SLOW mice show no locomotor activation or show locomotor depression following ethanol (Shen et al., 1995; Palmer et al., 2002; Phillips et al., 2002b). Only females were used for the hexamethonium experiment because they were more available at the time of testing and because sex was not found to interact with independent variables in the other experiments.

D2 Mice

Male D2 mice were either bred at the Portland Veterans Affairs Medical Center or obtained from The Jackson Laboratory (Bar Harbor, ME). When mice were obtained from The Jackson Laboratory they acclimated to the animal facility for at least 2 weeks prior to being tested. Mice bred in our facility were derived from D2 mice obtained from The Jackson Laboratory; new breeder pairs are obtained each year to avoid spontaneous mutations arising in our colony.

<u>Drugs</u>

Cocaine hydrochloride, dihydro-β-erythroidine hydrobromide, hexamethonium bromide, mecamylamine hydrochloride, methamphetamine hydrochloride, and methyllycaconitine citrate were purchased from Sigma (St. Louis, MO). Two hundred proof ethyl alcohol was obtained from Pharmco (Brookfield, CT). All nicotinic antagonists were dissolved in physiological saline (0.9% NaCl; Baxter Healthcare

Corporation, Deerfield, IL) to appropriate concentrations, while ethanol was diluted in saline to 20% v/v. The injection volume of all nicotinic antagonists was 10 ml/kg body weight.

<u>Apparatus</u>

Eight AccuScan automated activity monitors (Columbus, OH) were used to measure locomotor activity. The monitors have 8 photocell beams along two sides and detectors on the opposite sides. The activity monitors record the number of photocell breaks which is translated into distance traveled (in cm). Inside each monitor sat a 40 x 40 x 30 cm (l x w x h) clear acrylic test chamber. The chamber and monitor were encased by a black insulated acrylic chamber to separate the testing environment from the external environment. Inside the chamber was a fan to provide background noise and an 8-W fluorescent light for illumination. Because mice were tested between 0800 - 1600 h, the light was on for consistency with their normal light/dark cycle.

Procedure

Mice were moved to the testing room 45 - 60 min prior to the start of the experiment to allow time to acclimate. Animals were weighed and placed into individual holding cages while syringes were prepared (for up to 10 min prior to testing). FAST mice were first injected with one dose of one of four pretreatment drugs, dihydro- β -erythroidine (0, 0.5, 1, 1.5, or 2 mg/kg), hexamethonium (0, 2, 4, 6, or 8 mg/kg), mecamylamine (0, 1, 2, 3, 4, or 6 mg/kg), or methyllycaconitine (0, 1, 2, 3, or 4 mg/kg). Ten min later they received a second injection of either ethanol (2 g/kg) or saline. The 2 g/kg dose of ethanol was chosen because FAST-1 and FAST-2 mice show their greatest

stimulation response to this ethanol dose (Palmer et al., 2002), and it was the dose used for most selection generations. D2 mice were treated with mecanylamine (0, 1, 2, 3, or 4)mg/kg) or hexamethonium (0, 2, 4, 6, or 8 mg/kg) immediately prior to an injection of ethanol (1.5 g/kg), cocaine (10 mg/kg), or methamphetamine (2 mg/kg). These doses were chosen because they were known to produce robust behavioral activation in this strain (Dudek et al., 1991; Phillips et al., 1998; Kamens et al., 2005). The pretreatment times and doses of nicotinic antagonist drugs were based on prior work examining the effects of these drugs on behaviors (Blomqvist et al., 1992; Gommans et al., 2000; Larsson et al., 2002; Damaj et al., 2003) as well as pilot testing in these mice. Immediately following the second injection, animals were placed into the center of the activity monitor where locomotor activity was measured for 15- (ethanol) or 30-min (cocaine and methamphetamine) in 5-min epochs. At the end of the test session animals that received ethanol had a 20 µl blood sample taken from the retro-orbital sinus to determine blood ethanol concentrations (BEC). The blood was put into tubes containing $50 \,\mu$ l ZnSO₄ (5%) and placed on ice until processing at which time $50 \,\mu$ l Ba(OH)₂ (0.3 N) and 300 μ l dH₂OH were added to the tube. Following centrifugation, supernatant was removed and BECs were determined by gas chromatography (Agilent 6890) following procedures standard in our laboratory (Boehm et al., 2000).

RNA isolation and qRT-PCR

Tissue and RNA preparation

Naïve male and female FAST and SLOW mice were cervically dislocated before being decapitated; brains were removed and immediately frozen in isopentane. Brains were stored frozen at -80°C until they could be processed. RNA was extracted using a

guanidinium isothiocyanate-phenol-chloroform extraction method (Chomczynski and Sacchi, 1987, 2006). Briefly, brains were homogenized in RNA Stat-60 (Tel-Test, Inc. Friendswood, TX) using a polytron tissue homogenizer (Brinkmann, Westbury, NY). Chloroform (0.2 ml) was mixed with 1 ml of brain homogenate and was incubated at room temperature. The homogenate was centrifuged, and RNA from the aqueous phase was removed and put into a new tube. RNA was precipitated out with the addition of isopropanol (0.5 ml), and allowed to sit at room temperature for 10 min before centrifugation. The RNA pellet was then washed with 0.5 ml 75% ethanol and centrifuged. The RNA was allowed to air dry before being resuspended in 50 μ l diethylpyrocarbonate (DEPC) treated water. The sample was cleaned of DNA contamination using the DNA-Free RNA Kit (Zymo Research, Orange, CA), using the manufacturer's specifications. Briefly, the RNA was incubated for 15 min at 37°C with RNase-free DNase I and 10X DNase I buffer to degrade DNA from the sample. The RNA was mixed with a RNA binding buffer before being put onto a Zymo-Spin IC column. The column was washed twice and RNA was eluted with the addition of DEPC water directly onto the column. RNA quality was assessed with a spectrophotometer (Eppendorf, Hamburg, Germany; ratio 260 nm/280 nm = 1.8 - 2; Chomczynski and Sacchi, 2006) and confirmed by gel electrophoresis.

Reverse transcription and qRT-PCR

One microgram of total RNA was reverse transcribed using a High-Capacity cDNA Archive Kit (Applied Biosystems, Foster City, CA). To each RNA sample, 10 µl 10X RT Buffer, 4 µl 25X dNTPs, 10 µl 10X Random Primers, and 5 µl MultiScribe RT

was added. The mixture was incubated at 25°C for 10 min followed by 37°C for 2 h in an iCycler (Bio-Rad, Hercules, CA).

Pre-designed TaqMan gene expression assays (Applied Biosystems, Foster City, CA) were obtained for the *Chrna3* (the α 3 subunit of the acetylcholine receptor) gene and the control *Hprt1* (hypoxanthine guanine phosphoribosyl transferase 1) gene. *Hprt1* was used as the control gene because it has been validated as a reference gene in studies using mouse models of neurological diseases (e.g., Meldgaard et al., 2006). qRT-PCR reactions were run using an iCycler (Bio-Rad, Hercules, CA). Five µl of cDNA were added to 10 µl TaqMan Universal Master Mix, 1 µl of the gene specific primers, 0.4 µl fluorescein, and 3.6 µl DEPC water. The reaction began at 50°C for 2 min followed by 95°C for 10 min; the sample then went through 40 cycles of denaturing at 95°C for 15 sec followed by 1 min at 60°C that allowed for the primers to anneal and for amplification. All samples were run in triplicate and the average crossing threshold (C_t) was used as a measure of relative quantification for both the *Chrna3* and *Hprt1* genes. For analysis, the average C_t of the control *Hprt1* gene was subtracted from the C_t of the *Chrna3* gene. Relative expression, based on the $\Delta\Delta$ C_t method, was defined as 2 to the power of the negative average expression of the FAST mice minus each individual value (this was done independently for each replicate).

<u>Analyses</u>

Statistica (StatSoft, Tulsa, OK) was used for all statistical analyses. Data were analyzed using factorial analysis of variance (ANOVA) with the alpha level set at 0.05. Depending on the study, a number of independent variables were used including: replicate, line, sex, pretreatment drug dose, and challenge drug dose. Interactions

involving 3 or more factors were broken down using ANOVAs with fewer factors; twoway interactions were analyzed using simple effects and Newman-Keuls test for post-hoc comparisons.

Results

FAST Mice

Mecamylamine attenuated ethanol stimulation in both the FAST-1 and FAST-2 lines of mice (Figure 4). For all ethanol experiments, data from the last 10 min of the 15 min test are presented because the results were strongest during this time; however, similar results were obtained for all time periods examined. Data were analyzed using a 4-way ANOVA with replicate, sex, mecamylamine dose, and ethanol dose as factors. There was a main effect of replicate ($F_{1, 498}$ =11.2, p<0.001) and a significant replicate X ethanol dose interaction ($F_{1, 498}$ =85.8, p<0.001), therefore all further analyses were performed separately on the data from the FAST-1 and FAST-2 lines. Because there were no main effects or interactions with sex, male and female data were combined.

For FAST-1 mice there was a significant pretreatment X ethanol dose interaction ($F_{5, 272}$ =3.7, p<0.01); pretreatment with mecamylamine decreased ethanol-induced stimulation, but did not affect saline activity. There was a significant simple main effect when data from groups that received an ethanol injection were included in the analysis; there was less stimulation in the groups that received 3, 4, or 6 mg/kg mecamylamine compared to the saline pretreated animals or animals that received a pretreatment of 1 mg/kg mecamylamine. Additionally, mice that were pretreated with 6 mg/kg mecamylamine prior to an ethanol injection showed reduced stimulation compared to



Figure 4. Mecamylamine attenuated ethanol-induced stimulation in (a) FAST-1 and (b) FAST-2 mice. Data (mean \pm SEM) are from the last 10 min of a 15 min test. N = 20 - 26 per group. *Significantly different from the ethanol control group.

animals that received a 2 mg/kg mecamylamine pretreatment (p's < 0.01).

Mecamylamine did not significantly decrease activity following saline, as indicated by non-significant simple main effect for the saline treated groups. BECs are missing for 17 animals due to blood processing errors. This resulted in data missing from 3 mice from each of the saline, 1, 2 and 6 mg/kg mecamylamine pretreatment groups and 4 data points missing from the 3 and 4 mg/kg mecamylamine pretreatment groups. Even with this data loss, the smallest number of blood sample data points in a single group was 21. There was no effect of pretreatment with mecamylamine on BECs 15-min post-ethanol injection in FAST-1 mice (mean \pm SEM: 2.26 \pm .07, 2.39 \pm .08, 2.16 \pm .08, 2.36 \pm .06, 2.19 \pm .09, 2.21 \pm .07 for saline, 1, 2, 3, 4 and 6 mg/kg mecamylamine respectively).

A significant pretreatment X ethanol dose interaction was also observed in FAST-2 mice ($F_{5, 250}$ =4.0, p<0.01). Ethanol-induced stimulation was reduced in all groups of animals receiving pretreatment with mecamylamine compared to groups that received a pretreatment with saline. Pretreatment with 6 mg/kg mecamylamine reduced ethanol stimulation to a greater extent than pretreatment with 2 mg/kg mecamylamine (p's < 0.05). Pretreatment with mecamylamine did not significantly alter saline activity; the simple main effect for the saline groups was not significant. Pretreatment with mecamylamine did not alter BECs in FAST-2 mice (mean ± SEM: 2.22 ± .09, 2.15 ± .09, 2.31 ± .06, 2.22 ± .08, 2.18 ± .08, 2.34 ± .06 for saline, 1, 2, 3, 4 and 6 mg/kg mecamylamine respectively).

None of the other nicotinic receptor antagonists tested significantly reduced ethanol-induced stimulation in FAST mice (Figures 5, 6, 7, see figure legends for additional statistics). In all studies, FAST mice were significantly more stimulated when



Figure 5. Hexamethonium did not affect ethanol (2 g/kg) stimulated activity in (a) FAST-1 or (b) FAST-2 mice. FAST-1 and FAST-2 mice were stimulated by ethanol (F1, 62=89.3, p<0.001, F1, 60=250.1, p<0.001, respectively), but ethanol dose did not interact with hexamethonium dose. N = 5 - 14 per group.



Figure 6. Methyllycaconitine did not affect ethanol (2 g/kg) stimulated activity in (a) FAST-1 or (b) FAST-2 lines. Shown is the mean (\pm SEM) of the last 10 min of a 15 min test. FAST-1 and FAST-2 mice were stimulated by ethanol ($F_{1, 101}$ =54.7, p<0.001, $F_{1, 112}$ =270.5, p<0.001, respectively), but ethanol dose did not interact with methyllycaconitine dose. N = 10 - 13 per group.



Figure 7. Dihydro-β-erythroidine did not affect ethanol (2 g/kg) stimulated activity in (a) FAST-1 or (b) FAST-2 lines. Shown is the mean (± SEM) of the last 10 min of a 15 min test. FAST-1 and FAST-2 mice were stimulated by ethanol ($F_{1,90}$ =123.8, p<0.001, $F_{1,90}$ =245.8, p<0.001, respectively), but this did not interact with dihydro-β-erythroidine dose. N = 9 - 12 per group.

given ethanol as compared to saline, as indicated by a main effect of ethanol dose. Pretreatment with hexamethonium, methyllycaconitine, or dihydro- β -erythroidine did not significantly alter the acute locomotor response to ethanol or saline. None of these nicotinic antagonists altered ethanol levels observed 15 min post-ethanol injection in either the FAST-1 or FAST-2 lines of mice (data not shown).

The *Chrna3* gene was not differentially expressed between the FAST and SLOW mice (Figure 8). Data were analyzed using a 4-way ANOVA with replicate, line, and sex as factors. There were no significant main effects or interactions.

D2 Mice

Ethanol

Similar to the results for FAST mice, mecamylamine completely abolished ethanol (1.5 g/kg) stimulation at the 3 and 4 mg/kg doses in D2 mice (Figure 9). Since there were no significant effects of sex in FAST mice, only male D2 mice were tested. A 2-way ANOVA provided evidence of a significant pretreatment X ethanol dose interaction ($F_{4,79}$ =3.6, p<0.05). There was a significant simple main effect when data from the groups of mice that were injected with ethanol were included in the analysis; ethanol-induced stimulation was decreased in mice that received all doses of mecamylamine compared to the saline pretreated animals. The simple main effect for the groups of mice receiving saline was not significant, indicating that mecamylamine did not significantly decrease basal locomotor activity. The saline and ethanol treatment groups differed when given saline pretreatment or pretreatment with 1 or 2 mg/kg mecamylamine, but not 3 or 4 mg/kg mecamylamine, providing evidence that these high



Figure 8. There were no differences in *Chrna3* gene expression among FAST-1, SLOW-1, FAST-2, and SLOW-2 mice. Mean (\pm SEM) relative *Chrna3* gene expression in the FAST and SLOW mice. N = 12 per group.



Figure 9. Mecamylamine attenuated ethanol-induced stimulation in D2 mice. Data

(mean \pm SEM) are from the last 10 min of a 15 min test. N = 8 - 9 per group.

*Significantly different from the ethanol control group.

doses of mecamylamine completely abolished ethanol-induced stimulation in D2 mice. Pretreatment with mecamylamine did not change BECs 15-min post-ethanol injection (mean \pm SEM: 1.79 \pm .06, 1.67 \pm .12, 1.61 \pm .09, 1.77 \pm .05, 1.60 \pm .14 for saline, 1, 2, 3 and 4 mg/kg mecamylamine respectively).

Hexamethonium did not attenuate ethanol-induced stimulation in D2 mice (Figure 10). There was a main effect of treatment; mice receiving ethanol were more stimulated than mice that received saline ($F_{1, 109}$ =42.9, p<0.001), but there were no main effects or interactions with hexamethonium pretreatment. Likewise, pretreatment with hexamethonium did not alter BEC levels 15 min post-ethanol injection (data not shown).

Cocaine

Mecamylamine did not significantly attenuate cocaine-induced locomotor stimulation (Figure 11). To be consistent with the ethanol results data from min 5-15 of the 30 min test is presented. The results did not change when other time points were examined. There was a main effect of pretreatment ($F_{4, 126}$ =7.1, p<0.001) and a main effect of cocaine dose ($F_{1, 126}$ =300.3, p<0.001), but the pretreatment X cocaine dose interaction was not significant. The 2, 3, and 4 mg/kg doses of mecamylamine produced a nonspecific decrease in locomotor activity compared to the saline and 1 mg/kg dose groups, when data were collapsed on the cocaine dose factor. Cocaine enhanced locomotor activity compared to mice that received a saline injection.


Figure 10. Hexamethonium did not affect ethanol (1.5 g/kg) stimulated activity in D2 mice. Shown is the mean (\pm SEM) of the last 10 min of a 15 min test. N = 11 - 12 per group.



Figure 11. Mecamylamine did not affect cocaine (10 mg/kg) stimulated activity in D2 mice. Shown is the mean (\pm SEM) of min 5 – 15 of a 30 min test. N = 13 - 14 per group.

Methamphetamine

Pretreatment with mecamylamine did not significantly attenuate methamphetamine-induced stimulation (Figure 12) during min 5-15 of the 30 min test. Similar results were observed at all other time points. Methamphetamine (2 mg/kg) produced robust stimulation in D2 mice ($F_{1, 124}$ =73.6, p<0.001), but there was no main effect of the pretreatment or a pretreatment X methamphetamine dose interaction.

Discussion

In the present studies I set out to determine if neuronal nicotinic acetylcholine receptors, particularly those containing an α 3 subunit, were involved in the acute locomotor responses to ethanol, cocaine, and methamphetamine in mice. The nonspecific nicotinic receptor antagonist mecamylamine had no effect on cocaine- or methamphetamine-induced locomotor activity. However, mecamylamine was able to partially attenuate the acute locomotor response to ethanol in FAST mice and completely abolish this response in D2 mice. Additional work was done in FAST mice using a panel of acetylcholine receptor antagonists to examine which receptors were involved in this effect of mecamylamine. While the involvement of some nicotinic receptors was ruled out, more work is needed to determine if this effect is due specifically to α 3-containing receptors.

Our inability to detect a significant effect of mecamylamine on methamphetamine-induced activity in D2 mice is consistent with prior literature. In rats, the acetylcholine receptor antagonists mecamylamine and dihydro-β-erythroidine had no effect on the acute locomotor response to amphetamine (Schoffelmeer et al., 2002). Similarly, 18-methoxycoronaridine and methyllycaconitine did not alter the acute



Figure 12. Mecamylamine did not affect methamphetamine (2 mg/kg) stimulated activity in D2 mice. Shown is the mean (\pm SEM) of min 5 – 15 of a 30 min test. N = 13 - 14 per group.

locomotor response to methamphetamine (Szumlinski et al., 2000a; Escubedo et al., 2005). These data support the idea that nicotinic receptors are not involved in the acute locomotor response to amphetamines.

The results involving nicotinic acetylcholine receptors in cocaine stimulation are less consistent. Although no effect of mecamylamine on cocaine-induced locomotor activity was observed in this study, other studies have implicated nicotinic receptors in this response. Mice lacking the α 4 subunit showed a heightened locomotor response to an acute injection of cocaine (Marubio et al., 2003). Consistent with the present results, the acute locomotor response to cocaine in mice lacking the β 2 subunit was indistinguishable from that of wildtype mice (Zachariou et al., 2001). Additionally, 18methoxycoronaridine had no effect on cocaine stimulation (Szumlinski et al., 2000b).

In contrast to cocaine, the results obtained in the FAST and D2 mice regarding the involvement of neuronal nicotinic receptors in ethanol-induced stimulation are consistent with findings from NMRI outbred mice. That neuronal nicotinic receptors in the central nervous system have been implicated in this response in outbred, inbred, and selectively bred mice provides strong support for the involvement of these receptors in ethanol stimulation. This is supported by no effect of pretreatment with hexamethonium, but a reduction in ethanol-induced stimulation following an injection of mecamylamine (Blomqvist et al., 1992). Mecamylamine appears to decrease baseline locomotor activity, although in no case is this effect statistically significant; therefore, the significant effects in the ethanol studies only provide stronger evidence of the involvement of these receptors in ethanol-stimulated activity.

Data in NMRI and FAST mice begin to address which nicotinic acetylcholine receptors may be involved in this behavior. The acute locomotor response to ethanol in NMRI mice has been shown to be attenuated by mecamylamine, but not methyllycaconitine or dihydro- β -erythroidine (Larsson et al., 2002). In this paper, similar findings in FAST mice that were selectively bred for extreme ethanol-induced stimulation are reported. Since dihydro- β -erythroidine and methyllycaconitine do not influence this behavior this provides evidence against the involvement of $\alpha 4\beta 2$ and $\alpha 7$ acetylcholine receptors, respectively. In NMRI outbred mice ethanol-induced stimulation has been shown to be attenuated by the α -conotoxin MII, providing evidence that $\alpha 3\beta 2$, $\beta 3$, or $\alpha 6$ containing nicotinic receptors may be involved in this response (Larsson et al., 2004).

Nicotinic acetylcholine receptors containing an α 6 subunit are located in the mesolimibic dopamine pathway, and have recently been found to modulate dopamine release (Salminen et al., 2004). The localization and function of these receptors make them an interesting candidate as a modulator of this response, but there is evidence against the involvement of α 6-containing receptors. In NMRI outbred mice the α 6 specific conotoxin, α -conotoxin PIA-analogue, did not significantly alter the acute locomotor response to ethanol (Jerlhag et al., 2006).

The β 3 subunit of the nicotinic acetylcholine receptor forms functional receptors when combined with other α/β pairs such as α 3 β 4, α 6 β 2, and α 4 β 2 (Groot-Kormelink et al., 1998; Broadbent et al., 2006). This subunit has been shown to modulate nicotinic receptor kinetics, but doesn't appear to change agonist binding (Boorman et al., 2003). Mice carrying a null mutation of the β 3 subunit have enhanced baseline locomotor

activity (Cui et al., 2003), but to my knowledge these mice have not been tested for druginduced activity.

The role of α 3-containing acetylcholine receptors in ethanol-induced stimulation remains to be determined. To my knowledge, 18-methoxycoronaridine has not been tested for ethanol stimulation, but does decrease ethanol drinking (Rezvani et al., 1997). *Chrna3* expression was similar in the FAST and SLOW mice, but this does not rule out the involvement of receptors containing this subunit. One possible reason why gene expression difference may not have been detected is that a whole brain preparation was used in this initial investigation. Gene expression assays using brain regions known to contain this subunit may provide different results. Further, work should be done to see if there is differential receptor density of α 3-containing receptors in FAST and SLOW mice. The gene that codes for the α 3 subunit of the acetylcholine receptor resides on chromosome 9 in a gene cluster with the α 5 and β 4 subunit genes. This region has been implicated as a quantitative trait locus (QTL) for the acute locomotor response to ethanol (Palmer et al., 2006). Thus, the *Chrna3* gene should be regarded as a candidate gene for this QTL; however, finer mapping of the region would help to establish plausibility.

A knockout mouse of the α 3 gene has been created, but has severe impairments in growth and they die within weeks after birth (Xu et al., 1999); therefore, the homozygous mutants are not amenable for testing drug-induced behaviors. Although autoradiography studies have shown that heterozygous mice have similar acetylcholine receptor binding as wildtype mice (Whiteaker et al., 2002), these mice have been useful for behavioral studies with nicotine (Salas et al., 2004). Conotoxins are peptides which need to be centrally administered, since they cannot cross the blood brain barrier. A number of

conotoxins have been recently identified that may help elucidate whether α 3-containing nicotinic receptors are involved in ethanol stimulation. These include: α -conotoxin Vc1.1, which is specific for α 3-containing nicotinic receptors (Clark et al., 2006), as well as α -conotoxin OmIA and α -conotoxin AuIB which preferentially block α 3 β 2 and α 3 β 4 receptors, respectively (Talley et al., 2006). Since these data provide evidence of a role for neuronal nicotinic receptors in ethanol-induced stimulation, further studies using conotoxins are warranted. Brain site-specific administration of these conotoxins may provide information on the involvement of α 3-containing receptors in ethanol stimulation as well as which brain regions are important in this response.

The acute locomotor response to drugs of abuse is an endophenotype for alcohol abuse (Gabbay, 2005). Heavy drinkers report more stimulation compared to light drinkers (Holdstock et al., 2000; King et al., 2002). Not only have neuronal nicotinic receptors been implicated in the acute locomotor response to ethanol in mice, but in humans mecamylamine decreased reported ratings of ethanol-induced stimulation (Young et al., 2005) and euphoria (Chi and de Wit, 2003). Together these data provide support for the idea that nicotinic receptors may be involved in the acute response to ethanol in both humans and animal models and may provide important information about the neural mechanisms involved in alcoholism. Chapter 3: The Alpha 3 Subunit of the Nicotinic Acetylcholine Receptor is a Candidate Gene for Ethanol-Induced Locomotor Activation

Helen M. Kamens, Na Li, Carrie S. McKinnon, John K. Belknap, & Tamara J. Phillips

This manuscript is in publication format and will be submitted soon.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

These studies were performed with support from the Department of Veterans Affairs (TJP and JKB), P60 AA10760 (TJP), and F31 AA015822 (HMK). The authors would like to thank Dr. Kristine Wiren for use of her laboratory equipment for the qRT-PCR study. Additionally, we would like to thank Joel Hashimoto and Sue Burkhart-Kasch for technical assistance.

Abstract

Alcohol and nicotine are co-abused, and data in both humans and animal models provide evidence that common genes may underlie responses to both drugs. Prior work supports the existence of a gene on mouse chromosome 9 that influences the acute locomotor response to ethanol in a region that contains genes encoding three nicotinic acetylcholine receptor subunits. In the current studies, congenic mice were used to confirm that an influential gene resides on chromosome 9. To more finely map the location of the gene, congenic F_2 mice were utilized. Finally, to examine if specific nicotinic acetylcholine receptor subunits are involved in the acute locomotor response to ethanol, gene expression was quantified in strains of mice that differ in response to this drug. Genes that are differentially expressed are more likely to be involved in the trait than those that are not differentially expressed. A gene on chromosome 9 that accounts for 20% of the phenotypic variation in the response to ethanol was confirmed, and the location of this gene was narrowed to a 46 cM region that contains the acetylcholine receptor genes. There was greater expression of the α 3 subunit of the nicotinic acetylcholine receptor (Chrna3) in mice that were less sensitive to ethanol-induced stimulation compared to mice that were robustly stimulated by this drug. This gene expression difference was observed in both the whole brain and dissections of brain regions known to be important in locomotor activity. The other two nicotinic receptor subunits in the gene cluster (α 5 and β 4) were not differentially expressed. *Chrna3* is a candidate gene for the acute locomotor response to ethanol and should be examined further

Introduction

Alcohol and nicotine co-abuse is commonplace (Istvan and Matarazzo, 1984; Talcott et al., 1998; Madden et al., 2000; Grant et al., 2004), and abuse of these drugs appears to be influenced by some of the same genes. In humans, common genetic factors account for as much as 40% of the covariance between alcohol use and cigarette use (Swan et al., 1997), but the genetic correlation between alcohol dependence and nicotine dependence has been shown to be as high as .68 (True et al., 1999; Tsuang et al., 2001). The responses to these two drugs in animal models of addiction-related traits also share some genetic co-determination. Mice selectively bred for their differential acute locomotor response to ethanol also differed in their acute locomotor response to nicotine, such that the mice more stimulated by ethanol were also more stimulated by nicotine (Bergstrom et al., 2003). Further, selective breeding of rats and mice for differences in sensitivity to the sedative-hypnotic effects of ethanol resulted in differences in response to nicotine (de Fiebre et al., 1987; de Fiebre et al., 1990; de Fiebre et al., 1991; Collins et al., 1993; de Fiebre et al., 2002). Together these findings provide evidence that common genes acting through common neural mechanisms may underlie certain responses to alcohol and nicotine and may be related to their co-abuse.

Individuals who report higher levels of ethanol stimulation following alcohol administration in a laboratory setting also drink more alcohol outside of the laboratory than those that report lower levels of stimulation (Holdstock et al., 2000; King et al., 2002; Young et al., 2005). Therefore, magnitude of the acute locomotor response to ethanol has been proposed to be an endophenotype for excessive alcohol use (Gabbay,

2005). Understanding the biological basis of the acute locomotor response to ethanol may lead to a greater understanding of alcohol abuse.

Quantitative trait locus (QTL) mapping is used to locate genes that contribute to variation in traits influenced by multiple genes, such as the acute locomotor response to ethanol (Dudek et al., 1991). QTL mapping has provided evidence that at least one gene on mouse chromosome 9 influences this trait (Cunningham, 1995; Demarest et al., 1999; Palmer et al., 2006). Genes encoding the α 5 (*Chrna5*), α 3 (*Chrna3*), and β 4 (*Chrnb4*) subunits of the nicotinic acetylcholine receptor all reside in the mapped region of mid-chromosome 9. Pretreatment with the nonspecific nicotinic acetylcholine receptor antagonist mecamylamine attenuated ethanol-induced locomotor stimulation (Chapter 2; Blomqvist et al., 1992; Larsson et al., 2002), but the involvement of specific nicotinic receptor subunit genes has not been clearly identified.

The nicotinic acetylcholine receptor subunit genes were considered as candidates for the ethanol stimulation QTL. To explore their possible involvement, I used congenic strains of mice, a congenic F_2 population of mice for finer mapping, and quantitative real time-PCR (qRT-PCR) gene expression analysis. These analyses allowed me first to confirm the ethanol stimulation QTL on mouse chromosome 9, and subsequently to provide supporting evidence for one of the subunit genes as the stronger candidate for influencing the acute response to ethanol.

Methods

Subjects

All mice tested in these experiments were produced by breeder pairs at the Portland Veterans Affairs Medical Center. Congenic mice were obtained from Dr. John

K. Belknap, whereas C57BL/6J (B6) and DBA/2J (D2) mice were purchased from The Jackson Laboratory (Bar Harbor, ME). B6 and D2 breeder pairs were refreshed yearly from The Jackson Laboratory to minimize drift.

Congenic strains are a unique kind of inbred strain used to map QTL regions (Bennett, 2000). These strains contain alleles from two different inbred strains. A chromosomal segment from one inbred strain (the donor strain) is introgressed onto another inbred strain (the background strain) through homologous recombination. Reciprocal congenic strains are a valuable tool where in one case one strain (e.g., B6) is the donor strain while another strain (e.g., D2) is the background strain and another congenic strain exists where D2 is the donor strain and B6 is the background strain. If the congenic and background strains differ for a trait of interest, this provides evidence that a gene (or genes) in the introgressed region accounts for part of the trait variance (i.e., the QTL has been captured within the introgressed region).

Congenic Mice

In these studies three chromosome 9 congenic strains were used. Chromosome 9 D2.B6 (D9Mit90,18; 32.2 – 120.1 Mb), chromosome 9 B6.D2 - short (D9Mit90,182; 32.2 – 101.4 Mb), and chromosome 9 B6.D2 - long (D9Mit90,18; 32.2 – 120.1 Mb) congenics. The indicated DNA markers (e.g., D9Mit90 and D9Mit18) define the start and end of the introgressed region. The congenic strain notation (e.g., D2.B6) defines the background strain (in this case D2) and the strain which provided the donor alleles (B6).

D2 X Chromosome 9 D2.B6 (D9Mit90,18) Congenic F₂

The congenic F_2 mice were derived by crossing male chromosome 9 D2.B6 (D9Mit90,18) congenic mice to female D2 mice. The F_1 offspring from this cross, which were heterozygous for the introgressed region, were then interbred to produce the F_2 mice used in the current study.

Animal Husbandry

Mice were iso-sexually housed 2-5 per cage in standard shoebox size cages (internal dimensions: 28.5 cm long X 17.5 cm wide X 12 cm high). Animals housed together were usually littermates, but in some cases animals close in age (< 5 days difference), but from a different litter of the same strain were housed together to avoid singly housing animals. Mice had *ad libitum* access to rodent chow (Purina Laboratory Rodent Chow #5001; Purina Mills, St. Louis, MO) and tap water. The lighting in the animal rooms was maintained on a 12-h light/dark cycle (lights on at 0600).

At the start of the experiment all animals were between 51 and 114 days of age and mice of both sexes were included in these studies. In each study, the strains tested were approximately age balanced. All procedures were approved by the Portland Veterans Affairs Medical Center's Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee and were in accordance with the National Institutes of Health's Principles of laboratory animal care (1985).

<u>Drugs</u>

Ethyl alcohol (200 proof) was obtained from Pharmco (Brookfield, CT), and diluted in physiological saline (Baxter Healthcare Corporation, Deerfield, IL) to 20% v/v. Injection volumes were adjusted for body weight to achieve doses of 1.5 or 2 g/kg.

Testing Apparatus

AccuScan automated activity monitors (40 X 40 X 30 cm, Columbus, OH) were used to assess locomotor activity via 8 infrared beams, located 2 cm above the chamber floor, along 2 sides of the monitors that were detected by sensors located on the opposite 2 sides of the monitors. Beam breaks were recorded by a computer and converted into horizontal distance traveled (in cm). The activity monitors were housed in custom-made (Flair Plastics, Portland, OR) black acrylic test chambers designed to separate the monitors from the test room environment. Each chamber was lined with sound attenuating foam and housed an 8-W fluorescent light and a fan to provide background noise. Mice were tested during the light phase of the light/dark cycle, between 0800 and 1600 h, with the fluorescent lights on in the chambers.

Experiment 1

In this experiment I set out to confirm the presence of a QTL for ethanol-induced locomotor stimulation in mice congenic for a region of chromosome 9. Chromosome 9 D2.B6 congenic, chromosome 9 B6.D2 – short congenic, B6 and D2 mice were moved from the colony room to the procedure room 45 - 60 min prior to the initiation of behavioral testing. The 3-day testing procedure used in these studies is identical to that which was originally used to map this QTL (Phillips et al., 1995; Palmer et al., 2006).

Animals were injected with saline on days 1 and 2, and ethanol (2 g/kg) on day 3. Immediately after the injection on each day, mice were place into the activity monitors and horizontal distance traveled was measured for 15 min, in 5-min epochs.

The acute locomotor response to ethanol was defined as the day 3 ethanol response minus the day 2 habituated baseline response (Day 3 – Day 2). Subtracting day 2 allows for a measure of the acute locomotor response to ethanol while accounting for differences in habituated locomotor activity. Data from the first 5 min of the test session were used as the primary dependent variable consistent with the original QTL mapping experiment (Phillips et al., 1995). This time period captured pure stimulation, whereas longer test periods permit locomotor depression in response to ethanol to develop in some mouse strains (Phillips et al., 1995).

Based on the predicted amount of trait variation accounted for by this QTL (14 - 34%), a group size of 15 - 40 was predicted to be needed to confirm its presence in the introgressed region (Belknap and Atkins, 2001). Twenty-six to 49 mice were tested per sex per strain; in eight cohorts. In a representative number of animals from some cohorts, blood samples were obtained to determine if behavioral differences between the strains were due to differences in blood ethanol concentrations (BEC). A 20 µl blood sample was obtained from these mice from the retro-orbital sinus and processed following procedures standard in our laboratory (Boehm et al., 2000). BECs were determined by gas chromatography (Agilent 6890). Mice were humanely euthanized by carbon dioxide asphyxiation immediately after testing or blood sampling on day 3.

All other behavioral testing used similar procedures. Differences in procedure from this experiment are noted below.

Experiment 2

A QTL capture was confirmed in the D2.B6, but not B6.D2 – short congenic. Ethanol produces biphasic effects on locomotor activity in mice that are strain dependent (Dudek et al., 1991; Crabbe et al., 1994; Dudek et al., 1994). While 2 g/kg ethanol in the D2 strain is stimulatory, in the B6 strain this dose is more likely to be sedative (i.e., reduces locomotor activity as compared to baseline; Dudek et al., 1991; Crabbe et al., 1994). The increased ethanol stimulation conferred by the D2 genotype on mouse chromosome 9 may not be able to overcome this alternate effect on the B6 background. To reduce the possibility of enlisting sedative mechanisms by ethanol, a lower ethanol dose was used to test the chromosome 9 B6.D2 - short congenic and B6 control mice in this experiment. B6.D2 – short and B6 mice were tested for their locomotor response to 1.5 g/kg ethanol. Thirty to 32 mice (half of each sex) were tested per genotype using the same behavioral procedure as in experiment 1, except that mice were given 1.5 g/kg ethanol on day 3. All mice had blood taken after testing on day 3 for BEC analysis.

Experiment 3

Experiments 1 and 2 used a pre-existing B6 background congenic (B6.D2 – short) that possessed an introgressed D2 segment that was 18.7 Mb shorter than the congenic segment in the D2.B6 strain (32.2 - 101.4 Mb as compared to 32.2 - 120.1 Mb, respectively). A QTL capture was confirmed in the D2.B6, but not B6.D2 – short congenic even with the lower 1.5 g/kg dose of ethanol. It was possible that the QTL was not captured in the B6.D2 – short congenic because the gene that accounts for variation in the acute locomotor response to ethanol resides between 101.4 and 120.1 Mb. Thus, a new B6 background congenic with a longer 32.2 - 120.1 Mb introgressed region (B6.D2

– long) was created. Forty – 41 chromosome 9 B6.D2 - long congenic and B6 control mice were tested for ethanol (2 g/kg)-induced stimulation with the procedure described above. In this study the original 2 g/kg ethanol dose was used because there was no evidence from experiment 2 that the mice were more responsive to 1.5 g/kg ethanol (compared to 2 g/kg in experiment 1). Furthermore, all strains of mice were stimulated by 2 g/kg ethanol in experiment 1. A blood sample was taken from all animals following testing on day 3 to examine BEC.

Experiment 4

All 260 congenic F_2 mice had a small portion of the tail (approximately 3 mm) taken for DNA analysis at least two weeks prior to being tested for their acute locomotor response to ethanol (2 g/kg), using the procedures already described. Of the 260 congenic F_2 animals behaviorally tested, those that had a behavioral response in the top or bottom 12.5% of the phenotypic distribution were genotyped and used for QTL analyses. Genotyping this portion of the population provides the majority of linkage information available from the whole population (Lander and Botstein, 1989; Darvasi and Soller, 1992).

Experiment 5

The QTL for ethanol-induced locomotor stimulation on mouse chromosome 9 was captured on the D2, but not B6, background. This led to an exploration of the possibility that one or more of the nicotinic acetylcholine receptor subunit genes might play a role in the differential ethanol response. Expression of the three nicotinic receptor subunit genes was quantified in the chromosome 9 D2.B6 congenic and D2 control mice.

Differences in gene expression have been suggested to be important for complex traits (Glazier et al., 2002; Korstanje and Paigen, 2002) therefore, if differences in expression are detected these genes should be regarded as candidates for this response. In this initial analysis, whole brain tissue from naïve male and female mice (N = 6 per D2.B6 and D2 strain) was used for qRT-PCR analysis of the *Chrna5*, *Chrna3*, and *Chrnb4* genes.

Experiment 6

In experiment 5, only *Chrna3* was differentially expressed between the D2 and D2.B6 congenic mice. To examine if *Chrna3* was also differentially expressed in brain regions known to be important in the locomotor response to drugs of abuse, the striatum and ventral midbrain were dissected for qRT-PCR. These regions were chosen because they are part of the motive circuit (Kalivas and Volkow, 2005; Nestler, 2005) and have been shown to express the α 3 gene (Azam et al., 2002; Zoli et al., 2002). These brain regions were dissected from naïve male and female chromosome 9 D2.B6 congenic and D2 mice (N = 10 - 12), and *Chrna3* expression was again determined using qRT-PCR.

DNA Isolation and Genotyping

Genomic DNA was extracted from tail tissue using the Puregene Tissue and Mouse Tail Kit according to the manufacturer's protocol (Qiagen, Valencia, CA). Briefly, cells were placed overnight in cell lysis solution and proteinase K. RNA was removed with the addition of RNase and then proteins were precipitated with a protein precipitation solution. Finally, DNA was precipitated with isopropanol, washed, and rehydrated in TE buffer (10 mM Tris pH 7.5, 1 mM EDTA).

Six microsatellite markers spaced approximately every 18 Mb throughout the introgressed congenic region were genotyped in the F₂ mice. To each DNA sample, 1.2 μ l MgCl₂ (25 mM), 1.5 μ l buffer, 0.15 μ l AmpliTaq Gold (5 U/ μ l; Applied Biosystems, Foster City, CA), 2.5 μ l dNTPs (1.25 mM; Promega, Madison, WI), 7.15 μ l ddH₂0, and 0.3 μ l forward and reverse primers (6.6 μ M; Research Genetics, Inc, Huntsville, AL) were added. The reaction was then amplified in a PerkinElmer PCR machine under the following conditions (95°C for 10 min, 80°C for 5 min, 40 cycles of 94°C for 30 sec, 53°C for 30 sec, and 72°C for 30 sec, followed by 72°C for 7 min and finally holding at 4°C). Amplified PCR products were detected by ethidium bromide staining on 3% agarose gels.

Tissue Extraction

Whole Brain

Mice were cervically dislocated, decapitated, and whole brains were removed. Brains were immediately frozen by submersion in cold isopentane, put into RNase-free tubes, and stored at -80°C until processing.

Microdissections

Whole brains from chromosome 9 D2.B6 congenic and D2 control mice were removed and placed on an ice cold platform. Coronal slices were made at approximately + 1.75 and + .25 bregma using a razor blade. The olfactory tubercles served as a landmark to ensure the same brain section was obtained for each mouse. The section was laid flat on the cold platform with the rostral (+ 1.75 bregma) portion of the section facing up. The striatum (caudate putamen) was visualized and dissected from remaining

tissue. The ventral midbrain was dissected from the brains of the same animals. The cerebral cortices were pealed away and two coronal slices were made at -3.25 and -4.25 bregma; visualization of the superior colliculus guided these cuts. The slice was placed on the platform, the section was cut at the periaqueductal gray, and the dorsal part was discarded. The cerebral peduncles were then removed from the bottom of the slice. The striatum sample and ventral midbrain section containing the ventral tegmental area, substantia nigra, and interpeduncular nuclei, were placed into RNase-free tubes on dry ice before being transferred to a -80° C freezer for storage until processing.

RNA Extraction

RNA was extracted using methods appropriate for either whole brain samples or for microdissected tissue.

Whole Brain

RNA was extracted using the guanidinium isothiocyanate-phenol-chloroform extraction method (Chomczynski and Sacchi, 1987, 2006) following procedures standard in our laboratory (Chapter 2). Briefly, RNA Stat-60 (Tel-Test, Inc. Friendswood, TX) was used to extract RNA which was then cleaned of DNA contamination. RNA quality was assessed with a A260 nm/A280 nm ratio by spectrophotometer (1.8 - 2 was considered good quality; Eppendorf, Hamburg, Germany; Chomczynski and Sacchi, 2006) and confirmed by electrophoresis on a 1% agarose gel.

Microdissections

RNA from the microdissections was extracted using the Absolutely RNA Microprep Kit (Stratagene; La Jolla, CA) and the manufacturer's protocol. Briefly, βmercaptoethanol/lysis buffer mixture (100 μ l) was added to each sample before vortexing and manual homogenization. 70% ethanol (100 μ l) was then added to the mixture prior to vortexing (5 sec) and transfer to an RNA-binding spin cup. Following centrifugation (max speed, 60 sec), 600 μ l of a low-salt wash buffer was added to the spin cup before another round of centrifugation (60 sec at max speed). The filtrate was then removed, and the column was dried by a 2 min spin at max speed. To remove DNA contamination, a 30 μ l mixture of RNase-free DNase I and DNase Digestion Buffer was added to the spin cup matrix and samples were incubated at 37°C for 15 min. Samples were then washed first with 500 μ l of High-Salt Wash Buffer, then 600 μ l of Low-Salt Wash Buffer, and finally 300 μ l of Low-Salt Wash Buffer, followed by centrifugation (60 sec to 2 min) after each wash. To elute the RNA from the spin cup matrix, 30 μ l of the Elution Buffer was added directly to the matrix and the sample was centrifuged at max speed. The quality of the microdissection RNA samples were examined using the same criterion as the whole brain RNA samples.

qRT-PCR

Quantitative RT-PCR was performed in a 2-step reaction using standard procedures in our laboratory (Chapter 2). Briefly, total RNA was reverse transcribed using a High-Capacity cDNA Archive Kit (Applied Biosystems, Foster City, CA) and the manufacturer's specifications. mRNA gene expression of the *Chrna5*, *Chrna3*, and *Chrnb4* acetylcholine receptor subunit genes, and of the control Hprt1 (hypoxanthine guanine phosphoribosyl transferase 1) gene were analyzed using pre-designed TaqMan gene expression assays (Applied Biosystems, Foster City, CA). Quantitative PCR reactions were run using an iCycler (Bio-Rad, Hercules, CA). Each sample was run in

triplicate and the average crossing threshold (C_t) for the *Chrna5*, *Chrna3*, *Chrnb4*, and *Hprt1* genes was determined. For each sample the C_t for *Hprt1* was subtracted from the expression of the acetylcholine receptor subunits. Relative expression (calculated as 2 to the negative power of the average expression of D2 mice minus each individual value) was used as the primary dependent variable.

Statistics

Behavioral and gene expression data from each congenic strain were compared independently to data from the relevant background strain. Data were analyzed with 2way factorial analysis of variance (ANOVA). Strain and sex were used as independent variables. Interactions were analyzed with simple main effects, while main effects were followed up by Newman-Keuls post hoc comparisons. χ^2 analysis was used to determine if the B6 allele was dominant in the congenic F₂ study by examining if the frequency of heterozygous animals differed between the high and low phenotypic extremes. Statistica (StatSoft, Tulsa, OK) was used for all statistical analyses with an alpha level set at 0.05.

Effect Size

The percentage of variation accounted for by the QTL was calculated for each congenic strain that was significantly different from its control strain (i.e., each one that captured the QTL). The QTL effect size (R²) was calculated from a 1-way ANOVA using the equation $R^2 = F/(F + dfw)$ (dfw = degrees of freedom within; Rosenthal, 1994). To estimate the R² from the congenic F₂ experiment the maximum logarithm of the odds (LOD) score was converted to χ^2 . The equation $R^2 = \chi^2/(n + \chi^2)$ was then used to estimate the effect size (Rosenthal, 1994). To make this effect size comparable with that from the

congenic studies this value was multiplied by 2, since in the congenic studies only the 2 homozygous classes are represented.

QTL Analysis

R/qtl was used to analyze the genotypic and phenotypic data from the congenic F_2 study (Broman et al., 2003). Animals from the top and bottom 12.5% of the phenotypic distribution were analyzed with the 'scanone' command. This command identifies QTL using the expectation maximization algorithm. The results of this experiment are presented relative to the cM map locations on chromosome 9. The reason this data is presented in this format, compared to in Mb locations used in the rest of this dissertation, is because cM is a unit of recombination frequency between two loci used by R/qtl, compared to Mb locations which are physical map locations. QTL interval mapping takes into account the frequency of crossovers (i.e., recombinations) between two loci.

Results

Experiment 1: Confirmation of a QTL for ethanol-induced locomotor stimulation in a D2, but not B6, background congenic

Chromosome 9 D2.B6 congenic and D2 mice were differentially sensitive to an acute injection of ethanol, providing evidence of a QTL on chromosome 9 for ethanolinduced locomotor stimulation (Figure 13). Data from 3 animals were excluded from the analysis due to computer malfunction, illness, or misplaced injection. A 2-way ANOVA with strain and sex as independent variables revealed a significant main effect of strain $(F_{1, 128}=34.4, p<0.001)$ and sex $(F_{1, 128}=7.7, p<0.01)$, but no interaction of the two factors. This QTL accounted for 20.4% of the variability in ethanol-induced stimulation. Female



Figure 13. Capture of the chromosome 9 QTL for the locomotor response to ethanol is dependent on congenic background strain. Shown is the acute locomotor response to ethanol (2 g/kg) in chromosome 9 D2.B6 (D9Mit90,18) congenic, chromosome 9 B6.D2 - short (D9Mit90,182) congenic, D2, and B6 strains. Data are for the first 5 min (mean \pm SEM) of the 15-min test session. *p < 0.05.

mice were more stimulated than male mice (1009.8 \pm 137.1 vs. 592.9 \pm 71.9,

respectively), but there was no indication that the QTL was sex-specific. A subset of the animals tested for their acute response to ethanol (20 – 21 per strain) was used to assess BEC. There was no significant strain difference in BEC from samples taken at the conclusion of the behavioral test (15-min after the 2 g/kg ethanol injection), but there was a significant main effect of sex ($F_{1, 37}$ =6.0, p<0.05). Female mice had higher BECs than male mice (2.15 ± .04, 1.98 ± .02, respectively).

The chromosome 9 B6.D2 - short congenic and B6 control mice were equally sensitive to the locomotor stimulant effect of ethanol (Figure 13). Data from one mouse were excluded due to a computer malfunction. A 2-way ANOVA revealed a significant main effect of sex ($F_{1, 184}$ =21.3, p<0.01), but not other significant results. Female mice were more stimulated than male mice (463.3 ± 66.4, 61.8 ± 57.4, respectively) and had a significantly higher mean BEC ($F_{1, 43}$ =4.3, p<0.05; 2.03 ± .04, 1.88 ± .06, respectively; n = 22 – 25 per strain). There was no significant difference in BEC between the 2 strains.

Experiment 2: The B6 background congenic does not capture a QTL for the acute locomotor response to a 1.5 g/kg injection of ethanol

Chromosome 9 B6.D2 - short congenic and B6 mice were also equally sensitive to 1.5 g/kg ethanol, as indicated by no significant main effect or interaction with strain (Figure 14). Similar to results for the 2 g/kg ethanol dose, female mice were significantly more stimulated than male mice ($F_{1,58}$ =9.2, p<0.01; 351.9 ± 96.6, 26.3 ± 61.3, respectively). A 2-way ANOVA with stain and sex as independent variables detected no significant main effects or interactions for BEC.



Figure 14. The chromosome 9 ethanol stimulation QTL is not captured in a B6 background congenic. Shown is the acute locomotor response to ethanol (1.5 g/kg) in chromosome 9 B6.D2 - short (D9Mit90,182) congenic and B6 strains. Data are for the first 5 min (mean \pm SEM) of the 15-min test session.

Experiment 3: There is no evidence of a QTL for ethanol stimulation on distal chromosome 9 when tested on the B6 background

When the chromosome 9 B6.D2 – long congenic was tested for ethanol (2 g/kg)induced locomotor stimulation, no difference in response compared to B6 control mice was observed (Figure 15). A 2-way ANOVA revealed a significant main effect of sex ($F_{1,77}$ =12.2, p<0.001) that did not interact with strain. Female mice were more stimulated by ethanol than male mice (430.1 ± 102.3,-86.0 ± 104.1, respectively). When BEC values were examined there was a significant strain X sex interaction ($F_{1,77}$ =4.6, p<0.05) due to higher BEC only in male congenic compared to male B6 mice (p < .05; 2.34 ± .07, 2.18 ± .08, respectively).

Experiment 4: The QTL for ethanol-induced locomotor stimulation resides between 23 and 69 cM

The congenic F_2 mice provided some resolution of the QTL region. One animal appeared to be suffering from hydrocephalus, therefore its data were excluded. When tested for the acute locomotor response to ethanol, the 259 congenic F_2 mice showed a normal phenotypic distribution (data not shown). When the top and bottom 12.5% of the phenotypic population were analyzed using R/qtl there was significant evidence of a QTL for ethanol stimulation on mouse chromosome 9 that accounts for 10% of the phenotypic variation in this trait. The peak LOD score was at 59 cM with a 1 LOD support interval ranging from 23 – 69 cM (Figure 16). This narrows the location of the QTL from a 62 cM region to a 46 cM region, which still contains the 3 genes encoding the nicotinic



Figure 15. A longer segment congenic does not capture the chromosome 9 ethanol stimulation QTL on the B6 background. Shown is the acute locomotor response to ethanol (2 g/kg) in chromosome 9 B6.D2 - long (D9Mit90,18) congenic and B6 strains. Data from the first 5 min (mean \pm SEM) of the 15-min test session.



Figure 16. QTL mapping in a congenic F_2 population reduces the QTL interval from a 62 to a 46 cM region. The peak LOD score for the chromosome 9 QTL is at 59 cM with a 1-LOD interval of 23 – 69 cM. Shown is the LOD score representing the most likely location of the QTL for ethanol (2 g/kg)-induced stimulation on chromosome 9 based on interval mapping in the Chromosome 9 D2.B6 (D9Mit90,18) congenic X D2 F_2 mice. The genomic makers used and their map locations (in Mb) are displayed above the X axis.

acetylcholine receptor subunits. There was no evidence of dominance of the B6 allele when the extreme high and low scoring animals were analyzed by a χ^2 analysis (D9Mit90 $\chi^2(1, N = 64) = 0.58, p>0.05$; D9Mit91 $\chi^2(1, N = 64) = 0.06, p>0.05$; D9Mit337 $\chi^2(1, N = 64) = 0.06, p>0.05$; D9Mit274 $\chi^2(1, N = 64) = 0.25, p>0.05$; D9Mit116 $\chi^2(1, N = 64) = 0.57, p>0.05$; D9Mit18 $\chi^2(1, N = 64) = 0.56, p>0.05$).

Experiment 5: The α3 subunit of the nicotinic acetylcholine receptor is a candidate gene for ethanol stimulation

The α 3, but not α 5 or β 4, subunit gene of the acetylcholine receptor was differentially expressed between the chromosome 9 D2.B6 congenic and D2 mice (Figure 17). Congenic mice had significantly more *Chrna3* gene expression than D2 mice (F₁, ₈=29.1, p<0.001), independent of sex.

Experiment 6: Strains of mice that differ in response to an acute injection of ethanol also differ in *Chrna3* expression in brain regions involved in this response

Chromosome 9 D2.B6 congenic mice had significantly more *Chrna3* expression than D2 mice in both the ventral midbrain ($F_{1, 18}$ =35.0, p<0.001) and striatum ($F_{1, 18}$ =5.9, p<0.05), independent of sex (Figure 18).

Discussion

The current studies confirmed the presence of a gene on mouse chromosome 9 that accounts for approximately 20% of the variation in the acute locomotor response to ethanol. These studies also provided evidence that the gene expressing the α 3 subunit of the nicotinic acetylcholine receptor is a stronger candidate for the chromosome 9 QTL



Figure 17. Greater whole brain *Chrna3*, but not *Chrna5* or *Chrnb4*, expression corresponds with reduced locomotor response to ethanol. Shown is mean \pm SEM relative *Chrna3*, *Chrna5*, and *Chrnb4* expression in the chromosome 9 D2.B6 (D9Mit90,18) congenic and D2 strains of mice. *p < 0.001.



Figure 18. Greater ventral midbrain and striatum *Chrna3* expression corresponds with reduced locomotor response to ethanol. Shown is mean \pm SEM relative *Chrna3* expression in the chromosome 9 D2.B6 (D9Mit90,18) congenic and D2 strains of mice. *p < 0.05.

than are the $\alpha 5$ and $\beta 4$ subunits genes based on expression profiles in mice that differ greatly in the stimulant response to ethanol.

Prior mapping data had provided suggestive evidence of a QTL for ethanolinduced stimulation on chromosome 9 (Cunningham, 1995; Demarest et al., 1999; Palmer et al., 2006). The presence of a QTL in this region in a D2 background congenic was confirmed at a p-value which exceeds Lander and Kruglyak's (1995) threshold for a significant QTL. I was not able to detect the QTL for ethanol stimulation using two B6 background congenics. There are at least three possible reasons why the QTL could not be detected on this background. First, because B6 mice are particularly sensitive to the inhibitory effects of ethanol on locomotor behavior, the 2 g/kg dose of ethanol may have been too high, and a single gene in this region that influences the locomotor stimulant response (present in the B6.D2 – short congenic) could not completely overcome sedative mechanisms. These sedative effects are likely mediated by at least some non-overlapping neurobiological systems, compared to the stimulant effect (Phillips et al., 2002b). Even when the B6.D2 - short congenic was tested at a lower ethanol dose (1.5 g/kg), the QTL for ethanol stimulation on chromosome 9 QTL could not be confirmed on this background.

The second reason for lack of confirmation applies to the B6.D2 - short congenic. This congenic had a shorter introgressed region than the D2 background congenic that did capture the QTL. However, when a comparable congenic to the D2.B6 was created and tested, the QTL for ethanol stimulation was not detected. These data do not rule out that a gene influencing ethanol stimulation resides in the distal region, which leads to a third possible explanation.

A third reason why I may not have been able to detect the QTL for ethanol stimulation on the B6 background is that this gene epistatically interacts with other loci elsewhere in the genome. In other words, D2 alleles at other loci may have to be present in combination with the chromosome 9 D2 allele to see a phenotypic effect. Similar epistatic interactions (i.e., background effects) have been observed for ethanol consumption. For example, the effect of the 5-hydroxytryptamine (5-HT)_{1B} receptor on ethanol consumption appears to be dependent on epistatic interactions with other loci (Phillips et al., 1999; Phillips and Belknap, 2002). There are currently no existing data that allow for examination of this hypothesis for the ethanol stimulation trait. However, crossing the B6 background congenic to other congenics known to capture a QTL for ethanol-induced locomotor stimulation may provide support of this hypothesis. For example, a QTL for ethanol stimulation has recently been confirmed on mouse chromosome 2 in a B6 background congenic (Palmer et al., 2006). Creating double B6.D2 congenics (i.e., mice carrying introgressed D2 segments on both chromosome 2 and 9) may begin to address the possibility of epistatic interactions, or more simple additive effects of trait relevant genes.

To my knowledge, this is the first attempt to fine map a QTL using a congenic F_2 population. I was able to narrow the location of the gene from a 62 cM region to a 46 cM region. The effect size of this QTL is large for a behavioral QTL, but in the range of effect sizes of QTL that have been successfully fine mapped (Flint et al., 2005). Additional strategies, such as the use of interval-specific congenic strains (ISCS), may further fine map the location of the gene on chromosome 9 that influences ethanol stimulation (Darvasi, 1997). The Portland Alcohol Research Center has a panel of ISCS for chromosome 9 that breaks up the relevant region and has been efficacious for more finely mapping a methamphetamine locomotor stimulation trait (Chapter 4). However, it is a B6 background strain panel, so not likely to be useful for identification of the ethanol stimulation quantitative trait gene.

Nicotinic acetylcholine receptors have been implicated in the acute locomotor response to ethanol (Chapter 2; Blomqvist et al., 1992; Larsson et al., 2002). Of particular importance to this study is that the nonspecific acetylcholine receptor antagonist mecamylamine attenuated ethanol-induced stimulation in D2 mice (Chapter 2). While mecamylamine is regarded as nonspecific, some suggest that this drug is most potent at inhibiting $\alpha 3\beta 4$ acetylcholine receptors (Papke et al., 2001). Further evidence for the involvement of α 3-containing acetylcholine receptors comes from work done in NMRI outbred mice. Whereas, mecamylamine attenuated ethanol stimulation in this mouse strain, the involvement of $\alpha 4\beta 2$ and $\alpha 7$ nicotinic acetylcholine receptors was excluded because the cholinergic antagonists, dihydro- β -erythroidine ($\alpha 4\beta 2$ -specific) and methyllycaconitine (α 7-specific) had no effect on ethanol-induced stimulation (Larsson et al., 2002). Additionally, α -conotoxin MII (α 3 β 2-, β 3-, and α 6-specific), but not α conotoxin PIA-analogue (a6-specific), attenuated ethanol-induced locomotor stimulation, providing evidence that $\alpha 3\beta 2$ - or $\beta 3$ -containing nicotinic acetylcholine receptors are involved in this response (Larsson et al., 2004; Jerlhag et al., 2006).

18-Methoxycoronaridine appears to be specific for $\alpha 3\beta 4$ acetylcholine receptors, but is not commercially available. To my knowledge, the effect of 18methoxycoronaridine on ethanol-induced stimulation has not been tested, but this drug was shown to decrease ethanol consumption and preference (Rezvani et al., 1997). To
date, there are no known coding sequence polymorphisms in α 3 gene between B6 and D2 mice (www.genenetwork.org). Homozygous α 3 knockout mice have growth impairments and die within weeks after birth (Xu et al., 1999), however mice heterozygous for the null mutation may be useful. Studies examining nicotinic receptor densities in these mice have revealed similar receptor levels as wildtype animals (Whiteaker et al., 2002), but mice lacking a single copy of *Chrna3* are less sensitive to nicotine-induced seizures than wildtype mice (Salas et al., 2004). These data suggest that testing heterozygous mice may be useful in examining the role of α 3-containing receptors in ethanol-induced stimulation. Intra-cerebral administration of conotoxins that are specific for α 3-containing nicotinic acetylcholine receptors may also help to elucidate the role of these receptors in ethanol stimulation with regard to neuroanatomical location (Clark et al., 2006; Talley et al., 2006).

In this study differences in *Chrna3* expression between chromosome 9 D2.B6 congenic and D2 control mice were observed, but further work is needed to determine if these strains have differences in α 3 protein levels. The currently assays used to measure α 3 protein levels appear to have some inadequacies. Cytisine-resistant epibatidine binding has been used to measure α 3-containing receptors (Perry et al., 2002), but there is accumulating evidence that this assay is not detecting exclusively α 3-containing receptors (Parker et al., 1998; Kuryatov et al., 2000; Xiao and Kellar, 2004; Marks et al., 2006). Rather, these data suggest that cytisine-resistant epibatidine binding is measuring acetylcholine receptors that contain an α 3 subunits, as well as some which do not. Further, there appear to be no well validated antibody based approaches to examine the α 3 subunit (please see appendix following this chapter for my results using the epibatidine binding assay).

The α 3 subunit gene is expressed in both midbrain dopamine and γ -amino butyric acid (GABA) neurons (Klink et al., 2001; Azam et al., 2002). Mouse synaptosome preparations have provided evidence that receptors containing the α 3 subunit are not directly involved in striatal dopamine release (Salminen et al., 2004), but acetylcholine receptors containing this subunit located on dopamine cell bodies could modulate dopamine release. Mecamylamine administered directly into the ventral tegmental area decreases both ethanol-induced locomotor stimulation and elevations in dopamine levels in the nucleus accumbens which occur in response to ethanol (Blomqvist et al., 1997). Because the ventral tegmental area is a major site of dopamine cell bodies, these data suggest the hypothesis that nicotinic acetylcholine receptors containing an α 3 subunit on dopamine cell bodies may modulate these responses to ethanol. The expression differences observed in the chromosome 9 D2.B6 congenic and control mice are also consistent with this hypothesis. D2 control mice had less *Chrna3* expression than D2.B6 congenic mice. The lower level of *Chrna3* expression in the D2 mice may be the result of greater endogenous acetylcholine levels. This would be consistent with the work of Schwartz and Kellar (1983) who showed that treatment with a cholinesterase inhibitor, which had the effect of increasing acetylcholine levels, decreased nicotinic receptor levels. An alternative hypothesis also exists. Presynaptic acetylcholine receptors on glutamate terminals (originating from the laterodorsal tegmental nucleus, pedunculopontine nucleus, or prefrontal cortex) may have a similar effect because activation of these receptors would also increase activation of VTA dopamine neurons.

Although there is no direct evidence that α 3-containing acetylcholine receptors exist on glutamatergic terminals located in the VTA, there is evidence nicotinic acetylcholine receptors modulate glutamate transmission in other brain regions (Vidal and Changeux, 1993; Guo et al., 1998)

In humans, administration of ethanol in the laboratory can produce self-reported ratings of stimulation and euphoria, an effect which is decreased by pretreatment with mecamylamine (Chi and de Wit, 2003; Young et al., 2005). Similarly, mecamylamine has been shown to attenuate intravenous (i.v.) nicotine-induced euphoria (Lundahl et al., 2000). Together these data suggest that nicotinic receptors may be involved in the acute response to both ethanol and nicotine and may serve as a common neural mechanism for sensitivity to these drugs and their co-abuse. Improvements in the detection of nicotinic acetylcholine receptors constructed from specific subunits will lead to a better understanding of the role of these receptors in addictive-related processes.

Appendix

Preamble 199

Receptor binding experiments can provide information regarding the density of receptors in the brain, which is a measure of protein abundance. Since differences in *Chrna3* gene expression in the chromosome 9 D2.B6 (D9Mit90,18) congenic and D2 control mice were observed (see results of Chapter 3) a published α 3 subunit binding assay was utilized (Perry et al., 2002) to determine if these mice had different levels of the α 3 subunit of the nicotinic acetylcholine receptor. There was greater *Chrna3* gene expression in the chromosome 9 D2.B6 congenic mice compared to D2 control mice, therefore I hypothesized that congenic mice would have more α 3-containing acetylcholine receptors as indicated by greater cytisine-resistant [¹²⁵I]-epibatidine binding than D2 mice.

These data are being presented in an appendix rather than in Chapter 3 of the dissertation because I believe that there are a number of problems with the cytisine-resistant epibatidine binding assay. The issues associated with this assay are described in the discussion of this section.

Methods

Animal housing conditions and husbandry were consistent with those already described in this dissertation. Brains were harvested from 52 to 80 day old experimentally naïve chromosome 9 D2.B6 (D9Mit90,18) congenic and D2 control mice. Mice were cervically dislocated and quickly decapitated. Brains were removed and placed on an ice cold platform for microdissections. The olfactory bulbs were cut where the bulb connects to the olfactory tract. The striatum and ventral midbrain were dissected

as described in the methods of Chapter 3. For the olfactory bulb and striatal samples, tissue from two animals was pooled to obtain enough protein; tissue from three animals was needed to obtain enough tissue for ventral midbrain analysis.

Materials

[¹²⁵I]-epibatidine (specific activity 2200 Ci/mmol) was purchased from PerkinElmer (Boston, MA). (-)-Nicotine hydrogen tartrate, cytisine, sodium chloride (NaCl), potassium chloride (KCl), calcium chloride (CaCl₂), magnesium sulfate (MgSO₄), 4-(2-hydroxyethyl)-1-piperazineethanesulfonic acid (HEPES), and polyethyleneimine were obtained from Sigma Aldrich (St. Louis, MO). The Protease Inhibitor Cocktail Set III was purchased from EMD Bioscience (San Diego, CA).

Membrane Preparation

Membranes were isolated using the procedure described by Whiteaker et al. (2000). Protease inhibitor (1 μ l/3 ml buffer) was added to ice cold hypotonic buffer (14.4 mM NaCl; 0.2 mM KCl; 0.2 mM CaCl₂; 0.1 mM MgSO₄; 2 mM HEPES; pH 7.5) prior to homogenization. Tissue was thawed and homogenized in the hypotonic buffer using a glass-Teflon tissue grinder. The homogenate was centrifuged at 20,000 x g for 15 min at 4°C to isolate the particulate fractions. The samples were then resuspended in fresh buffer and incubated at 22°C for 10 min. This process of centrifugation/resuspension was repeated 3 more times to remove endogenous acetylcholine from the tissue. Following the last resuspension, an aliquot was taken for protein quantification using a Peirce BCA protein assay (Rockford, IL). The remaining sample was centrifuged and stored in pellet form at -80°C.

Verification of Assay Conditions

[¹²⁵I]-Epibatidine Saturation Binding

Saturation binding of [¹²⁵I]-epibatidine to membranes was performed as previously described by Whiteaker and colleagues (2000). Briefly, reactions (total volume = $50 \mu l$) were run in triplicate or quadruplicate (depending on protein availability) in 96-well polystyrene plates. Brain homogenates were prepared in binding buffer (144 mM NaCl; 1.5 mM KCl; 2 mM CaCl₂; 1 mM MgSO₄; 20 mM HEPES; pH = 7.5 with a protease inhibitor cocktail) to appropriate concentrations (30 µg). Samples were incubated at 22°C for 2 h in the presence of 4 - 800 pM $[^{125}I]$ -epibatidine. Nonspecific binding was determined in the presence of (-)-nicotine hydrogen tartrate (1 mM). Reactions were terminated by filtering samples onto a polyethyleneimine (0.05%)soaked glass fibre filter (Wallac, Turku, Finland) using a harvester (Tomtec, Hamden, CT). Filters were washed with ice-cold binding buffer before being air dried. Scintillation fluid (Betaplate Scint; PerkinElmer, Boston, MA) was added to the filters and radioactivity was counted using a microbeta scintillation counter (1450 MicroBeta Trilux; PerkinElmer, Boston, MA). Free $[^{125}I]$ -epibatidine was estimated by subtracting the amount of bound epibatidine from the total amount of epibatidine added to the assay. From saturation binding curves B_{max} and K_d values were obtained.

[¹²⁵I]-Epibatidine Inhibition by Cytisine

For competition curves, increasing concentrations of cytisine (0.053 - 3000 nM)were added to 200 pM [¹²⁵I]-epibatidine using the procedures described above. Estimates of IC₅₀ values were determined from the binding curves. From the IC₅₀ values, inhibition constants (K_i) values were determined using the equation described by Cheng & Prusoff

(1973), $K_i = IC_{50}/(1 + (L/K_d))$, where L refers to the amount of [¹²⁵I]-epibatidine in the assay and the K_d is the dissociation constant of epibatidine.

Cytisine-Resistant [¹²⁵I]-Epibatidine Binding

To determine if the chromosome 9 D2.B6 (D9Mit90,18) congenic and D2 control mice differ in amount of α 3 receptor binding, cytisine-resistant [¹²⁵I]-epibatidine binding was used (Whiteaker et al., 2000; 2002). Binding assays were performed as above. Cytisine (20 nM) was used to assess cytisine-resistant epibatidine binding, while nonspecific binding was assessed with (-)-nicotine hydrogen tartrate (1 mM) in the presence of 200 pM [¹²⁵I]-epibatidine. To determine cytisine-resistant epibatidine binding, counts per minute from the nonspecific binding samples were subtracted from the cytisine-resistant epibatidine binding. Counts per minute of the cytisine-resistant binding wells were converted into fmol using the specific activity of epibatidine and the efficiency of the counter (39%), this value was then divided by the amount of protein in the assay to get fmol/mg protein (the dependent variable).

Statistics

Epibatidine saturation binding and inhibition by cytisine were analyzed in GraphPad Prizm 4 (San Diego, CA). This program was used to generate the saturation binding parameters (B_{max} and K_d) and IC₅₀ values from the cytisine competition curves. Statistical analyses were performed using Statistica (StatSoft, Tulsa, OK, USA). Data were analyzed using a 2-way analysis of variance (ANOVA) with the independent variables sex and strain. Significant interactions were followed up by simple main effects analyses, while significant main effects were further characterized by Newman-Keuls mean comparisons. The alpha level was set at 0.05.

Results

Verification of Assay Conditions

[¹²⁵I]-Epibatidine Saturation Binding

Extensive pilot data verified the parameters of the ligand binding procedures used in the literature (Whiteaker et al., 2000; 2002). Briefly, time course experiments verified that incubation at 22°C for 2 h allowed for binding to come to equilibrium. Equilibrium was reached by 60 min and remained constant until 2 h (data not shown). Protein curves indicated that a linear increase in [¹²⁵I]-epibatidine binding up to 45 µg of protein was observed (data not shown). Saturation binding curves provided an estimate of B_{max} and K_d . The estimate of B_{max} was 39.8 (± 2.1) fmol/mg protein and K_d was estimated to be 71 pM (95% confidence interval: 42 – 119 pM; Figure 19). These values are similar to that found by Whiteaker and colleagues (Whiteaker et al., 2000). Furthermore, the saturation binding data were used to create a Scatchard plot which provided evidence of a single site fit.

[¹²⁵I]-Epibatidine Inhibition by Cytisine

Competition curves provided evidence that epibatidine binds to two populations of receptors, one sensitive to inhibition by low doses of cytisine and the other resistant, in specific brain regions (Figure 20), but not in whole brain preparations (data not shown). Consistent with prior studies, two receptor binding populations were detected in the olfactory bulbs and ventral midbrain. A two-site binding model was not consistently detected in the striatum; therefore this brain region was not used in further studies.



Figure 19. [¹²⁵I]-epibatidine saturation binding in olfactory bulb tissue from chromosome 9 D2.B6 congenic and D2 control animals. The assay was repeated 3 times in this tissue and 7 times in whole brain tissue; results were similar for both tissue types. A representative binding curve is shown. The mean B_{max} was 39.8 (± 2.1) fmol/mg protein and K_d was 71 pM (95% confidence interval: 42 – 119 pM). The inset is a Scatchard plot corresponding to the saturation data, the linearity of the plot indicates a single binding site for [¹²⁵I]-epibatidine.



Figure 20. Cytisine inhibition of [¹²⁵**I**]**-epibatidine binding in olfactory bulb tissue** from chromosome 9 D2.B6 congenic and D2 control animals. The assay was repeated 3 times in tissue from the olfactory bulb and 2 times in tissue from the ventral midbrain; results were similar for both brain regions. Total binding was typically 2200 cpm, nonspecific binding was 24 cpm, and cytisine (20 nM) resistant epibatidine binding was 400 cpm. Deviation in binding from a sigmoidal curve (dotted line) provides evidence of a 2-site model with a population of receptors sensitive to inhibition by low doses of cytisine and a second population which is not.

Data obtained from these inhibition experiments provided an estimate of the IC₅₀ values for the epibatidine binding sites with high and low affinity for cytisine. The IC₅₀ value corresponding to cytisine-sensitive epibatidine sites (i.e., high affinity) was 2.07 nM (95% confidence interval: 0.87 - 4.94 nM), while the IC₅₀ value of cytisine-resistant sites (i.e., low affinity) was 220 nM (130 – 360 nM). Approximately 48% of the binding sites were resistant to cytisine-inhibition, a value that is consistent with prior studies (Marks et al., 1998). K_i values were determined using the equation described by Cheng & Prusoff (1973) with the K_d estimate of 71 pM. The K_i values observed for the sensitive [0.34 nM (0.14 – 0.81 nM)] and resistant [35 nM (22 - 57 nM)] populations of receptors were consistent with that of prior binding studies in B6 mice (Marks et al., 1998; Whiteaker et al., 2000). Based on these data, 20 nM cytisine was chosen for the cytisine-resistant [¹²⁵I]-epibatidine binding study to compare α 3 receptor densities in congenic and control mice.

Cytisine-Resistant [¹²⁵I]-Epibatidine Binding

The chromosome 9 D2.B6 (D9Mit90,18) and D2 control mice did not differ in cytisine-resistant [¹²⁵I]-epibatidine (Figure 21). Binding (fmol/mg protein) data from each brain region were analyzed separately using a 2-way ANOVA with sex and strain as independent variables. There were no significant main effects or interactions in data from either brain region.



Figure 21. Strains of mice that differ in response to an acute injection of ethanol have similar densities of α 3-containing acetylcholine receptors in the ventral midbrain and olfactory bulbs. Mean \pm SEM fmol cytisine-resistant [¹²⁵I]-epibatidine receptor binding/ mg protein in the chromosome 9 D2.B6 and D2 strains of mice. N = 8 -10.

Discussion

Cytisine-resistant epibatidine binding was used to measure α 3-containing nicotinic acetylcholine receptors (Perry et al., 2002), but accumulating data provide evidence that this assay does not solely measure acetylcholine receptors containing this subunit. Receptor binding methods that examine nicotinic acetylcholine receptors containing an α 3 subunit have a history of methodologic problems. One of the first ligands thought to bind specifically to $\alpha 3\beta 2$ receptors was α -Conotoxin MII (Cartier et al., 1996). Since the original publication describing the use of this ligand to examine $\alpha 3\beta 2$ nicotinic receptors, a number of problems with this assay have been discovered. The first problem was discovered when receptor autoradiography was performed using this ligand in mice lacking the α 3 receptor; high levels of α -Conotoxin MII binding were observed (Whiteaker et al., 2002), providing evidence that this toxin does not bind solely to receptors containing this subunit. Additional data in support of this finding came when α -Conotoxin MII binding was found to be decreased in $\alpha 6$ and $\beta 3$ knockout mice (Champtiaux et al., 2002; Cui et al., 2003), indicating that this toxin binds to $\alpha 6$ - and $\beta 3$ containing nicotinic acetylcholine receptors, in addition to $\alpha 3\beta 2$ receptors.

Following the discovery that α -Conotoxin MII was not specific for $\alpha 3\beta 2$ receptors, the cytisine-resistant epibatidine binding assay was developed as a tool to examine these receptors. The basic premise to this assay is that epibatidine binds to $\alpha 4\beta 2$, $\alpha 3\beta 2$, and $\alpha 3\beta 4$ receptors (Perry et al., 2002) and that cytisine binds with high affinity to $\alpha 4\beta 2$ receptors (Zhang and Steinbach, 2003). Therefore, cytisine-resistant epibatidine binding should quantify $\alpha 3$ -containing nicotinic receptors (Perry et al., 2002). Unfortunately, there is accumulating data that the assumptions regarding this assay are

not valid. For example, epibatidine has been shown to bind to nicotinic acetylcholine receptors other than those containing the $\alpha 3$, $\alpha 4$, $\beta 2$ and $\beta 4$ subunits. Specifically, epibatidine has been shown to bind to receptors containing $\alpha 2$ and $\alpha 6$ subunits (Parker et al., 1998; Kuryatov et al., 2000; Xiao and Kellar, 2004). The current thought on the cytisine-sensitive epibatidine binding is that these receptors require a $\beta 2$, while there are two distinct populations of cytisine-resistant sites, one population requiring $\beta 2$ and the other requiring the presence of a $\beta 4$ subunit (Marks et al., 2006). While these receptors may contain the $\alpha 3$ subunit, there are likely some receptors that do not have this subunit.

The most prominent other way to examine protein levels is through antibodybased approaches (i.e., western blot or immunohistochemistry). These assays require an antibody that specifically binds to the protein of interest. Emerging evidence suggests that the antibodies currently available for acetylcholine receptor subunits are inadequate. Data from α 7 knockout mice have shown that three of the most commonly used antibodies had a similar amount of binding in α 7 knockout and wildtype animals, providing evidence that these antibodies are not specific for this receptor subunit (Herber et al., 2004). Recently, similar data have been observed with other nicotinic receptor subunits including α 3 (Moser et al., 2007). Furthermore, the high degree of sequence similarity between the α 3 and α 6 nicotinic acetylcholine receptor subunits (Le Novere and Changeux, 1995) adds further difficulty in developing an antibody specific for the α 3 subunit. Therefore, approaches using antibodies need to be rigorously validated and the available α 3 antibodies may not be adequate.

Because of the issues associated with cytisine-resistant epibatidine binding as an estimate of α 3-containing nicotinic receptors, it cannot be concluded that there are no

differences in α 3 protein in the chromosome 9 D2.B6 congenic and D2 control animals. What can be concluded is that there are no differences between the chromosome 9 D2.B6 congenic and D2 control mice in the density of the population of receptors quantified by this assay. There is a small, nonsignificant, difference in cytisine-resistant epibatidine binding in the olfactory bulb samples between these two strains. At a mean difference of 5 fmol/mg protein approximately 35 olfactory bulb samples per strain would be needed to detect a significant difference of this magnitude. While it is likely that this population includes receptors containing an α 3 subunit, the assay is not exclusively measuring receptors containing this subunit. The dissociation between α 3 gene expression and protein levels observed in these mice is addressed in the general discussion. To date there are no validated assays to measure α 3 protein. The development of new assays to detect α 3-containing nicotinic receptors will be needed to more fully address this question, but antibody-based approaches may have as many problems as binding experiments.

Chapter 4: Mapping Quantitative Trait Loci for Psychostimulant-Induced Locomotor Activation

Helen M. Kamens & Tamara J. Phillips

This chapter is written in a manuscript format for consistency with the other chapters, but is not intended for publication. These experiments will be combined with other data not a part of my dissertation research for publication purposes.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

These studies were performed with support from the Department of Veterans Affairs, P60 AA10760, P50 DA018165, and F31 AA015822. The authors would like to thank Carrie McKinnon and Na Li for assistance during testing of the ISCS animals, Sue Burkhart-Kasch for animal breeding, Dr. John K. Belknap for creation of the full length congenic strains, and Dr. Kari J. Buck and her lab for genotyping mice during the creation of the ISCS.

Abstract

The magnitude of acute locomotor response to psychostimulants may predict one's likelihood of further drug use. Therefore, understanding the biological basis of this response may provide a greater understanding of drug abuse. Cocaine and methamphetamine are known to have psychomotor activating properties which are influenced by genetics. A number of quantitative trait loci (QTL) have been mapped for the locomotor response to an acute injection of these drugs. A QTL for both cocaine and methamphetamine stimulation has been mapped to mouse chromosome 9. To confirm the presence of this QTL, reciprocal chromosome 9 congenic strains of mice were tested. The presence of the QTL for methamphetamine stimulation was confirmed, but only weak evidence of a QTL for cocaine stimulation was observed. To more finely map the QTL for methamphetamine stimulation a panel of nine chromosome 9 interval-specific congenic strains (ISCS) was tested. Four of the ISCS captured the methamphetamine stimulation QTL, narrowing the location of the gene(s) from a 69.13 Mb region to a 24.16 Mb region. Approximately 20% of the phenotypic variation in the response to methamphetamine is accounted for by this QTL. Additional work is needed to more finely map this QTL and identify the quantitative trait gene (QTG).

Introduction

Genes and environment are known to be important factors in determining drug abuse. Twin studies provide evidence of a genetic contribution to determining one's likelihood to use or abuse cocaine and amphetamines (van den Bree et al., 1998; Kendler et al., 2000; Kendler et al., 2003). Data from a drug behavioral preference procedure in humans has provided evidence that the acute locomotor activating and euphoric effects of psychostimulants may predict one's likelihood of further drug use (de Wit et al., 1986; Gabbay, 2003). In these studies, subjects had 4 sampling sessions on 4 different days where they were given a pill containing either amphetamine or placebo. The subjects were not told what drug they had received, but were instructed to remember the color of the pill (the amphetamine and placebo pills were different colors). The subjects then had 3 - 5 choice tests on the different days where they chose the color of the pill they would like to ingest that day. The group of subjects that chose amphetamine on all choice tests had been more stimulated by amphetamine during the sampling phase compared to the group of subjects that did not choose amphetamine on any of the choice tests (de Wit et al., 1986; Gabbay, 2003). These data support the idea that understanding the biological basis of the acute locomotor response to psychostimulants may help understand the basis of drug abuse.

A number of studies have examined inbred mouse strain differences in the locomotor response to amphetamine (Moisset and Welch, 1973; Oliverio et al., 1973; Anisman et al., 1975; Remington and Anisman, 1976; Moisset, 1977; Kitahama and Valatx, 1979; Hamburger-Bar et al., 1986; Wenger, 1989; Zocchi et al., 1998; Ralph et al., 2001) and cocaine (Ruth et al., 1988; Jones et al., 1993; Tolliver and Carney, 1994;

Womer et al., 1994; Henricks et al., 1997; Miner, 1997; Marley et al., 1998; Rocha et al., 1998; Downing et al., 2003a), providing evidence that genetics may be important in psychostimulant-induced activation. Additional studies provide stronger evidence. The strain distribution pattern of the acute locomotor response to amphetamine among seven recombinant inbred (RI) strains derived from the C57BL/6By (B6; this abbreviation will be used for any C57BL/6 subline in this paper) and BALB/cBy strains provided evidence that multiple genes influence this response (Oliverio et al., 1973). Two selective breeding experiments have provided additional evidence that the locomotor response to psychostimulants is polygenic. In 1998, a selection commenced for cocaine sensitivity (CAHI) and insensitivity (CALO). The CAHI and CALO lines were derived from genetically heterogeneous (HS/Ibg) mice (McClearn et al., 1970), based on locomotor stimulation observed following cocaine (10 mg/kg; Marley et al., 1998). Two replicate CAHI and CALO lines were bred for 12 generations for sensitivity to the locomotor stimulant effects of cocaine. After the first selection generation, the CAHI and CALO differed in the acute locomotor response to cocaine, and these lines continued to diverge through selection generation 9. At the end of the 12 generations of selective breeding, cocaine-induced stimulation was 4-fold greater in the 2 CAHI lines than in the 2 CALO lines. A second set of selected lines was bred for the acute locomotor response to methamphetamine (2 mg/kg; Kamens et al., 2005). The HMACT and LMACT lines were selectively bred from a B6 X DBA/2J (D2) F_2 population for increased or decreased sensitivity to methamphetamine, respectively. These lines differed in response to an acute injection of methamphetamine after the first selection generation, and continued to progressively diverge further over the three additional selection generations. That lines

of mice can be selectively bred for the locomotor response to psychostimulants provides evidence of additive genetic influence on these traits.

Selected lines of mice can also be used to examine if genes have pleiotropic influence on the selected trait and other behaviors (Crabbe et al., 1990). In other words, a single gene may influence both traits. The previously described selection experiments tested the hypothesis that the acute locomotor responses to cocaine and amphetamine were genetically correlated (i.e., common genetic influence). The CAHI and CALO lines (collapsed on replicate) were tested for their acute locomotor response to amphetamine. CAHI mice were significantly more stimulated by a range of doses of amphetamine (1 - 5 mg/kg) than CALO mice. A genetic correlation between the locomotor responses to cocaine and methamphetamine stimulation was also observed in the HMACT and LMACT lines (Kamens et al., 2005). The HMACT line was more stimulated by cocaine (10 - 30 mg/kg) compared to the LMACT line. Together these data suggest that a common gene (or genes) underlies a portion of the acute locomotor response to cocaine and amphetamine.

A quantitative trait locus (QTL) refers to a region of a chromosome that contains a gene that influences a complex trait like the locomotor response to psychostimulants. A number of QTL have been mapped for psychostimulant-induced activation. QTL that are common between cocaine and amphetamines may contain a gene that influences both traits. Most QTL mapping data in mice for drug-related traits come from studies that used populations of mice derived from the B6 and D2 inbred strains. RI mice, derived from the these strains (BXD RI), have provided suggestive evidence of a QTL on chromosome 9 for cocaine- (Tolliver et al., 1994; Miner and Marley, 1995; Phillips et al.,

1998) and methamphetamine-induced locomotor activation (Grisel et al., 1997). Additional evidence for the methamphetamine activity QTL comes from a comparison of the B6 and D2 allele frequencies in the HMACT and LMACT lines (Palmer et al., 2005). A QTL for cocaine (Gill and Boyle, 2003) and amphetamine stimulation (Torkamanzehi et al., 2006) on chromosome 9 has also been observed in crosses of mice derived from the A/J and B6 inbred strains.

In the current study I first set out to directly confirm the presence of a QTL on mouse chromosome 9 for the acute locomotor responses to cocaine and methamphetamine. Reciprocal chromosome 9 congenic mice derived from the B6 and D2 progenitor strains (for a detailed discussion of these topics, please refer to the introduction to this dissertation) were tested. I predicted that there would be a QTL on chromosome 9 that accounts for variation in the acute locomotor responses to cocaine and methamphetamine, and that mice possessing D2 alleles in this region would be more stimulated by these drugs than mice with B6 alleles. This hypothesis was based on the aforementioned QTL mapping data. In these studies, having D2 alleles on chromosome 9 was associated with increased cocaine and methamphetamine stimulation (Tolliver et al., 1994; Miner and Marley, 1995; Phillips et al., 1998; Palmer et al., 2005). After obtaining strong evidence of the QTL for methamphetamine-induced locomotor stimulation, the QTL was then more finely mapped using interval-specific congenic strains (ISCS; see the introduction for details on this method).

Methods

Subjects

All mice were the offspring of pairs of mice bred at the Department of Veterans Affairs Medical Center in Portland, OR. Breeder pairs for the B6 strain were purchased from The Jackson Laboratory (Bar Harbor, ME); new breeder pairs were obtained once a year to minimize genetic drift. Congenic strains are derived from 2 inbred strains. A region of the genome from one inbred strain is introgressed onto the background of another inbred strain through homologous recombination. If the congenic strain and the pure background strain differ in their behavioral response, this provides evidence that a gene in the introgressed region accounts for part of the variation in the response (i.e., captures the QTL). The chromosome 9 B6.D2 (D9Mit90,182; with the introgressed region defined by the proximal marker D9Mit90 and the distal marker D9Mit182) and chromosome 9 D2.B6 (D9Mit90,18) congenic strains were obtained from Dr. John K. Belknap. The first strain in the name (e.g., B6.D2) refers to the background strain (in this case B6) and the second strain refers to the inbred strain from which the donor alleles for the introgressed region originated (D2). These strains had been backcrossed to the background strain for at least ten generations when breeder pairs were obtained, thus are considered to be inbred strains. While in our laboratory, breeder pairs from the chromosome 9 D2.B6 congenic strain produced few offspring. At this time Dr. Belknap was no longer breeding these animals, so to avoid loss of this strain male chromosome 9 D2.B6 mice were backcrossed to female D2 mice. This resulted in the production of mice that were heterozygous throughout the introgressed congenic region, but homozygous D2 at all other loci. These F_1 offspring were intercrossed to produce F_2

animals, some of which were identical to the chromosome 9 D2.B6 congenic or D2 mice, but others had recombinants of varying lengths throughout the introgressed B6 region. These animals were genotyped for 4 microsatellite markers in the introgressed B6 region to identify mice that were genetically identical to the original chromosome 9 D2.B6 congenic. Animals that were genotyped as B6 homozygous at the markers that were originally used to define the region (D9Mit90 and D9Mit18), as well as 2 additional markers within the introgressed region, were interbred to produce new chromosome 9 D2.B6 (D9Mit90,18) congenic mice. At the same time, animals genotyped as homozygous D2 throughout the congenic region were used to create the D2 control strain.

The chromosome 9 B6.D2 ISCS panel was created by backcrossing male chromosome 9 B6.D2 (D9Mit90,182) mice to female B6 mice. Heterozygous F₁ offspring were backcrossed to B6 mice; the resulting first generation backcross animals were genotyped for DNA markers throughout the original D2 introgressed region. Recombinant mice, where a crossover had occurred in the original introgressed region, were backcrossed to B6 to produce additional recombinant mice with varying lengths of introgressed D2 regions. Chromosome 9 B6.D2 ISCS mice were produced by brother/sister matings to produce mice homozygous for the new introgressed regions (see Figure 25a for genotyping information for the chromosome 9 ISCS mice). At this time, a B6 control strain was also produced that no longer carried a D2 introgressed region.

Animal Husbandry

Mice of the same sex were group housed 2-5 per cage. In most cases animals were littermates, but in some cases, animals close in age (< 5 days different), but from a different litter of the same strain were housed together to avoid single housing. Animals were housed in standard shoebox size polycarbonate cages with corncob bedding, and had ad libitum access to food (Purina Laboratory Rodent Chow #5001; Purina Mills, St. Louis, MO) and tap water. The colony room was maintained at $21 \pm 2^{\circ}$ C on a 12 hour light/dark cycle (lights on a 0600).

Drugs

Cocaine hydrochloride and methamphetamine hydrochloride were obtained from Sigma (St. Louis, MO) and were dissolved in physiological saline (0.9% NaCl; Baxter Healthcare Corporation, Deerfield, IL). Drugs were injected into the peritoneal cavity (i.p.) at a volume of 10 ml/kg.

Testing Apparatus

Mice were tested for locomotor activity in automated activity monitors (40 X 40 X 30 cm, AccuScan, Columbus, OH). These monitors were housed in black acrylic test chambers which were lined with sound-attenuating foam. Inside the chamber a fan provided background noise and a fluorescent light (8-W) illuminated the chamber. Each monitor had 8 infrared beams along 2 sides located 2 cm above the chamber floor; along the other 2 sides were detectors. A computer recorded when these beams were broken and converted consecutive beam interruptions into distance traveled (cm), which was used as the dependent variable.

Testing Procedure

Animals began testing between 50 and 105 days of age. To allow animals time to acclimate to the testing room, all animals were moved from the colony room 45 – 60 min prior to the initiation of testing. The procedures used in these experiments were identical to those which were used to initially map QTL for the acute locomotor responses to cocaine and methamphetamine (Phillips et al., 1998; Palmer et al., 2005). Briefly, animals were weighed and placed in individual holding cages, identical to their home cages, for up to 10 min to allow time to prepare syringes for injection. On days 1 and 2, each animal received an injection of saline before being placed into the center of the locomotor activity chamber. This allowed mice to habituate to the testing environment on day 1, and allowed for a measurement of habituated baseline locomotor activity on day 2. On day 3, animals received an injection of 10 mg/kg cocaine or 2 mg/kg methamphetamine before being place into the activity monitor. On all days, locomotor activity was monitored for 15 min in 5-min epochs. Following testing on day 3, all animals were euthanized by carbon dioxide asphyxiation.

The chromosome 9 B6.D2, chromosome 9 D2.B6, B6, and D2 strains were first tested for their sensitivity to an acute injection of cocaine or methamphetamine. Since the congenic results indicated capture of a QTL for methamphetamine stimulation in the chromosome 9 B6.D2 congenic strain (see results), a panel of nine chromosome 9 B6.D2 ISCS was tested to attain higher resolution mapping of the region that contains the gene for methamphetamine stimulation. The chromosome 9 B6.D2 ISCS panel was not tested for cocaine stimulation since only weak evidence of a QTL for this drug was obtained (see results). To obtain a large enough sample size, mice had to be tested in a number of

passes. Two to 4 passes were needed for studies involving the chromosome 9 B6.D2 and D2.B6 congenics; approximately equal numbers of congenic and control animals were tested in each pass. For the ISCS study, animals were tested in 13 passes over a 12 month period. Two to 6 strains were tested per pass depending upon availability.

All experiments were approved by the Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee and were in accordance with the National Institutes of Health's Principles of laboratory animal care (1985).

Statistics

The acute locomotor response was defined as the day 3 drug response minus the day 2 habituated baseline (Day 3 - Day 2) for each individual animal. Day 3 – Day 2 was used as the dependent variable since this was the trait used in the original QTL mapping experiments, and it provides a measure of the acute locomotor response to drugs that takes into account differences in baseline locomotor activity (Phillips et al., 1998; Palmer et al., 2005). Data for each congenic strain were compared independently to data for its background strain. Data were analyzed using a 2-way analysis of variance (ANOVA). Both independent variables had two levels: sex (male vs. female) and strain (congenic vs. control). Significant main effects and interactions were followed up with Newman-Keuls mean comparisons and simple main effects analyses. Statistical analyses were performed using Statistica (StatSoft, Tulsa, OK, USA) with the alpha level set at 0.05.

Effect Size

The percentage of phenotypic variation accounted for by the chromosome 9 introgressed genotype was calculated for each ISCS that was significantly different from

the control strain (i.e., each one that captured the QTL). R^2 (the QTL effect size) was calculated from a 1-way ANOVA using the equation $R^2 = F/(F + dfw)$ (dfw = degrees of freedom within; Rosenthal, 1994).

Results

Cocaine

The chromosome 9 B6.D2 congenic and B6 control mice were differentially sensitive to cocaine-induced locomotor activity, but this effect was sex dependent (Figure 22). Data from one female chromosome 9 B6.D2 congenic mouse were excluded from the analysis because the mouse lost weight over the three days of testing and appeared to be suffering from malocclusion. A 2-way ANOVA revealed a significant sex X strain interaction ($F_{1, 159} = 12.2$, p < 0.001). Consistent with the QTL mapping studies (Phillips et al., 1998), female chromosome 9 B6.D2 congenic mice were more stimulated by cocaine compared to female B6 control mice (p < 0.01). In contrast, the QTL effect in males was in the opposite direction, male chromosome 9 B6.D2 congenic mice were less stimulated by cocaine than male B6 control mice (p < 0.05). This interaction appeared to be due to a significant difference between male and female B6 mice, such that males were more sensitive to cocaine-induced stimulation compared to female mice (p < 0.001). Male and female chromosome 9 D2.B6 congenic mice were equally sensitive.

There was no difference in sensitivity to the locomotor stimulant effect of cocaine between the chromosome 9 D2.B6 congenic and D2 control mice (Figure 23). Data from one female chromosome 9 D2.B6 congenic mouse were excluded from the analysis because of a computer malfunction on day 3. A 2-way ANOVA with strain and sex as independent variables revealed no significant main effects or interactions.



Figure 22. The locomotor response to cocaine in the chromosome 9 B6.D2 congenic and B6 strains is dependent on sex. The acute locomotor response to cocaine (10 mg/kg) in chromosome 9 B6.D2 congenic and B6 strains. Shown are the data (mean \pm SEM) from the 15 min test session. N = 40 - 41 per strain and sex. *p < 0.05.



Figure 23. The chromosome 9 D2 background congenic strain provides no evidence of a QTL on chromosome 9 for cocaine-induced locomotor activity. The acute locomotor response to cocaine (10 mg/kg) in chromosome 9 D2.B6 congenic and D2 strains. Data were collapsed on sex because no significant main effects or interactions with this factor were detected. Shown are the data (mean \pm SEM) from the 15 min test session. N = 82 - 84 per strain.

Methamphetamine

Congenics

When the chromosome 9 congenic strains were compared to their appropriate control strains, mice with D2 alleles on chromosome 9 were more stimulated by methamphetamine (2 mg/kg) compared to animals with B6 alleles in this region (Figure 24). When the chromosome 9 B6.D2 mice were compared to B6 control mice there was a significant main effect of strain ($F_{1,82} = 13.2$, p < 0.001) that did not interact with sex. Chromosome 9 B6.D2 congenic mice displayed a markedly elevated acute locomotor response to methamphetamine compared to B6 control mice. Similarly, in the chromosome 9 D2.B6 congenic and D2 control strains of mice there was a significant main effect of strain that did not interact with sex. D2 mice were significantly more stimulated than chromosome 9 D2.B6 congenic mice ($F_{1,91} = 12.7$, p < 0.001). These data provide strong evidence for an acute methamphetamine stimulation QTL on chromosome 9 in both reciprocal congenic strains.

ISCS

Genotyping results for the DNA markers that define the ISCS D2 introgressed regions and the behavioral responses to methamphetamine in these strains are found in Figure 25. Four of the nine ISCS had a significantly elevated acute response to methamphetamine compared to B6 control mice. Data from two male ISCS 2 animals were excluded from the analysis because there was a computer issue on day 2. Data from five animals were excluded from the analysis because their data were extreme (> \pm 2.5 SD from the strain mean). The five animals that were excluded came from five different



Figure 24. The QTL for the acute locomotor response to methamphetamine is captured in the chromosome 9 D2.B6 and B6.D2 congenic mouse strains. The acute locomotor response to methamphetamine (2 mg/kg) in D2, chromosome 9 D2.B6 congenic, chromosome 9 B6.D2 congenic, and B6 strains. Data were collapsed on sex because no significant main effects or interactions with this factor were detected. Shown are the data (mean \pm SEM) from the 15 min test session. N = 42 - 50 per strain. *p < 0.001

Figure 25. Fine mapping of a QTL for methamphetamine stimulation on mouse chromosome 9 to a 24.16 Mb region. Genotyping and the acute locomotor response to methamphetamine (2 mg/kg) in chromosome 9 B6.D2 ISCS and B6 mice. (a) Genotyping of the chromosome 9 ISCS panel of mice. Dark black lines represent the more finely mapped QTL region. D2 = D2 homozygous, HET = D2/B6 heterozygous, B6 = B6 homozygous, * = lines that capture the QTL (b) Shown are the acute locomotor response data (mean ± SEM) from the 15 min test session. Data were collapsed on sex. N = 39 - 41 per strain. *p < 0.05 compared to the B6 strain

Figure 25a

		DNA Marker																
	D9Mit90	D9Mit297	D9Mit206	5 D9Mit129	D9Mit192	D9Mit93	D9Mit71	D9Mit96	D9Mit4	D9Mit142	D9Mit48	D9Mit31	D9Mit27	1 D9Mit269	D9Mit10	D9Mit50	D9Mit274	D9Mit115
Ensembl (Mb)	32.25	33.81	40.25	43.63	45.37	45.98	49.95	50.5	51.87	56.08	57.69	63.58	86.97	87.74	89.77	94.25	96.2	101.46
ISCS 1	D2	D2	D2	D2	B6	B6	B6	B6	B6	B6	B6	B6	B6	B6	B6	B6	B6	B6
ISCS 2	D2	D2	D2	D2	D2	D2	D2	D2	D2	B6	B6	B6	B6	B6	B6	B6	B6	B6
ISCS 3	B6	D2	D2	D2	D2	D2	D2	B6	B6	B6	B6	B6	B6	B6	B6	B6	B6	B6
ISCS 4	B6	B6	B6	B6	B6	D2	D2	D2	D2	B6	B6	B6	B6	B6	B6	B6	B6	B6
ISCS 5 *	B6	B6	B6	D2	D2	D2	D2	D2	D2	D2	D2	D2	D2	D2	D2	D2	B6	B6
ISCS 6 *	B6	B6	B6	B6	B6	B6	B6	D2	D2	D2	D2	D2	D2	D2	D2	D2	D2	D2
ISCS 7 *	B6	B6	B6	B6	B6	B6	B6	B6	B6	D2	D2	D2	D2	D2	D2	D2	D2	D2
ISCS 9	B6	D2	D2	B6	B6	B6	B6	B6	B6	B6	B6	B6	B6	B6	B6	B6	B6	B6
ISCS 10 *	B6	B6	B6	B6	B6	B6	B6	B6	B6	B6	B6	D2	D2	HET	B6	B6	B6	B6

Figure 25b



strains: B6 control, ISCS 3, 5, 7, and 9. When the B6 control strain was compared to the ISCS 1, 2, 3, 4, and 9 strains, no significant main effects or interactions were observed. ISCS 5, 6, and 7 were all significantly more stimulated by methamphetamine compared to B6 control mice, as evidenced by a significant main effect of strain that did not interact with sex ($F_{1,76} = 19.9$, p < 0.001, $F_{1,76} = 21.0$, p < 0.001, $F_{1,77} = 20.6$, p < 0.001, respectively). When ISCS 10 was compared to B6 control mice a significant sex X strain interaction was observed ($F_{1,76} = 5.1$, p < 0.05). Both male and female ISCS 10 mice were significantly more stimulated by methamphetamine compared to male and female control mice, but this difference was larger in female mice than male mice (p < 0.05; male ISCS 10: 4962.4 \pm 349.4, male control: 3709.8 \pm 435.4, female ISCS 10: 6533.5 \pm 496.6, female control: 3444.0 ± 331.0). Since ISCS 5, 6, 7, and 10 capture the QTL for methamphetamine stimulation, these data narrow the location of the QTL for methamphetamine stimulation from a 69.13 Mb region to a 24.16 Mb region between D9Mit31 and D9Mit269 (Figure 25a). The effect size for the chromosome 9 QTL for methamphetamine stimulation ranged from 0.208 - 0.256. Thus, approximately 20 - 0.256. 25% of the variability in the acute locomotor response to methamphetamine can be accounted for by genotype in this region of mouse chromosome 9.

Discussion

Gene mapping in crosses of mice derived from the B6 and D2 progenitor strains had provided suggestive evidence of a QTL on mouse chromosome 9 for the acute locomotor responses to cocaine and methamphetamine (Tolliver et al., 1994; Miner and Marley, 1995; Grisel et al., 1997; Phillips et al., 1998; Palmer et al., 2005). In this paper, the presence of a QTL for the acute response to methamphetamine on mouse chromosome 9 was confirmed, but there was only weak evidence of a QTL for cocaine stimulation. Further, the location of the QTL for methamphetamine stimulation was narrowed to a 24.16 Mb region using ISCS.

The evidence of a QTL for sensitivity to methamphetamine's stimulatory effects was quite strong. Both the chromosome 9 B6.D2 and D2.B6 congenic strains captured this QTL. Data from studies in the reciprocal chromosome 9 congenic strains, suggest that mice with D2 alleles on chromosome 9 were more stimulated by methamphetamine than mice with B6 alleles in the same region. The p-value associated with the capture of the chromosome 9 QTL in the ISCS strains exceeds the Lander and Kruglyak (1995) threshold for a significant QTL. Combining the results of this study with the existing QTL mapping data would only increase the significance level associated with this QTL even further. A gene in the mid-chromosome 9 region accounted for 20 - 25% of the phenotypic variation in methamphetamine stimulation. Extrapolating to a congenic F_2 , this estimate would be 10 - 13%. A QTL with an effect size this large is on the extreme end of what is normally mapped for behavioral traits, but is consistent with the size of QTL that have been successfully fine mapped (Flint et al., 2005).

While QTL mapping results in the reciprocal chromosome 9 congenic strains provided evidence that mice with D2 alleles were more stimulated by methamphetamine than mice with B6 alleles in this region, it is interesting to note that the inbred B6 strain appears more stimulated by 2 mg/kg methamphetamine than the D2 strain (see Figure 24). The response data of the B6 and D2 inbred strains were not statistically compared because the purpose of this study was to determine if there was a QTL for the acute locomotor response to methamphetamine on chromosome 9. Therefore, the appropriate
comparison was between the congenic and relevant background strain. Furthermore, the 2 reciprocal congenic strains, and their background control strains, were run in independent experiments. A consistent pattern of strain differences in response to amphetamines between the D2 and B6 strains has not been observed. In some studies, the D2 strain is more stimulated by amphetamine than the B6 strain (Anisman et al., 1975; Remington and Anisman, 1976), but in another study the reverse was observed (Zocchi et al., 1998). The acute locomotor response to methamphetamine is influenced by the combined effect of many genes. Each of these genes may have individual effects, increasing or decreasing the acute locomotor response to methamphetamine, and they may interact. On chromosome 9, these data suggest that having D2 alleles, as compared to B6 alleles in the same region, increases methamphetamine-induced stimulation, when all other genetic loci are identical between the strains.

In contrast, these data provide only weak evidence for a QTL for cocaine-induced locomotor activation on mouse chromosome 9. A sex-specific QTL effect in the B6 background congenic was observed, but there was no difference in sensitivity to cocaine in either male or female D2.B6 congenics when compared to D2 control mice. Furthermore, in the study where a sex-specific QTL was observed the effect was opposite for the two sexes, and likely accounted for by differences in sensitivity to cocaine between male and female B6 control mice. There is no consistent sex difference in response to an acute injection of cocaine. One study showed that males are more sensitive to cocaine than females (Morse et al., 1993), but another study showed the opposite result (Downing et al., 2003a). The direction of effect observed in the female B6.D2 congenic and B6 control mice was consistent with a prior QTL mapping study

(Phillips et al., 1998). Future work using female mice from the chromosome 9 B6.D2 ISCS panel may provide finer mapping of this QTL. In contrast, the direction of effect in the male B6 background congenics was opposite to what has previously been observed (Miner and Marley, 1995). However, the original QTL mapping work in male BXD RI animals was done using a procedure different from that used in this study. In that study mice were habituated to the locomotor chamber for 30-min, then they received a 10 mg/kg cocaine injection and were place immediately back into the chamber (Miner and Marley, 1995). It is possible that this difference in procedure could account for the differences in the direction of effect observed in this study. Together these data provide weak evidence of a QTL for the acute locomotor response to cocaine on mouse chromosome 9 that is sex-specific.

Genetic correlations have been observed between the acute locomotor responses to amphetamines and cocaine (Marley et al., 1998; Kamens et al., 2005). These correlations have been observed in selected lines derived from a cross of B6 and D2 mice (Kamens et al., 2005) as well as in lines selectively bred from HS/Ibg mice (derived from the crossing of eight inbred strains including the B6 and D2 inbred strains; Marley et al., 1998). These data suggest that a common gene (or genes) in mice derived from the B6 and D2 inbred strains has pleiotropic influence on both amphetamine- and cocaineinduced activity. The possibility that a gene in the introgressed region of the chromosome 9 congenic has pleiotropic effects on these behaviors still exists, but may be sex-specific. Other QTL have been mapped on a number of different chromosomes for the acute locomotor responses to cocaine and methamphetamine. A gene(s) in one of these other QTL regions may have pleiotropic effects on both traits and account for the

observed genetic correlations (Tolliver et al., 1994; Miner and Marley, 1995; Grisel et al., 1997; Phillips et al., 1998; Palmer et al., 2005).

Higher resolution mapping of the QTL for methamphetamine stimulation was attained using ISCS. The ISCS used in these studies were obtained through the backcrossing of the chromosome 9 B6.D2 congenic strain to the background B6 strain. Mice with overlapping donor regions were identified by genotyping microsatellite markers. The markers shown in Figure 25a are only a subset of those used to genotype these mice. ISCS 10 was originally bred using D9Mit144 (63.78 Mb) as the DNA marker that defined the proximal end of the D2 introgressed region and D9Mit319 (77.07 Mb) as the marker which defined the distal boundary. The markers D9Mit48 (57.69 Mb) and D9Mit274 (96.2 Mb) were used to show that the introgressed region ended because they were genotyped as homozygous B6. This left a 6.09 Mb proximal and 19.13 Mb distal region flanking the introgressed region with an unknown genotype. While it is common to have an unknown region when utilizing congenic strains (i.e., Fehr et al., 2002), additional genotyping in this region was performed to better define where the D2 introgressed region began and ended to definitively map the QTL region. This additional genotyping provided evidence that a crossover had occurred in one of the initial homozygous breeders and thus there is a small heterozygous region (see Figure 25a – marker D9Mit269). The interpretation of the results from this study does not change with the information that there is a small heterozygous region (< 3 Mb) at the end of ISCS 10. If the gene that accounts for variation in methamphetamine stimulation resides in the heterozygous region it would provide evidence that the D2 allele is dominant, since there is complete capture of the QTL in this strain. There is currently no other existing data

regarding the genetic architecture of this QTL to allow speculation concerning dominance.

The addition of new ISCS that have introgressed regions covering the 24.16 Mb segment implicated in this study will be needed for additional fine mapping of this QTL. New ISCS are currently being created from backcrossing ISCS 5 and 10 animals to B6 mice. The ISCS 10 strain was chosen because it possesses the smallest congenic region that captures the QTL. ISCS 5 was chosen because it captures the whole QTL region, has a history of being a productive breeder, and allows for additional congenics to be created not in the QTL region to confirm the exclusion of more proximal chromosome 9 regions. The creation of new ISCS will help narrow the location of the QTL and thus decrease the number of candidate genes in the region.

The 24 Mb QTL region identified in this study contains approximately 280 genes (www.genome.uscs.edu). Prior studies which used ISCS mapping to fine map QTL regions have filtered genes for functional polymorphisms and whether or not the gene is expressed in the brain to identify the most promising candidates (Fehr et al., 2002; Ferraro et al., 2004; Shirley et al., 2004). This approach worked to identify either the quantitative trait gene (QTG) or a small number of candidate genes because the QTL was fine mapped to a much smaller region, containing fewer genes, than what has been achieved for the methamphetamine stimulation QTL (< 4.1 Mb compared to 24.16 Mb). This is an approach that will be used when higher resolution mapping of the chromosome 9 QTL for methamphetamine sensitivity has been obtained, but at the current time there are too many genes in the QTL region to be amenable to this strategy.

A complementary approach to identify candidate genes is to determine which genes that map to the QTL region are differentially expressed in other strains or genotypes relevant to this trait. This approach has been successful at identifying candidate genes for methamphetamine-induced locomotor activation. For example, differential expression of casein kinase 1 epsilon (*Csnk1e*) between the HMACT and LMACT lines of mice pointed to this as a candidate gene (Palmer et al., 2005). Further, a polymorphism in this gene was found to alter the acute response to amphetamine in human subjects (Veenstra-VanderWeele et al., 2006). Gene expression differences were examined in the HMACT and LMACT lines and chromosome 9 B6.D2 congenic and B6 mice (Palmer et al., 2005; Mulligan et al., 2006). Since the HMACT and LMACT lines were derived from a cross of the B6 and D2 strains, differences in these lines are directly relevant to the QTL mapped in the congenics. Mice from the 4th generation of selective breeding (at which time there was a 5-fold difference in sensitivity to methamphetamine stimulation) were used for gene expression analysis. Naïve mice were tested since baseline gene expression differences between the two lines are likely to account for differences in the response to methamphetamine. Three genes were found to be differentially expressed in nucleus accumbens tissue from the HMACT and LMACT lines of mice that map to chromosome 9 between D9Mit31 and D9Mit269 (the markers that define the 24 Mb QTL region). These three genes: Arpp19 (cyclic AMP phosphoprotein), Car12 (carbonic anhydrase 12), and Spg21 (spastic paraplegia 21 homolog) are thus candidate genes for this response.

An additional candidate gene comes from a study examining whole brain basal gene expression differences between the chromosome 9 B6.D2 congenic and B6 control

mice (Mulligan et al., 2006). Comparisons of these strains are relevant since this congenic captures the QTL for methamphetamine stimulation and was used to create the chromosome 9 ISCS used for finer mapping. One gene was differentially expressed in whole brain samples between these two strains (q < 0.05) that maps to the QTL region. This gene, *Eef1a1* (eukaryotic translation elongation factor 1 alpha 1) should also be considered as a candidate gene.

At least three of these genes (*Car12*, *Eef1a1*, and *Arpp19*) are expressed in the brain and have functions that could be important for the response to methamphetamine. Carbonic anhydrases are important in a number of cell actions including: pH regulation, cell proliferation, acidification, signal transduction, ion transport, and balance of water and electrolytes (Sly and Hu, 1995; Tureci et al., 1998; Kallio et al., 2006). There are 16 different carbonic anhydrases that differ in regional and cellular distributions. Carbonic anhydrase 12, the isoform that was differentially expressed between the HMACT and LMACT lines, is expressed in the brain and is localized to the cell membrane (Ivanov et al., 2001; Kallio et al., 2006). Further evidence for the possible role of this gene in methamphetamine stimulation comes from WebQTL (www.genenetwork.org). Whole brain expression of *Car12* in BXD RI mice is significantly correlated with the locomotor response to an acute injection of methamphetamine (16 mg/kg, r = .436, p < 0.05; this correlation is derived from WebQTL, but excludes the outlier BXD RI 24 strain).

Unlike *Car12*, level of *Eef1a1* expression is not correlated with the acute locomotor response to methamphetamine in BXD RI mice (analysis of WebQTL data suggests there is a significant correlation, but when BXD RI 24 is removed because of its extreme values, the correlations between *Eef1a1* and methamphetamine expression is not

significant). *Eef1a1* is expressed in neurons, and as implied by its name (eukaryotic translation elongation factor 1 alpha 1) is involved in translation and the synthesis of new peptides (Petrushenko et al., 2002; McClatchy et al., 2006). Recently, other functions for this gene have been identified. For example, *Eef1a1* appears to be involved in the regulation of the number of M4 muscarinic acetylcholine receptors in the membrane (McClatchy et al., 2006). This may be particularly relevant to the locomotor response to methamphetamine because mice lacking the M4 muscarinic receptor had significantly more dopamine efflux in the nucleus accumbens following amphetamine administration than wildtype animals (Tzavara et al., 2004).

The location and function of *Arpp19* also make this gene of interest for methamphetamine stimulation. *Arpp19* is expressed throughout the central nervous system and is an intracellular signaling molecule (Girault et al., 1990). When neurotransmitters increase cAMP, cAMP-dependent protein kinases are activated. *Arpp19* is one substrate for cAMP-dependent protein kinases. Dopamine receptors activate this pathway and dopamine increases *Arpp19* phosphorylation (Dulubova et al., 2001). Doses of methamphetamine that stimulate locomotor activity increase dopamine in the nucleus accumbens (Izawa et al., 2006), indicating one way *Arpp19* may be involved in the response to methamphetamine. Expression of *Arpp19* in whole brain samples from BXD RI mice is significantly correlated with the acute response to methamphetamine and in particular, with the precise trait studied here (2 mg/kg; Phillips et al., unpublished data; r = .483, p < 0.05). Thus, the evidence is strongest for *Arpp19* as a candidate gene for the acute locomotor response to methamphetamine, since expression of this gene is correlated with the behavioral response for which this QTL was mapped.

In contrast to *Arpp19*, *Car12*, or *Eef1a1*, much less is known about localization and function of *Spg21* (aka, acidic cluster protein 33, ACP33). In one study, *Spg21* was shown to interact with the cell surface glycoprotein CD4 and mediate T cell activation (Zeitlmann et al., 2001). It is not known if *Spg21* interacts with other cellular proteins or if it has other functions on its own. Whole brain expression of *Spg21* was not significantly correlated with methamphetamine-induced locomotor activity in BXD RI mice.

It is possible that more than one gene in the QTL region may influence this trait. Of the 4 candidate genes listed, *Spg21* and *Car21* are less than 1.5 Mb apart, while the others are at least 3.4 Mb apart. With the addition of more ISCS, it may still be hard to separate some of these genes because, at least in the case of *Spg21* and *Car21*, they are tightly linked. The possibility exists that if multiple genes in this 24 Mb region additively influence this trait, the ability to detect this trait when new ISCS with additional recombinations in the region are tested may be lost.

In summary, a QTL for methamphetamine-induced locomotor activation was definitively mapped to a ~24 Mb region of mouse chromosome 9. A gene (or genes) in this region accounts for 20 - 25% of the variation in the stimulatory effects of methamphetamine. Existing gene expression data have allowed some speculation regarding candidate genes in this region. Additional work is underway to map this QTL to a smaller region, identify the QTG, and devise strategies for exploring its function.

Chapter 5: General Discussion

There were three goals for this dissertation research. The first goal was to determine if neuronal nicotinic acetylcholine receptors were involved in ethanol- and psychostimulant-induced locomotor activation. The second goal of this dissertation research was to confirm the presence of a quantitative trait locus (QTL) for the locomotor response to ethanol, cocaine, and methamphetamine on mouse chromosome 9. When a QTL was confirmed, steps were taken to more finely map the region. Finally, the last goal was to examined if the genes in the nicotinic acetylcholine receptor subunit gene cluster on chromosome 9 were viable candidates for ethanol-induced stimulation. In this discussion I will address the data separately for methamphetamine, cocaine, and ethanol. For each drug both the QTL and pharmacologic data will be discussed. Ethanol was saved for last because mechanism was studied most extensively for this drug.

Methamphetamine Stimulation

In Chapter 4 of this dissertation I present strong evidence of a QTL for methamphetamine-induced locomotor stimulation on mouse chromosome 9. Both the chromosome 9 D2.B6 and B6.D2 congenic strains captured this QTL. Furthermore, when a panel of chromosome 9 interval-specific congenic strains (ISCS) were tested for methamphetamine stimulation the QTL was narrowed to a 24.16 Mb region containing approximately 280 genes. Of these 280 genes, candidates could theoretically be identified by examining cellular expression patterns and sequence differences. However, it would be advantageous to more finely map the QTL and reduce the number of genes to be examined before engaging in expression and sequence analysis.

The nicotinic acetylcholine receptor antagonist mecanylamine did not attenuate methamphetamine-induced locomotor activation (Chapter 2). Other studies have also examined the role of these receptors in the acute response to amphetamines. Pretreatment with the nicotinic acetylcholine receptor antagonists mecamylamine, dihydro-βerythroidine, 18-methoxycoronaridine, and methyllycaconitine had no effect on amphetamine stimulation (Szumlinski et al., 2000a; Schoffelmeer et al., 2002; Escubedo et al., 2005). Together with my data, it appears that nicotinic acetylcholine receptors are not involved in the locomotor response to amphetamines, and that genes other than those in the nicotinic acetylcholine receptor gene cluster should be considered as candidates for the QTL. In fact, the QTL mapping data for methamphetamine stimulation are consistent with the pharmacology data. Specifically, there was no evidence for the involvement of nicotinic acetylcholine receptors in methamphetamine activation based on the pharmacology studies, and the ISCS mapping data narrowed the QTL for this trait to between 63.58 and 87.74 Mb on chromosome 9 (Chapter 4), a region that eliminates the cluster of acetylcholine receptors on this chromosome (at 54 Mb) from further consideration.

Although it does not appear that nicotinic acetylcholine receptors are involved in amphetamine stimulation, nicotinic receptors have been implicated in other amphetamine behaviors. Although mecamylamine and dihydro- β -erythroidine had no effect on the acute stereotypic effect of amphetamine, these drugs were able to block sensitization to the stereotypic effects of repeated amphetamine administration (Karler et al., 1996). Mecamylamine also has been shown to block the development of sensitization as measured by an increase in locomotor activity (Schoffelmeer et al., 2002).

Methyllycaconitine, the α 7 specific nicotinic antagonist, blocked methamphetamineinduced climbing (Escubedo et al., 2005). Finally, 18-methoxycoronaridine attenuated methamphetamine self-administration (Glick et al., 2000; Glick et al., 2002; Maisonneuve and Glick, 2003; Pace et al., 2004). These data provide evidence that although nicotinic acetylcholine receptors do not appear to be involved in the acute locomotor stimulant response to amphetamines, they may be involved in other amphetamine behaviors.

Cocaine Stimulation

Weak evidence of a QTL for cocaine stimulation on mouse chromosome 9 was found. There was no evidence of a QTL for cocaine activation using the D2 background congenic, but there was evidence of a sex-specific QTL for cocaine stimulation on the B6 background congenic (Chapter 4). Female chromosome 9 B6.D2 congenic mice were more stimulated by cocaine than B6 control mice. These data are consistent with the QTL mapped for cocaine stimulation in female BXD RI mice (Phillips et al., 1998); male mice were not included in this QTL mapping study. In contrast, male B6.D2 congenic mice were less stimulated by cocaine than B6 mice. The direction of effect observed in male congenic mice was opposite to the original QTL mapping for cocaine stimulation in male BXD RI mice (Miner and Marley, 1995). It is possible that this may be a spurious finding.

Pharmacologically I was unable to antagonize the stimulant effects of cocaine with mecamylamine (Chapter 2), although prior research has implicated nicotinic acetylcholine receptors in response to this drug. For example, α 4 knockout mice were more stimulated by cocaine than wildtype mice (Marubio et al., 2003). There is mixed

data regarding the role of $\alpha 3\beta 4$ nicotinic acetylcholine receptors in this response. In an early study, 1 hour pretreatment with 18-methoxycoronaridine attenuated cocaine-induced stimulation (Maisonneuve et al., 1997), but when administered 19 hours prior to the cocaine challenge 18-methoxycoronaridine enhanced or had no effect on this behavioral response (Maisonneuve et al., 1997; Szumlinski et al., 2000b). Due to the relatively weak evidence for a chromosome 9 QTL and the negative pharmacological data, this cocaine trait was not pursued further.

Acetylcholine receptors have been implicated in other cocaine behaviors. Mecamylamine has been shown to attenuate cocaine conditioned place preference (Zachariou et al., 2001), self-administration (Levin et al., 2000; Blokhina et al., 2005), escalation of cocaine self-administration (Hansen and Mark, 2007), and the development of cocaine-induced behavioral sensitization (Schoffelmeer et al., 2002). α 3 β 4 receptors also appear to be involved in cocaine self-administration, since 18-methoxycoronaridine decreased this behavior (Glick et al., 1996). Furthermore, cocaine conditioned place preference was decreased in β 2 knockout mice compared to wildtype controls (Zachariou et al., 2001).

There was only weak evidence of a QTL for cocaine-induced locomotor activation on mouse chromosome 9, but there was strong evidence of a QTL for methamphetamine stimulation in this region. These data suggest that a gene on mouse chromosome 9 likely does not influence both of these traits, but previous data has provided evidence that a common gene(s) influences both traits. A comparison of the BXD RI strain means for the acute response to cocaine and methamphetamine provides evidence that 44% of the variation in these traits is due to common genetic mechanisms

 $(R^2 = 0.44;$ Phillips et al., unpublished data; Phillips et al., 1998). Furthermore, data from the HMACT and LMACT lines of mice has provided evidence of a genetic correlations between these traits (Kamens et al., 2005). When the effect size was determined for the response to methamphetamine and cocaine in the methamphetamine selected lines the difference was approximately half ($R^2 = 0.69$ vs. 0.37, respectively; derived from a 1-way ANOVA based on the equation presented in Chapter 3). These data suggest that approximately 44 – 54 % of the genetic variance is shared between these two traits. These data also provide evidence that not all of the genes that influence methamphetamine stimulation also influence cocaine stimulation, an observation consistent with the data presented in this dissertation. A gene or genes, likely not on chromosome 9, influences the acute response to both psychostimulants.

Cocaine blocks the dopamine, norepinephrine, and serotonin (5-HT) transporters (Eshleman et al., 1999). The blockade of the dopamine transporter causes an increase in extracelluar dopamine levels (Mortensen and Amara, 2003; Elliott and Beveridge, 2005). Amphetamines act primarily as a substrate for the dopamine transporter, although they also act as substrates for the norepinephrine and 5-HT transporters (Rothman and Baumann, 2003; Sulzer et al., 2005). Amphetamine is taken up into the cell via the dopamine transporter. Once inside the cell, amphetamine interferes with the pH gradient of the synaptic vesicles disrupting dopamine accumulation (Sulzer and Rayport, 1990; Sulzer et al., 1995). Disruption of vesicular dopamine storage causes an increase of dopamine in the extracelluar space, similar to cocaine, due to dopamine release from the cell through a reversal of the dopamine transporter (Kahlig et al., 2005). The behavioral effects of amphetamine appear to be modulated by normal functioning of monoamine oxidase, providing evidence that amphetamines also interact with this enzyme (Gianutsos et al., 1983). The similarities and differences in the mechanism of action of these drugs could lead to hypotheses about what genes may influence the response to both drugs as well as which genes may influence the response to only one of the drugs. For example, since both drugs interact with the dopamine, norepinephrine, and 5-HT systems these could be the source of common mechanism. In contrast, since amphetamines interact with the vesicular monoamine transporter and monoamine oxidase, but cocaine does not, these may only influence the response to amphetamines.

Ethanol Stimulation

The results for the ethanol stimulation trait are discussed in more detail, because the data presented in this dissertation focus predominately on this trait.

Gene Mapping

In this dissertation I provide evidence of a QTL for ethanol stimulation on mouse chromosome 9, where a gene accounts for 20% of the phenotypic variation in this response. D2 mice were significantly more stimulated by 2 g/kg ethanol than chromosome 9 D2.B6 congenic mice (Chapter 3). This QTL was not detected on the B6 background.

There are a number of reasons why I may have been unable to detect this QTL on the B6 background, and I was able to address some of these (see discussion of Chapter 3). I was not able to determine if the chromosome 9 QTL locus epistatically interacts with another locus. It is possible that D2 alleles are needed at another chromosomal locus to be able to observe increased locomotor stimulation with the chromosome 9 QTL. There is at least one example of epistatic interactions with a gene on chromosome 9 that affects

the acute locomotor response to ethanol. Mice lacking the dopamine D2 receptor (*Drd2*) were more stimulated by ethanol than wildtype mice when the mutation was on a B6 background, but not when the mutation was on a mixed 129S2 X 129S6 background (Palmer et al., 2003).

The QTL for ethanol-induced locomotor stimulation was more finely mapped using a congenic F_2 population derived from a cross of the chromosome 9 D2.B6 congenic mice to D2 mice. The QTL region was narrowed from a 62 to 46 cM region. Although I did not achieve as great of mapping resolution with this technique as I did using the ISCS for the methamphetamine stimulation QTL, some finer map resolution was achieved. This is the first time anyone has tried to use a congenic F_2 population for this purpose. In the future, testing more mice or using a population with more recombinants, by starting from a later intercrossed population, may provide greater resolution of the QTL region.

Behavioral pharmacology

I present data in this dissertation that acetylcholine receptor antagonists attenuate ethanol-induced locomotor activation. Similar to work in outbred NMRI mice (Blomqvist et al., 1992; Larsson et al., 2002), neuronal nicotinic acetylcholine receptors are involved in ethanol-induced stimulation in inbred D2 and selectively bred FAST mice (Chapter 2). Since these receptors are involved in ethanol activation in all three of these genetic models, together these data provide strong evidence for the involvement of nicotinic acetylcholine receptors in the locomotor activating effects of ethanol.

Mecamylamine decreased ethanol-induced stimulation in D2 and FAST mice (Chapter 2). Because mecamylamine is a nonspecific nicotinic acetylcholine receptor

antagonist, no information was provided about which type of nicotinic receptors are involved in this response. However, work with other pharmacological agents provided some insight into which types of acetylcholine receptors are <u>not</u> involved in this response. Hexamethonium had no effect on ethanol-induced stimulation. Since this drug does not cross the blood brain barrier these data provide evidence that neuronal nicotinic acetylcholine receptors in the central nervous system are involved in this response. Dihydro- β -erythroidine and methyllycaconitine had no effect on ethanol-induced stimulation in FAST or NMRI mice (Chapter 2; Larsson et al., 2002). These data rule out the involvement of $\alpha 4\beta 2$ and $\alpha 7$ acetylcholine receptors. Other nicotinic acetylcholine receptors are blocked by mecamylamine that may affect this behavior. These include $\alpha 3$ and $\alpha 6$ -containing receptors. There are no pharmacologic data in this dissertation that can address the specific involvement of acetylcholine receptors containing these subunits.

Prior research in the NMRI outbred mice has provided evidence that $\alpha 3\beta 2$ or $\beta 3$ containing nicotinic acetylcholine receptors may be involved in the acute response to ethanol, but that $\alpha 6$ -containing acetylcholine receptors may not be involved. α -conotoxin MII blocks $\alpha 3\beta 2$ nicotinic acetylcholine receptors as well as those containing a $\beta 3$ or $\alpha 6$ subunit. When injected directly into the ventral tegmental area, α -conotoxin MII blocked ethanol-induced stimulation (Larsson et al., 2004). In contrast, the conotoxin PIAanalogue, which specifically blocks $\alpha 6$ -containing nicotinic acetylcholine receptors, had no effect on ethanol-induced stimulation (Jerlhag et al., 2006). The $\beta 3$ subunit of the nicotinic acetylcholine receptor forms functional receptors only when combined with existing α/β pairs (Groot-Kormelink et al., 1998; Broadbent et al., 2006), and is not involved in agonist binding (Boorman et al., 2003). No data exist regarding the influence

of this receptor subunit on drug responsiveness, but mice lacking this subunit had greater basal locomotor activity when compared to wildtype mice (Cui et al., 2003). Together these data suggest that $\alpha 3\beta 2$ or $\beta 3$ -containing nicotinic acetylcholine receptors are involved in this effect of ethanol.

The specific role of α 3-containing acetylcholine receptors in ethanol-induced stimulation remains unknown. The α 3 subunit combines with the β 2 or β 4 subunit to form functional receptors. No antagonists exist that can cross the blood brain barrier and selectively block α 3 β 2 receptors. 18-methoxycoronaridine appears to be selective for α 3 β 4 receptors (Glick et al., 2002), but is not commercially available nor is it currently available from the investigator who synthesized it. To my knowledge, no one has tried to block ethanol-induced locomotor stimulation with 18-methoxycoronaridine.

At high doses, some anticholinergic drugs have been shown to have effects on Nmethyl-D-aspartate (NMDA) receptors. In CD-1 mice, 12 mg/kg mecamylamine decreased NMDA-induced lethality (McDonough and Shih, 1995), providing evidence that high doses of this drug have antagonistic effects at these receptors. Ethanol-induced locomotor stimulation was attenuated with 1 mg/kg mecamylamine in D2 mice and 1 - 3mg/kg in FAST mice (Chapter 2). Since low doses of mecamylamine were able to attenuate ethanol-induced stimulation, I speculate that the effects observed were dependent upon mecamylamine's effects at nicotinic acetylcholine receptors and not at NMDA receptors.

Acetylcholine receptors have been implicated in other behavioral responses of ethanol. The involvement of these receptors in ethanol drinking remains unclear. While some studies have reported that mecamylamine decreased ethanol intake (Blomqvist et

al., 1996; Le et al., 2000), others have reported an increase in ethanol intake (Ericson et al., 2000) or no change in ethanol consumption (Dyr et al., 1999; Smith et al., 1999). The α 3 β 4-specific antagonist, 18-methoxycoronaridine, decreased ethanol consumption in a two-bottle free choice paradigm (Rezvani et al., 1997). Furthermore, a restriction length polymorphism in the α 4 nicotinic acetylcholine receptor gene has been associated with ethanol consumption and ethanol effects on Y-maze crossings (Tritto et al., 2001). Nicotinic acetylcholine receptors have also been implicated in ethanol withdrawal severity. Mice lacking the β 2 subunit of the nicotinic acetylcholine receptor had reduced ethanol withdrawal compared to wildtype mice (Butt et al., 2004). An A/T polymorphism in the α 4 subunit gene has also been associated with ethanol withdrawal severity (Butt et al., 2004).

In contrast to psychostimulants (discussed above) which interact with the dopamine, norepinephrine, and 5-HT systems, ethanol has actions on many other neurotransmitter systems. GABA_A, glycine, 5-HT₃, inotropic glutamate, amino-3-hydroxy-5-methylisoxazole-4-propionic acid (AMPA)/kinate, and nicotinic acetylcholine receptors are all sensitive to alcohol. Alcohol potentiates the actions of the GABA_A, glycine, and 5-HT₃ receptors (Celentano et al., 1988; Lovinger, 1991; Nakahiro et al., 1991; Lovinger and Zhou, 1994; Mascia et al., 1996). In contrast, ethanol inhibits the function of inotropic glutamate and AMPA/kinate receptors (Lovinger et al., 1989, 1990; Lovinger, 1993).

Interestingly, there is a high rate of alcohol and nicotine co-abuse (Istvan and Matarazzo, 1984), and alcohols have also been shown to interact with the nicotinic acetylcholine receptors. Studies examining alcohol's effect on acetylcholine receptors

have shown a variety of results. Alcohols have been shown to potentiate ion current (Dilger and Brett, 1991; Liu et al., 1994), produce a left shift in the agonist concentration curve (i.e., make the agonist appear more potent; Forman et al., 1995), stabilize the open state (Wu et al., 1994), and act as a channel blocker (Murrell and Haydon, 1991; Wood et al., 1995). Different receptor subtypes may account for the different actions observed. For example, ethanol potentiated agonist-induced current in $\alpha 2\beta 4$, $\alpha 4\beta 4$, $\alpha 2\beta 2$, and $\alpha 4\beta 2$ receptors expressed in *Xenopus oocytes*, but $\alpha 3\beta 2$ and $\alpha 3\beta 4$ receptors were insensitive to this effect of ethanol. Furthermore, $\alpha 7$ receptors were inhibited by ethanol (Cardoso et al., 1999). Since alcohol interacts with more neurotransmitter receptors, including nicotinic acetylcholine receptors, than psychostimulants, this provides one explanation why these receptors may be involved in ethanol-induced stimulation, but not cocaine- or methamphetamine-induced locomotor activation.

Gene expression

Chrna3 expression was examined in the FAST and SLOW mice to determine if differential expression of this gene may account for the behavioral differences between these lines of mice. *Chrna3* expression differences were not observed between these lines of mice. Gene expression differences in *Chrna3* may not be responsible for differential sensitivity to ethanol stimulation. Alternatively, I may not have been able to detect mRNA expression differences between these two selected lines of mice for a variety of reasons. First, QTL for ethanol-induced stimulation have not been mapped in the FAST and SLOW mice. Therefore, it is not known if a gene on chromosome 9 influences this trait in these mice. If *Chrna3* expression is influenced by only cis-

regulatory regions, and if the FAST and SLOW mice are genetically identical in this region of chromosome 9, I may not have expected to see differences in gene expression. Both cis- and trans-regulatory regions influence the expression of *Chrna3* (www.genenetwork.org), therefore even if these mice were genetically similar in this region of chromosome 9, trans-activation of expression could still exist. Second, the comparison between FAST and SLOW mice may be difficult to interpret because these lines also differ in the sedative effects of ethanol. FAST mice are extremely sensitive to the stimulant effects of ethanol, whereas SLOW mice are insensitive to the stimulant effects of ethanol and are additionally more sensitive to the sedative effects (Phillips et al., 2002b). In fact, SLOW mice are sedated (as defined by a decrease below saline activity) during the first six min after an acute injection of ethanol as well as when assessed by the loss of righting reflex (Phillips et al., 2002b). The genes that influence sensitivity to the stimulant effects of ethanol may be different than those that influence locomotor sedation. Therefore, a comparison that may be more easily interpreted may be between two strains of animals that both display locomotor stimulation, but to different degrees and that do not differ in sensitivity to the sedative effects of ethanol. Third, the α 3 subunit is not widely expressed throughout the brain. Gene expression assays in brain regions known to have high expression of this subunit may yield different results. Therefore, the fact that *Chrna3* expression differences were not detected between whole brain samples from the FAST and SLOW mice does not eliminate the possibility that receptors containing this subunit are involved in ethanol stimulation.

In contrast to FAST and SLOW mice, *Chrna3* expression differences were detected between the chromosome 9 D2.B6 congenic and D2 control mice using both

whole brain and regional samples. These data support that *Chrna3* is a candidate gene for the chromosome 9 ethanol stimulation QTL. D2 mice that are highly stimulated by ethanol have less *Chrna3* expression in the whole brain, ventral midbrain, and striatum compared to chromosome 9 D2.B6 congenic mice that are less stimulated by ethanol (Chapter 3). In contrast, expression of *Chrna5* and *Chrnb4* are similar between these two strains. Both the D2 and D2.B6 congenic mice are stimulated during the first five min after an acute inject of ethanol (Figure 13) and currently no other data exist regarding the sensitivity to the sedative effects of ethanol in these mice.

While we were able to detect *Chrna3* expression in the FAST, SLOW, D2, and D2.B6 congenic strains, it should be noted that the Allen Brain Atlas (http://www.brainatlas.org/aba/) indicates very low levels of *Chrna3* expression in the mouse. Furthermore, most of the original work localizing the expression of this gene was done in rats. Further work should be done to confirm the presences of this gene in the mouse brain and examine cellular localization in this species. Confirming the observed differences in *Chrna3* expression in the D2 and D2.B6 congenic strains with another method, such as in situ hybridization, may also strengthen these findings.

As discussed in the appendix of Chapter 3, the assays currently used to examine acetylcholine receptor protein levels, including those for the α 3 subunit, may not be adequate. Therefore, although it appears that the difference in *Chrna3* expression between the chromosome 9 D2.B6 congenic and D2 control mice did not correspond with an increase in α 3 protein in the D2.B6 congenic strain (Chapter 3 appendix) these results could be due to an inadequate assay. I may have been unable to detect differences in α 3 protein levels because the cytisine-resistant epibatidine binding assay used in the current

study is not solely measuring acetylcholine receptors with this subunit (see discussion of Chapter 3 appendix). Prior studies examining nicotinic acetylcholine receptor subunits have also reported a discordance between mRNA and protein levels (Huang and Winzer-Serhan, 2006).

However, it is possible that a difference in mRNA and protein expression may exist. There could be differences in mRNA, but not protein, levels of this gene. This disparity could arise for at least two reasons. There could be differential mRNA degradation between the two strains of mice or there could be translational regulation such that the same number of receptors is produced in both strains.

Stimulation as an Endophenotype

In this dissertation the acute locomotor response to ethanol, cocaine, and methamphetamine was used as an endophenotype for ethanol and drug abuse. As discussed in the general introduction there is considerable human literature to suggest that there is a positive relationship between the acute stimulant response to these drugs and the likelihood of further abuse of these substances. The data regarding this relationship in rodents is less clear.

There is a considerable amount of evidence in the animal literature to suggest that there is a positive relationship between drug stimulation and intake. For example, the FAST and SLOW mice selectively bred for their initial sensitivity to the locomotor stimulant effects of ethanol differ in ethanol intake, such that the FAST mice consumed more ethanol than SLOW mice (Risinger et al., 1994). Additional evidence of a positive relationship comes from lines of rats selectively bred for ethanol consumption or preference. The P, HAD, sP, and UChB selected lines of rats (all selected for high

ethanol consumption or preference) were more stimulated by an acute injection of ethanol than the corresponding line selected for low ethanol intake (NP, LAD, sNP, and UChA, respectively; Waller et al., 1986; Krimmer and Schechter, 1992; Quintanilla, 1999; Agabio et al., 2001; Rodd et al., 2004). These data provide evidence of a positive genetic correlation between ethanol stimulation and consumption.

Although there are a number of studies in rodents that show a positive relationship between the acute locomotor response to ethanol and ethanol consumption, other selected lines have not shown this relationship. For example, mice that were selectively bred for high (HAP) or low (LAP) ethanol consumption are equally sensitive to the stimulant effects of ethanol (Grahame et al., 2000). Furthermore, a negative genetic correlation (r = -0.48 to r = -0.68) between ethanol stimulation and consumption was reported when the BXD RI strain means for both of these traits were examined (Phillips et al., 1995). To my knowledge only one study has examined the correlation between psychostimulant activation and consumption. The HMACT and LMACT lines selectively bred for their initial response to methamphetamine stimulation showed a negative genetic correlation with methamphetamine drinking (Kamens et al., 2005), such that the line that was more stimulated by methamphetamine consumed less drug. It was speculated in this paper that extreme locomotor stimulation may be aversive. It is possible that another example of this may be the D2 inbred strain. These mice are extremely stimulated by ethanol (Dudek et al., 1991; Crabbe et al., 1994), but consume little ethanol in a 2-bottle choice paradigm (Wahlsten et al., 2006). Together these data suggest that the acute locomotor response to ethanol and psychostimulants may predict further drug intake, but that this relationship is likely complicated by multiple factors.

Furthermore, it does appear that understanding the biological basis of this response may lead to a great understanding of drug abuse.

Genetic Correlations and Pleiotropy

Genetic correlations have been observed between the acute locomotor responses to amphetamines, cocaine, and ethanol (Marley et al., 1998; Bergstrom et al., 2003; Kamens et al., 2005, 2006). These data provide evidence that a common gene(s), and thus neural mechanism, may influence the response to these drugs. The data presented in this dissertation do not support the hypothesis that neuronal nicotinic acetylcholine receptors (and the genes that encode these receptors) have a common role in ethanol-, cocaine-, and methamphetamine-induced locomotor stimulation, because nicotinic drugs did not effect psychostimulant-induced activation.

Although the genes encoding the nicotinic acetylcholine receptors on chromosome 9 do not appear to pleiotropically influence the acute response to ethanol, cocaine, and methamphetamine, it is possible that a different gene on mouse chromosome 9 could influence the response to all of these drugs. Alternatively, it is possible that a gene on another chromosome pleiotropically influences these behaviors. At least two genes have been shown to influence the acute locomotor response to ethanol and psychostimulants. The gene encoding the dopamine D4 receptor maps to chromosome 7 and influences the locomotor response to these drugs. Mice lacking this receptor were supersensitive to the locomotor stimulant effects of cocaine, ethanol, and methamphetamine (Rubinstein et al., 1997). A QTL for the acute locomotor response to all of these drugs has also been mapped on this chromosome (Cunningham, 1995; Miner and Marley, 1995; Phillips et al., 1996; Grisel et al., 1997; Phillips et al., 1998; Downing

et al., 2006; Palmer et al., 2006). The vesicular monoamine transporter 2 that maps on chromosome 19 has also been implicated in the behavioral response to ethanol, cocaine and amphetamine, although a QTL has been mapped in this region for only cocaine and ethanol sensitivity (Phillips et al., 1998; Gill et al., 2000). Mice having only one functional copy of the vesicular monoamine transporter 2 gene were more sensitive than wildtype mice to the locomotor stimulant properties of amphetamine, cocaine, and ethanol (Wang et al., 1997). These genes, or other yet to be identified, may pleiotropically influence the locomotor response to ethanol and psychostimulants and thus account for the observed genetic correlations among these traits.

Progressing from Candidate Gene to Quantitative Trait Gene (QTG)

The evidence that *Chrna3* is a candidate gene for ethanol-induced locomotor activation comes mostly from the gene expression differences observed between the chromosome 9 D2.B6 congenic and D2 strains. Additionally, behavioral pharmacology studies have implicated the involvement of neuronal nicotinic acetylcholine receptors in this behavior, although there is no direct pharmacologic evidence that α 3-containing receptors are involved. Variants in the sequence of a gene can have two different effects. Polymorphisms in the non-coding region of the gene can influence gene expression, while variants in the coding region can have functional consequences. Both of these types of polymorphisms may affect complex traits (Flint et al., 2005), but it has been suggested that genes underlying complex traits are more likely due to polymorphisms that result in gene expression differences (Glazier et al., 2002; Korstanje and Paigen, 2002).

In this dissertation, data is presented that *Chrna3*, but not *Chrna5* or *Chrnb4*, is differentially expressed between the chromosome 9 D2.B6 congenic and D2 control

strains (Chapter 3). Given the idea that genes influencing quantitative traits are likely due to differences in gene expression (Korstanje and Paigen, 2002), from these data *Chrna3* would be the most promising candidate gene of those in the acetylcholine receptor cluster on chromosome 9. In contrast, if the QTL arises because of a polymorphism in the coding sequence of the gene, *Chrnb4* appears to be a more promising candidate. There are no coding single nucleotide polymorphisms (SNP) in the *Chrna3* coding sequence between the B6 and D2 inbred strains. Interestingly, there are coding sequence SNP in the other two genes in the chromosome 9 cluster. There is a silent SNP in exon 5 of *Chrna5*. In contrast, there are 4 SNP in the coding region of *Chrnb4*. One SNP in exon 2 is silent, but there are other SNP in exons 3, 4, and 6, of which the one in exon 6 is known to be a missense SNP (www.genenetwork.org). It is possible that these SNP have functional effects that influence locomotor stimulation. I know of no data regarding if these SNP cause functional changes on the subunit. Furthermore, there are many other genes in the QTL region that could also have SNP that influence gene expression or protein function.

Drd2 should also be regarded as candidate, because it maps in the region captured by the ethanol stimulation QTL. Mice lacking one or two functional copies of the *Drd2* gene were more stimulated than wildtype mice by 2 g/kg ethanol when baseline locomotor differences were taken into account (Cunningham et al., 2000; Palmer et al., 2003), but this effect is dependent on the genetic background of the mouse (see Palmer et al., 2003).

Chrna3 and *Drd2* are both candidate genes for ethanol-induced stimulation, but a body of convergent evidence is needed to determine if one of these genes (or another yet

to be identified) is the quantitative trait gene (QTG). As discussed in the literature recently, there is no exact formula for proclaiming that the QTG has been identified (Belknap et al., 2001; Glazier et al., 2002; Phillips et al., 2002a; Abiola et al., 2003), rather evidence from multiple methods provides this proof. These methods can include genetically engineered mice, gene expression, protein expression, and functional studies. Additional work will be needed to determine the QTG that underlies the acute locomotor response to ethanol on mouse chromosome 9.

Conclusions and Future Directions

In this dissertation I provided evidence of a QTL for the acute locomotor responses to the psychostimulants cocaine and methamphetamine on mouse chromosome 9. The QTL for methamphetamine stimulation was more finely mapped using ISCS to a 24 Mb region on the distal portion of this chromosome. Examination of gene expression differences in genotypes relevant to this phenotype identified four genes in the QTL region that should be regarded as candidate genes, although others could exist.

New ISCS are currently being created to more finely map the QTL for methamphetamine stimulation. Once the location of the QTL is narrowed multiple approaches will be taken to identify the QTG. To determine which genes are the most promising candidates, genes will be identified that are expressed in the brain, have functional SNP, and/or are differentially expressed. With a combination of these approaches one or more candidate genes should be identified that can be further examined using other approaches, such as pharmacology or genetically engineered mice.

Although there was some evidence of a QTL for cocaine stimulation on mouse chromosome 9, this evidence was weaker than that for methamphetamine stimulation. To

follow up on these data female mice of the chromosome 9 ISCS panel could be tested to finely map this QTL with the goal of identifying candidate genes.

In this dissertation the presence of a QTL on mouse chromosome 9 for ethanolinduced locomotor activation was confirmed. Through pharmacological studies and gene expression assays I determined that nicotinic acetylcholine receptors are involved in this response. Furthermore, some data is provided that suggests that *Chrna3* is a candidate gene for this QTL, at least in D2 mice.

While the nicotinic acetylcholine receptor appears to be involved in the acute locomotor response to ethanol, further work is needed to determine which type of acetylcholine receptors are involved in this response. To determine if α 3-containing nicotinic acetylcholine receptors are involved in this response it would be ideal to test if 18-methoxycoronaridine, or another α 3 specific antagonist, blocks ethanol-induced locomotor stimulation. Unfortunately, this drug is not commercially available. Moreover, when the investigator who uses 18-methoxycoronaridine was asked for some of the drug, he said that an insufficient quantity exists to share. No other antagonists specific for α 3-containing acetylcholine receptors that can cross the blood brain barrier exist.

Conotoxins are peptides that derived from the cone snail's venom. These are useful for studying the role of nicotinic acetylcholine receptors, because there are many varieties that specifically block different acetylcholine receptor subtypes (Nicke et al., 2004). Unfortunately, conotoxins do not cross the blood brain barrier and thus have to be administered intra-cerebrally. A number of conotoxins that block α 3-containing acetylcholine receptors currently exist including: α -conotoxin Vc1.1, α -conotoxin OmIA,

and α -conotoxin AuIB (specific for both types of α 3-containing receptor, α 3 β 2, or α 3 β 4 receptors, respectively; Clark et al., 2006; Talley et al., 2006). Administration of these conotoxins can be used to more specifically address the involvement of α 3-containing nicotinic acetylcholine receptors in ethanol stimulation. Prior studies have shown that acetylcholine receptor blockers administered directly into the ventral tegmental area decreased ethanol-induced stimulation in NMRI mice (Larsson et al., 2004). If α 3 acetylcholine receptors are involved in this behavioral response to ethanol, administration of these conotoxins into this region in D2 mice may decrease locomotor stimulation.

A number of other techniques could be used to examine the involvement of α 3containing nicotinic receptors. α 3 homozygous knockout mice do not survive past 8 weeks of age (Xu et al., 1999), therefore these animals are not useful for testing the acute response to ethanol. However, heterozygous mice lacking one of the two copies of this gene are viable and could be tested. In fact, these mice have been useful for testing the involvement of α 3-containing acetylcholine receptors in nicotine behaviors (Salas et al., 2004). There are at least two ways gene expression can be decreased *in vivo*. Antisense oligonucleotides and small interfering RNA (siRNA) decrease mRNA, and thus protein levels, of a specific gene of interest (Cejka et al., 2006; Corey, 2007). To date no studies have used siRNA to decrease expression of the α 3 subunit of the nicotinic acetylcholine receptor, but antisense oligonucleotides have been used to examine the function of this receptor (Adams et al., 2004). Since the chromosome 9 D2.B6 congenic mouse had more *Chrna3* expression, but was less stimulated by ethanol than the D2 strain, α 3 antisense oligonucleotides (or siRNA) may increase the acute locomotor response to ethanol in this congenic strain.

Finally, further work could be done to more finely map the QTL for ethanolinduced locomotor stimulation by creating ISCS from the chromosome 9 D2.B6 congenic strain. Alternatively, advanced intercross lines may also provide greater map resolution of this QTL (Palmer and Phillips, 2002). Either of these approaches could narrow the QTL region, thus narrowing the number of potential candidate genes for this response.

In general, significant progress has been made in reducing the chromosome 9 ethanol and methamphetamine stimulation QTL regions. Some of the data presented in this dissertation suggest that the QTG for these two drugs on chromosome 9 may be different. However, much work is yet to be done to definitively identify the QTGs underlying these drug sensitivity traits.

References

- Abiola O, Angel JM, Avner P, Bachmanov AA, Belknap JK, Bennett B, Blankenhorn EP, Blizard DA, Bolivar V, Brockmann GA, Buck KJ, Bureau JF, Casley WL, Chesler EJ, Cheverud JM, Churchill GA, Cook M, Crabbe JC, Crusio WE, Darvasi A, de Haan G, Dermant P, Doerge RW, Elliot RW, Farber CR, Flaherty L, Flint J, Gershenfeld H, Gibson JP, Gu J, Gu W, Himmelbauer H, Hitzemann R, Hsu HC, Hunter K, Iraqi FF, Jansen RC, Johnson TE, Jones BC, Kempermann G, Lammert F, Lu L, Manly KF, Matthews DB, Medrano JF, Mehrabian M, Mittlemann G, Mock BA, Mogil JS, Montagutelli X, Morahan G, Mountz JD, Nagase H, Nowakowski RS, O'Hara BF, Osadchuk AV, Paigen B, Palmer AA, Peirce JL, Pomp D, Rosemann M, Rosen GD, Schalkwyk LC, Seltzer Z, Settle S, Shimomura K, Shou S, Sikela JM, Siracusa LD, Spearow JL, Teuscher C, Threadgill DW, Toth LA, Toye AA, Vadasz C, Van Zant G, Wakeland E, Williams RW, Zhang HG, Zou F (2003) The nature and identification of quantitative trait loci: a community's view. Nat Rev Genet 4:911-916.
- Adams MR, Nikkel AL, Donnelly-Roberts DL, Watt AT, Johnston JF, Cowsert LM, Butler M, Kroeger PE, Frost L, Curzon P, Decker MW, Bitner RS (2004) In vitro and in vivo effects of an alpha3 neuronal nicotinic acetylcholine receptor antisense oligonucleotide. Brain Res Mol Brain Res 129:67-79.
- Agabio R, Carai MA, Lobina C, Pani M, Reali R, Vacca G, Gessa GL, Colombo G (2001) Alcohol stimulates motor activity in selectively bred Sardinian alcoholpreferring (sP), but not in Sardinian alcohol-nonpreferring (sNP), rats. Alcohol 23:123-126.

- Ahlenius S, Carlsson A, Engel J, Svensson T, Sodersten P (1973) Antagonism by alpha methyltyrosine of the ethanol-induced stimulation and euphoria in man. Clin Pharmacol Ther 14:586-591.
- Ahlenius S, Brown R, Engel J, Svensson TH, Waldeck B (1974) Short communication. Antagonism by nialamide of the ethanol-induced locomotor stimulation in mice. J Neural Transm 35:175-178.
- Albin RL, Young AB, Penney JB (1989) The functional anatomy of basal ganglia disorders. Trends Neurosci 12:366-375.
- Alexander RC, Wright R, Freed W (1996) Quantitative trait loci contributing to phencyclidine-induced and amphetamine-induced locomotor behavior in inbred mice. Neuropsychopharmacology 15:484-490.
- Amalric M, Koob GF (1993) Functionally selective neurochemical afferents and efferents of the mesocorticolimbic and nigrostriatal dopamine system. Prog Brain Res 99:209-226.
- Anisman H (1976) Effects of scopolamine and d-amphetamine on locomotor activity before and after shock: a diallel analysis in mice. Psychopharmacology (Berl) 48:165-173.
- Anisman H, Wahlsten D, Kokkinidis L (1975) Effects of d-amphetamine and scopolamine on activity before and after shock in three mouse strains. Pharmacol Biochem Behav 3:819-824.
- Arias HR, Bhumireddy P, Bouzat C (2006) Molecular mechanisms and binding site locations for noncompetitive antagonists of nicotinic acetylcholine receptors. Int J Biochem Cell Biol 38:1254-1276.

- Atkins AL, Helms ML, O'Toole LA, Belknap JK (2001) Stereotypic behaviors in mice selectively bred for high and low methamphetamine-induced stereotypic chewing. Psychopharmacology (Berl) 157:96-104.
- Azam L, Winzer-Serhan UH, Chen Y, Leslie FM (2002) Expression of neuronal nicotinic acetylcholine receptor subunit mRNAs within midbrain dopamine neurons. J Comp Neurol 444:260-274.
- Babor TF, Berglas S, Mendelson JH, Ellingboe J, Miller K (1983) Alcohol, affect, and the disinhibition of verbal behavior. Psychopharmacology (Berl) 80:53-60.
- Bailey DW (1981) Strategic uses of recombinant inbred and congenic strains in behavior genetics research. In: Genetic Research Strategies for Psychobiology and Psychiatry (Gershon ES, Matthysse S, Breakefield XO, Ciaranello RD, eds), pp 189-198. Pacific Grove, CA: The Boxwood Press.
- Belknap JK, Atkins AL (2001) The replicability of QTLs for murine alcohol preference drinking behavior across eight independent studies. Mamm Genome 12:893-899.
- Belknap JK, Hitzemann R, Crabbe JC, Phillips TJ, Buck KJ, Williams RW (2001) QTL analysis and genomewide mutagenesis in mice: complementary genetic approaches to the dissection of complex traits. Behav Genet 31:5-15.
- Bennett B (2000) Congenic strains developed for alcohol- and drug-related phenotypes. Pharmacol Biochem Behav 67:671-681.

Benuck M, Lajtha A, Reith ME (1987) Pharmacokinetics of systemically administered cocaine and locomotor stimulation in mice. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 243:144-149.

Bergstrom HC, Palmer AA, Wood RD, Burkhart-Kasch S, McKinnon CS, Phillips TJ (2003) Reverse selection for differential response to the locomotor stimulant effects of ethanol provides evidence for pleiotropic genetic influence on locomotor response to other drugs of abuse. Alcohol Clin Exp Res 27:1535-1547.

- Blaha CD, Winn P (1993) Modulation of dopamine efflux in the striatum following cholinergic stimulation of the substantia nigra in intact and pedunculopontine tegmental nucleus-lesioned rats. J Neurosci 13:1035-1044.
- Blaha CD, Allen LF, Das S, Inglis WL, Latimer MP, Vincent SR, Winn P (1996)
 Modulation of dopamine efflux in the nucleus accumbens after cholinergic stimulation of the ventral tegmental area in intact, pedunculopontine tegmental nucleus-lesioned, and laterodorsal tegmental nucleus-lesioned rats. J Neurosci 16:714-722.
- Blokhina EA, Kashkin VA, Zvartau EE, Danysz W, Bespalov AY (2005) Effects of nicotinic and NMDA receptor channel blockers on intravenous cocaine and nicotine self-administration in mice. Eur Neuropsychopharmacol 15:219-225.
- Blomqvist O, Soderpalm B, Engel JA (1992) Ethanol-induced locomotor activity: involvement of central nicotinic acetylcholine receptors? Brain Res Bull 29:173-178.
- Blomqvist O, Ericson M, Engel JA, Soderpalm B (1997) Accumbal dopamine overflow after ethanol: localization of the antagonizing effect of mecamylamine. Eur J Pharmacol 334:149-156.
- Blomqvist O, Ericson M, Johnson DH, Engel JA, Soderpalm B (1996) Voluntary ethanol intake in the rat: effects of nicotinic acetylcholine receptor blockade or subchronic nicotine treatment. Eur J Pharmacol 314:257-267.

- Blomqvist O, Hernandez-Avila CA, Van Kirk J, Rose JE, Kranzler HR (2002) Mecamylamine modifies the pharmacokinetics and reinforcing effects of alcohol. Alcohol Clin Exp Res 26:326-331.
- Boehm SL, 2nd, Schafer GL, Phillips TJ, Browman KE, Crabbe JC (2000) Sensitivity to ethanol-induced motor incoordination in 5-HT(1B) receptor null mutant mice is task-dependent: implications for behavioral assessment of genetically altered mice. Behav Neurosci 114:401-409.
- Bohler S, Gay S, Bertrand S, Corringer PJ, Edelstein SJ, Changeux JP, Bertrand D (2001) Desensitization of neuronal nicotinic acetylcholine receptors conferred by Nterminal segments of the beta 2 subunit. Biochemistry 40:2066-2074.
- Boorman JP, Beato M, Groot-Kormelink PJ, Broadbent SD, Sivilotti LG (2003) The effects of beta3 subunit incorporation on the pharmacology and single channel properties of oocyte-expressed human alpha3beta4 neuronal nicotinic receptors. J Biol Chem 278:44033-44040.
- Boyle AE, Gill K (2001) Sensitivity of AXB/BXA recombinant inbred lines of mice to the locomotor activating effects of cocaine: a quantitative trait loci analysis.
 Pharmacogenetics 11:255-264.
- Boyle AE, Gill K, Smith BR, Amit Z (1991) Differential effects of an early housing manipulation on cocaine-induced activity and self-administration in laboratory rats. Pharmacol Biochem Behav 39:269-274.
- Brien JF, Kitney JC, Peachey JE, Rogers BJ (1978) Methamphetamine-induced behavioural effects and brain concentrations of methamphetamine and its

metabolite amphetamine in mice. Res Commun Chem Pathol Pharmacol 22:313-328.

- Broadbent S, Groot-Kormelink PJ, Krashia PA, Harkness PC, Millar NS, Beato M, Sivilotti LG (2006) Incorporation of the beta3 subunit has a dominant-negative effect on the function of recombinant central-type neuronal nicotinic receptors. Mol Pharmacol 70:1350-1357.
- Broderick PA (1991) Cocaine: on-line analysis of an accumbens amine neural basis for psychomotor behavior. Pharmacol Biochem Behav 40:959-968.
- Broman KW, Wu H, Sen S, Churchill GA (2003) R/qtl: QTL mapping in experimental crosses. Bioinformatics 19:889-890.
- Butt CM, King NM, Stitzel JA, Collins AC (2004) Interaction of the nicotinic cholinergic system with ethanol withdrawal. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 308:591-599.
- Cachelin AB, Rust G (1994) Unusual pharmacology of (+)-tubocurarine with rat neuronal nicotinic acetylcholine receptors containing beta 4 subunits. Mol Pharmacol 46:1168-1174.
- Camp DM, Browman KE, Robinson TE (1994) The effects of methamphetamine and cocaine on motor behavior and extracellular dopamine in the ventral striatum of Lewis versus Fischer 344 rats. Brain Res 668:180-193.
- Carboni E, Imperato A, Perezzani L, Di Chiara G (1989) Amphetamine, cocaine, phencyclidine and nomifensine increase extracellular dopamine concentrations preferentially in the nucleus accumbens of freely moving rats. Neuroscience 28:653-661.
- Cardoso RA, Brozowski SJ, Chavez-Noriega LE, Harpold M, Valenzuela CF, Harris RA (1999) Effects of ethanol on recombinant human neuronal nicotinic acetylcholine receptors expressed in Xenopus oocytes. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 289:774-780.
- Cartier GE, Yoshikami D, Gray WR, Luo S, Olivera BM, McIntosh JM (1996) A new alpha-conotoxin which targets alpha3beta2 nicotinic acetylcholine receptors. J Biol Chem 271:7522-7528.
- Cejka D, Losert D, Wacheck V (2006) Short interfering RNA (siRNA): tool or therapeutic? Clin Sci (Lond) 110:47-58.
- Celentano JJ, Gibbs TT, Farb DH (1988) Ethanol potentiates GABA- and glycineinduced chloride currents in chick spinal cord neurons. Brain Res 455:377-380.
- Champtiaux N, Han ZY, Bessis A, Rossi FM, Zoli M, Marubio L, McIntosh JM, Changeux JP (2002) Distribution and pharmacology of alpha 6-containing nicotinic acetylcholine receptors analyzed with mutant mice. J Neurosci 22:1208-1217.
- Cheng Y, Prusoff WH (1973) Relationship between the inhibition constant (K1) and the concentration of inhibitor which causes 50 per cent inhibition (I50) of an enzymatic reaction. Biochem Pharmacol 22:3099-3108.
- Chi H, de Wit H (2003) Mecamylamine attenuates the subjective stimulant-like effects of alcohol in social drinkers. Alcohol Clin Exp Res 27:780-786.
- Chomczynski P, Sacchi N (1987) Single-step method of RNA isolation by acid guanidinium thiocyanate-phenol-chloroform extraction. Anal Biochem 162:156-159.

- Chomczynski P, Sacchi N (2006) The single-step method of RNA isolation by acid guanidinium thiocyanate-phenol-cholorform extraction: twenty-something years on. Nature Protocols 1:581-585.
- Christoph GR, Leonzio RJ, Wilcox KS (1986) Stimulation of the lateral habenula inhibits dopamine-containing neurons in the substantia nigra and ventral tegmental area of the rat. J Neurosci 6:613-619.
- Clark RJ, Fischer H, Nevin ST, Adams DJ, Craik DJ (2006) The synthesis, structural characterization, and receptor specificity of the alpha-conotoxin Vc1.1. J Biol Chem 281:23254-23263.
- Collins AC, Romm E, Selvaag S, Turner S, Marks MJ (1993) A comparison of the effects of chronic nicotine infusion on tolerance to nicotine and cross-tolerance to ethanol in long- and short-sleep mice. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 266:1390-1397.
- Contestabile A, Fonnum F (1983) Cholinergic and GABAergic forebrain projections to the habenula and nucleus interpeduncularis: surgical and kainic acid lesions. Brain Res 275:287-297.

Corey DR (2007) RNA learns from antisense. Nat Chem Biol 3:8-11.

- Crabbe JC (1986) Genetic differences in locomotor activation in mice. Pharmacol Biochem Behav 25:289-292.
- Crabbe JC, Wahlsten D, Dudek BC (1999a) Genetics of mouse behavior: interactions with laboratory environment. Science 284:1670-1672.
- Crabbe JC, Kosobud A, Young ER, Janowsky JS (1983) Polygenic and single-gene determination of responses to ethanol in BXD/Ty recombinant inbred mouse strains. Neurobehav Toxicol Teratol 5:181-187.

- Crabbe JC, Deutsch CM, Tam BR, Young ER (1988) Environmental variables differentially affect ethanol-stimulated activity in selectively bred mouse lines. Psychopharmacology (Berl) 95:103-108.
- Crabbe JC, Phillips TJ, Kosobud A, Belknap JK (1990) Estimation of genetic correlation: interpretation of experiments using selectively bred and inbred animals. Alcohol Clin Exp Res 14:141-151.
- Crabbe JC, Gallaher ES, Phillips TJ, Belknap JK (1994) Genetic determinants of sensitivity to ethanol in inbred mice. Behav Neurosci 108:186-195.
- Crabbe JC, Young ER, Deutsch CM, Tam BR, Kosobud A (1987) Mice genetically selected for differences in open-field activity after ethanol. Pharmacol Biochem Behav 27:577-581.
- Crabbe JC, Phillips TJ, Buck KJ, Cunningham CL, Belknap JK (1999b) Identifying genes for alcohol and drug sensitivity: recent progress and future directions. Trends Neurosci 22:173-179.
- Crabbe JC, Jr., Johnson NA, Gray DK, Kosobud A, Young ER (1982) Biphasic effects of ethanol on open-field activity: sensitivity and tolerance in C57BL/6N and DBA/2N mice. J Comp Physiol Psychol 96:440-451.
- Cui C, Booker TK, Allen RS, Grady SR, Whiteaker P, Marks MJ, Salminen O, Tritto T, Butt CM, Allen WR, Stitzel JA, McIntosh JM, Boulter J, Collins AC, Heinemann SF (2003) The beta3 nicotinic receptor subunit: a component of alpha-conotoxin MII-binding nicotinic acetylcholine receptors that modulate dopamine release and related behaviors. J Neurosci 23:11045-11053.

- Cunningham CL (1995) Localization of genes influencing ethanol-induced conditioned place preference and locomotor activity in BXD recombinant inbred mice. Psychopharmacology (Berl) 120:28-41.
- Cunningham CL, Howard MA, Gill SJ, Rubinstein M, Low MJ, Grandy DK (2000) Ethanol-conditioned place preference is reduced in dopamine D2 receptordeficient mice. Pharmacol Biochem Behav 67:693-699.
- Dajas-Bailador F, Wonnacott S (2004) Nicotinic acetylcholine receptors and the regulation of neuronal signalling. Trends Pharmacol Sci 25:317-324.
- Damaj MI, Kao W, Martin BR (2003) Characterization of spontaneous and precipitated nicotine withdrawal in the mouse. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 307:526-534.
- Darvasi A (1997) Interval-specific congenic strains (ISCS): an experimental design for mapping a QTL into a 1-centimorgan interval. Mamm Genome 8:163-167.
- Darvasi A (1998) Experimental strategies for the genetic dissection of complex traits in animal models. Nat Genet 18:19-24.
- Darvasi A, Soller M (1992) Selective genotyping for determination of linkage between a marker locus and a quantitative trait locus. Theor Appl Genet 85:353-359.
- Davidson D, Hutchison K, Dagon C, Swift R (2002) Assessing the stimulant effects of alcohol in humans. Pharmacol Biochem Behav 72:151-156.
- Davidson ES, Finch JF, Schenk S (1993) Variability in subjective responses to cocaine: initial experiences of college students. Addict Behav 18:445-453.
- de Fiebre CM, Medhurst LJ, Collins AC (1987) Nicotine response and nicotinic receptors in long-sleep and short-sleep mice. Alcohol 4:493-501.

- de Fiebre CM, Marks MJ, Collins AC (1990) Ethanol-nicotine interactions in long-sleep and short-sleep mice. Alcohol 7:249-257.
- de Fiebre CM, Romm E, Collins JT, Draski LJ, Deitrich RA, Collins AC (1991) Responses to cholinergic agonists of rats selectively bred for differential sensitivity to ethanol. Alcohol Clin Exp Res 15:270-276.
- de Fiebre NC, Dawson R, Jr., de Fiebre CM (2002) The selectively bred high alcohol sensitivity (HAS) and low alcohol sensitivity (LAS) rats differ in sensitivity to nicotine. Alcohol Clin Exp Res 26:765-772.
- de Wit H, Uhlenhuth EH, Johanson CE (1986) Individual differences in the reinforcing and subjective effects of amphetamine and diazepam. Drug Alcohol Depend 16:341-360.
- de Wit H, Uhlenhuth EH, Pierri J, Johanson CE (1987) Individual differences in behavioral and subjective responses to alcohol. Alcohol Clin Exp Res 11:52-59.
- Demarest K, McCaughran J, Jr., Mahjubi E, Cipp L, Hitzemann R (1999) Identification of an acute ethanol response quantitative trait locus on mouse chromosome 2. J Neurosci 19:549-561.
- Demarest K, Koyner J, McCaughran J, Jr., Cipp L, Hitzemann R (2001) Further characterization and high-resolution mapping of quantitative trait loci for ethanolinduced locomotor activity. Behav Genet 31:79-91.
- Di Chiara G, Imperato A (1988) Drugs abused by humans preferentially increase synaptic dopamine concentrations in the mesolimbic system of freely moving rats. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 85:5274-5278.

- Di Chiara G, Morelli M, Consolo S (1994) Modulatory functions of neurotransmitters in the striatum: ACh/dopamine/NMDA interactions. Trends Neurosci 17:228-233.
- Dick DM, Jones K, Saccone N, Hinrichs A, Wang JC, Goate A, Bierut L, Almasy L,
 Schuckit M, Hesselbrock V, Tischfield J, Foroud T, Edenberg H, Porjesz B,
 Begleiter H (2006) Endophenotypes successfully lead to gene identification:
 results from the collaborative study on the genetics of alcoholism. Behav Genet 36:112-126.
- Dilger JP, Brett RS (1991) Actions of volatile anesthetics and alcohols on cholinergic receptor channels. Ann N Y Acad Sci 625:616-627.
- Downing C, Rodd-Henricks K, Marley RJ, Dudek BC (2003a) Genetic variation in the psychomotor stimulant properties of cocaine in Mus musculus. Psychopharmacology (Berl) 167:159-166.
- Downing C, Rodd-Henricks KK, Flaherty L, Dudek BC (2003b) Genetic analysis of the psychomotor stimulant effect of ethanol. Genes Brain Behav 2:140-151.
- Downing C, Carosone-Link P, Bennett B, Johnson T (2006) QTL mapping for low-dose ethanol activation in the LXS recombinant inbred strains. Alcohol Clin Exp Res 30:1111-1120.
- Dudek BC, Phillips TJ (1990) Distinctions among sedative, disinhibitory, and ataxic properties of ethanol in inbred and selectively bred mice. Psychopharmacology (Berl) 101:93-99.
- Dudek BC, Tritto T (1994) Biometrical genetic analysis of ethanol's psychomotor stimulant effect. Alcohol Clin Exp Res 18:956-963.

- Dudek BC, Phillips TJ, Hahn ME (1991) Genetic analyses of the biphasic nature of the alcohol dose-response curve. Alcohol Clin Exp Res 15:262-269.
- Dudek BC, Tritto T, Underwood KA (1994) Genetic influences on locomotor activating effects of ethanol and sodium pentobarbital. Pharmacol Biochem Behav 48:593-600.
- Dulubova I, Horiuchi A, Snyder GL, Girault JA, Czernik AJ, Shao L, Ramabhadran R, Greengard P, Nairn AC (2001) ARPP-16/ARPP-19: a highly conserved family of cAMP-regulated phosphoproteins. J Neurochem 77:229-238.
- Dyr W, Koros E, Bienkowski P, Kostowski W (1999) Involvement of nicotinic acetylcholine receptors in the regulation of alcohol drinking in Wistar rats. Alcohol Alcohol 34:43-47.
- Elliott JM, Beveridge TJ (2005) Psychostimulants and monoamine transporters: upsetting the balance. Curr Opin Pharmacol 5:94-100.
- Elliott PJ, Rosen GM, Nemeroff CB (1987) A comparison of cocaine and its metabolite norcocaine: effects on locomotor activity. Pharmacol Biochem Behav 26:573-575.
- Ellison G (1994) Stimulant-induced psychosis, the dopamine theory of schizophrenia, and the habenula. Brain Res Brain Res Rev 19:223-239.
- Erickson CK, Kochhar A (1985) An animal model for low dose ethanol-induced locomotor stimulation: behavioral characteristics. Alcohol Clin Exp Res 9:310-314.
- Ericson M, Engel JA, Soderpalm B (2000) Peripheral involvement in nicotine-induced enhancement of ethanol intake. Alcohol 21:37-47.

- Erwin VG, Radcliffe RA, Gehle VM, Jones BC (1997) Common quantitative trait loci for alcohol-related behaviors and central nervous system neurotensin measures: locomotor activation. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 280:919-926.
- Escubedo E, Chipana C, Perez-Sanchez M, Camarasa J, Pubill D (2005) Methyllycaconitine prevents methamphetamine-induced effects in mouse striatum: involvement of alpha7 nicotinic receptors. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 315:658-667.
- Eshleman AJ, Carmolli M, Cumbay M, Martens CR, Neve KA, Janowsky A (1999) Characteristics of drug interactions with recombinant biogenic amine transporters expressed in the same cell type. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 289:877-885.
- Fehr C, Shirley RL, Belknap JK, Crabbe JC, Buck KJ (2002) Congenic mapping of alcohol and pentobarbital withdrawal liability loci to a <1 centimorgan interval of murine chromosome 4: identification of Mpdz as a candidate gene. J Neurosci 22:3730-3738.
- Ferraro TN, Golden GT, Smith GG, Martin JF, Lohoff FW, Gieringer TA, Zamboni D,
 Schwebel CL, Press DM, Kratzer SO, Zhao H, Berrettini WH, Buono RJ (2004)
 Fine mapping of a seizure susceptibility locus on mouse Chromosome 1:
 nomination of Kcnj10 as a causative gene. Mamm Genome 15:239-251.
- Fibiger HC (1982) The organization and some projections of cholinergic neurons of the mammalian forebrain. Brain Res Rev 4:327-388.
- Flint J (2003) Analysis of quantitative trait loci that influence animal behavior. J Neurobiol 54:46-77.

- Flint J, Valdar W, Shifman S, Mott R (2005) Strategies for mapping and cloning quantitative trait genes in rodents. Nat Rev Genet 6:271-286.
- Foltin RW, Fischman MW (1991) Smoked and intravenous cocaine in humans: acute tolerance, cardiovascular and subjective effects. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 257:247-261.

Foltin RW, Haney M (2004) Intranasal cocaine in humans: acute tolerance, cardiovascular and subjective effects. Pharmacol Biochem Behav 78:93-101.

- Forman SA, Miller KW, Yellen G (1995) A discrete site for general anesthetics on a postsynaptic receptor. Mol Pharmacol 48:574-581.
- Forster GL, Blaha CD (2000) Laterodorsal tegmental stimulation elicits dopamine efflux in the rat nucleus accumbens by activation of acetylcholine and glutamate receptors in the ventral tegmental area. Eur J Neurosci 12:3596-3604.
- Frye GD, Breese GR (1981) An evaluation of the locomotor stimulating action of ethanol in rats and mice. Psychopharmacology (Berl) 75:372-379.
- Gabbay FH (2003) Variations in affect following amphetamine and placebo: markers of stimulant drug preference. Exp Clin Psychopharmacol 11:91-101.
- Gabbay FH (2005) Family history of alcoholism and response to amphetamine: sex differences in the effect of risk. Alcohol Clin Exp Res 29:773-780.
- George FR, Porrino LJ, Ritz MC, Goldberg SR (1991) Inbred rat strain comparisons indicate different sites of action for cocaine and amphetamine locomotor stimulant effects. Psychopharmacology (Berl) 104:457-462.
- Gianutsos G, Carlson GM, Godfrey JG (1983) Drug-induced changes in motor activity after selective MAO inhibition. Pharmacol Biochem Behav 19:263-268.

- Gill K, Boyle A, Lake K, Desaulniers N (2000) Alcohol-induced locomotor activation in C57BL/6J, A/J, and AXB/BXA recombinant inbred mice: strain distribution patterns and quantitative trait loci analysis. Psychopharmacology (Berl) 150:412-421.
- Gill KJ, Boyle AE (2003) Confirmation of quantitative trait loci for cocaine-induced activation in the AcB/BcA series of recombinant congenic strains. Pharmacogenetics 13:329-338.
- Girault JA, Horiuchi A, Gustafson EL, Rosen NL, Greengard P (1990) Differential expression of ARPP-16 and ARPP-19, two highly related cAMP-regulated phosphoproteins, one of which is specifically associated with dopamineinnervated brain regions. J Neurosci 10:1124-1133.
- Glazier AM, Nadeau JH, Aitman TJ (2002) Finding genes that underlie complex traits. Science 298:2345-2349.
- Glick SD, Maisonneuve IM, Dickinson HA (2000) 18-MC reduces methamphetamine and nicotine self-administration in rats. Neuroreport 11:2013-2015.
- Glick SD, Maisonneuve IM, Kitchen BA, Fleck MW (2002) Antagonism of alpha 3 beta 4 nicotinic receptors as a strategy to reduce opioid and stimulant selfadministration. Eur J Pharmacol 438:99-105.
- Glick SD, Kuehne ME, Maisonneuve IM, Bandarage UK, Molinari HH (1996) 18Methoxycoronaridine, a non-toxic iboga alkaloid congener: effects on morphine and cocaine self-administration and on mesolimbic dopamine release in rats.
 Brain Res 719:29-35.

- Gommans J, Stolerman IP, Shoaib M (2000) Antagonism of the discriminative and aversive stimulus properties of nicotine in C57BL/6J mice. Neuropharmacology 39:2840-2847.
- Gora-Maslak G, McClearn GE, Crabbe JC, Phillips TJ, Belknap JK, Plomin R (1991) Use of recombinant inbred strains to identify quantitative trait loci in psychopharmacology. Psychopharmacology (Berl) 104:413-424.
- Gottesman, II, Shields J (1973) Genetic theorizing and schizophrenia. Br J Psychiatry 122:15-30.
- Gottesman, II, Gould TD (2003) The endophenotype concept in psychiatry: etymology and strategic intentions. Am J Psychiatry 160:636-645.
- Grahame NJ, Rodd-Henricks K, Li TK, Lumeng L (2000) Ethanol locomotor sensitization, but not tolerance correlates with selection for alcohol preference in high- and low-alcohol preferring mice. Psychopharmacology (Berl) 151:252-260.
- Grant BF, Hasin DS, Chou SP, Stinson FS, Dawson DA (2004) Nicotine dependence and psychiatric disorders in the United States: results from the national epidemiologic survey on alcohol and related conditions. Arch Gen Psychiatry 61:1107-1115.
- Grisel JE, Belknap JK, O'Toole LA, Helms ML, Wenger CD, Crabbe JC (1997)Quantitative trait loci affecting methamphetamine responses in BXD recombinant inbred mouse strains. J Neurosci 17:745-754.
- Groot-Kormelink PJ, Luyten WH, Colquhoun D, Sivilotti LG (1998) A reporter mutation approach shows incorporation of the "orphan" subunit beta3 into a functional nicotinic receptor. J Biol Chem 273:15317-15320.

- Guo JZ, Tredway TL, Chiappinelli VA (1998) Glutamate and GABA release are enhanced by different subtypes of presynaptic nicotinic receptors in the lateral geniculate nucleus. J Neurosci 18:1963-1969.
- Hamburger-Bar R, Robert M, Newman M, Belmaker RH (1986) Interstrain correlation between behavioural effects of lithium and effects on cortical cyclic AMP.Pharmacol Biochem Behav 24:9-13.
- Hansen ST, Mark GP (2007) The nicotinic acetylcholine receptor antagonist mecamylmaine prevents escalation of cocaine self-administration in rats with extended daily access. Psychopharmacology (Berl) 194:53-61.
- Harwood H (2000) Updating estimates of the economic costs of alcohol abuse in the United States: estimates, updated methods, and data. Rockville, MD: National Institutes of Health (NIH Publication No. 98-4327).
- Hauber W (1998) Involvement of basal ganglia transmitter systems in movement initiation. Prog Neurobiol 56:507-540.
- Henricks KK, Miner LL, Marley RJ (1997) Differential cocaine sensitivity between two closely related substrains of C57BL mice. Psychopharmacology (Berl) 132:161-168.
- Herber DL, Severance EG, Cuevas J, Morgan D, Gordon MN (2004) Biochemical and histochemical evidence of nonspecific binding of alpha7nAChR antibodies to mouse brain tissue. J Histochem Cytochem 52:1367-1376.
- Hitzemann R, Cipp L, Demarest K, Mahjubi E, McCaughran J, Jr. (1998) Genetics of ethanol-induced locomotor activation: detection of QTLs in a C57BL/6J x DBA/2J F2 intercross. Mamm Genome 9:956-962.

- Hitzemann R, Demarest K, Koyner J, Cipp L, Patel N, Rasmussen E, McCaughran J, Jr.(2000) Effect of genetic cross on the detection of quantitative trait loci and a novel approach to mapping QTLs. Pharmacol Biochem Behav 67:767-772.
- Hitzemann R, Reed C, Malmanger B, Lawler M, Hitzemann B, Cunningham B,
 McWeeney S, Belknap J, Harrington C, Buck K, Phillips T, Crabbe J (2004) On
 the integration of alcohol-related quantitative trait loci and gene expression
 analyses. Alcohol Clin Exp Res 28:1437-1448.
- Hitzemann R, Malmanger B, Cooper S, Coulombe S, Reed C, Demarest K, Koyner J,
 Cipp L, Flint J, Talbot C, Rademacher B, Buck K, McCaughran J, Jr. (2002)
 Multiple cross mapping (MCM) markedly improves the localization of a QTL for ethanol-induced activation. Genes Brain Behav 1:214-222.
- Holdstock L, de Wit H (2001) Individual differences in responses to ethanol and damphetamine: a within-subject study. Alcohol Clin Exp Res 25:540-548.
- Holdstock L, King AC, de Wit H (2000) Subjective and objective responses to ethanol in moderate/heavy and light social drinkers. Alcohol Clin Exp Res 24:789-794.
- Huang LZ, Winzer-Serhan UH (2006) Chronic neonatal nicotine upregulates heteromeric nicotinic acetylcholine receptor binding without change in subunit mRNA expression. Brain Res 1113:94-109.
- Ikemoto S (In Press) Dopamine reward circuitry: two projection systems from the ventral midbrain to the nucleus accumbens-olfactory tubercle complex. Brain Res Rev doi:10.1016/j.brainresrev.2007.05.004

- Imperato A, Di Chiara G (1986) Preferential stimulation of dopamine release in the nucleus accumbens of freely moving rats by ethanol. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 239:219-228.
- Istvan J, Matarazzo JD (1984) Tobacco, alcohol, and caffeine use: a review of their interrelationships. Psychol Bull 95:301-326.
- Ivanov S, Liao SY, Ivanova A, Danilkovitch-Miagkova A, Tarasova N, Weirich G, Merrill MJ, Proescholdt MA, Oldfield EH, Lee J, Zavada J, Waheed A, Sly W, Lerman MI, Stanbridge EJ (2001) Expression of hypoxia-inducible cell-surface transmembrane carbonic anhydrases in human cancer. Am J Pathol 158:905-919.
- Izawa J, Yamanashi K, Asakura T, Misu Y, Goshima Y (2006) Differential effects of methamphetamine and cocaine on behavior and extracellular levels of dopamine and 3,4-dihydroxyphenylalanine in the nucleus accumbens of conscious rats. Eur J Pharmacol 549:84-90.
- Jasinski DR, Nutt JG, Griffith JD (1974) Effects of diethylpropion and d-amphetamine after subcutaneous and oral administration. Clin Pharmacol Ther 16:645-652.
- Javaid JI, Fischman MW, Schuster CR, Dekirmenjian H, Davis JM (1978) Cocaine plasma concentration: relation to physiological and subjective effects in humans. Science 202:227-228.
- Jensen AA, Frolund B, Liljefors T, Krogsgaard-Larsen P (2005) Neuronal nicotinic acetylcholine receptors: structural revelations, target identifications, and therapeutic inspirations. J Med Chem 48:4705-4745.

- Jerlhag E, Grotli M, Luthman K, Svensson L, Engel JA (2006) Role Of The Subunit Composition Of Central Nicotinic Acetylcholine Receptors For The Stimulatory And Dopamine-Enhancing Effects Of Ethanol. Alcohol Alcohol.
- Jones BC, Reed CL, Radcliffe RA, Erwin VG (1993) Pharmacogenetics of cocaine: I. Locomotor activity and self-selection. Pharmacogenetics 3:182-188.
- Jones BC, Tarantino LM, Rodriguez LA, Reed CL, McClearn GE, Plomin R, Erwin VG (1999) Quantitative-trait loci analysis of cocaine-related behaviours and neurochemistry. Pharmacogenetics 9:607-617.
- Jonsson LE, Anggard E, Gunne LM (1971) Blockade of intravenous amphetamine euphoria in man. Clin Pharmacol Ther 12:889-896.
- Kahlig KM, Binda F, Khoshbouei H, Blakely RD, McMahon DG, Javitch JA, Galli A (2005) Amphetamine induces dopamine efflux through a dopamine transporter channel. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 102:3495-3500.
- Kalivas PW, Nakamura M (1999) Neural systems for behavioral activation and reward. Curr Opin Neurobiol 9:223-227.
- Kalivas PW, Volkow ND (2005) The neural basis of addiction: a pathology of motivation and choice. Am J Psychiatry 162:1403-1413.
- Kalivas PW, Duffy P, DuMars LA, Skinner C (1988) Behavioral and neurochemical effects of acute and daily cocaine administration in rats. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 245:485-492.
- Kallio H, Pastorekova S, Pastorek J, Waheed A, Sly WS, Mannisto S, Heikinheimo M, Parkkila S (2006) Expression of carbonic anhydrases IX and XII during mouse embryonic development. BMC Dev Biol 6:22.

- Kamens HM, Burkhart-Kasch S, McKinnon CS, Li N, Reed C, Phillips TJ (2005) Sensitivity to psychostimulants in mice bred for high and low stimulation to methamphetamine. Genes Brain Behav 4:110-125.
- Kamens HM, Burkhart-Kasch S, McKinnon CS, Li N, Reed C, Phillips TJ (2006) Ethanol-related traits in mice selectively bred for differential sensitivity to methamphetamine-induced activation. Behav Neurosci 120:1356-1366.
- Karler R, Calder LD, Bedingfield JB (1996) A novel nicotinic-cholinergic role in behavioral sensitization to amphetamine-induced stereotypy in mice. Brain Res 725:192-198.
- Kendler KS, Karkowski LM, Neale MC, Prescott CA (2000) Illicit psychoactive substance use, heavy use, abuse, and dependence in a US population-based sample of male twins. Arch Gen Psychiatry 57:261-269.
- Kendler KS, Jacobson KC, Prescott CA, Neale MC (2003) Specificity of genetic and environmental risk factors for use and abuse/dependence of cannabis, cocaine, hallucinogens, sedatives, stimulants, and opiates in male twins. Am J Psychiatry 160:687-695.
- Kessler RC, Chiu WT, Demler O, Merikangas KR, Walters EE (2005a) Prevalence, severity, and comorbidity of 12-month DSM-IV disorders in the National Comorbidity Survey Replication. Arch Gen Psychiatry 62:617-627.
- Kessler RC, Berglund P, Demler O, Jin R, Merikangas KR, Walters EE (2005b) Lifetime prevalence and age-of-onset distributions of DSM-IV disorders in the National Comorbidity Survey Replication. Arch Gen Psychiatry 62:593-602.

- King AC, Houle T, de Wit H, Holdstock L, Schuster A (2002) Biphasic alcohol response differs in heavy versus light drinkers. Alcohol Clin Exp Res 26:827-835.
- Kitahama K, Valatx JL (1979) Strain differences in amphetamine sensitivity in mice. I. A diallel analysis of open field activity. Psychopharmacology (Berl) 66:189-194.
- Klemm WR (2004) Habenular and interpeduncularis nuclei: shared components in multiple-function networks. Med Sci Monit 10:RA261-273.
- Klink R, de Kerchove d'Exaerde A, Zoli M, Changeux JP (2001) Molecular and physiological diversity of nicotinic acetylcholine receptors in the midbrain dopaminergic nuclei. J Neurosci 21:1452-1463.
- Korstanje R, Paigen B (2002) From QTL to gene: the harvest begins. Nat Genet 31:235-236.
- Krimmer EC, Schechter MD (1992) HAD and LAD rats respond differently to stimulating effect but not discriminative effects of ethanol. Alcohol 9:71-74.
- Kuryatov A, Olale F, Cooper J, Choi C, Lindstrom J (2000) Human alpha6 AChR subtypes: subunit composition, assembly, and pharmacological responses. Neuropharmacology 39:2570-2590.
- Lanca AJ, Adamson KL, Coen KM, Chow BL, Corrigall WA (2000) The pedunculopontine tegmental nucleus and the role of cholinergic neurons in nicotine self-administration in the rat: a correlative neuroanatomical and behavioral study. Neuroscience 96:735-742.
- Lander E, Kruglyak L (1995) Genetic dissection of complex traits: guidelines for interpreting and reporting linkage results. Nat Genet 11:241-247.

- Lander ES, Botstein D (1989) Mapping mendelian factors underlying quantitative traits using RFLP linkage maps. Genetics 121:185-199.
- Larsson A, Svensson L, Soderpalm B, Engel JA (2002) Role of different nicotinic acetylcholine receptors in mediating behavioral and neurochemical effects of ethanol in mice. Alcohol 28:157-167.
- Larsson A, Jerlhag E, Svensson L, Soderpalm B, Engel JA (2004) Is an alpha-conotoxin MII-sensitive mechanism involved in the neurochemical, stimulatory, and rewarding effects of ethanol? Alcohol 34:239-250.
- Le AD, Corrigall WA, Harding JW, Juzytsch W, Li TK (2000) Involvement of nicotinic receptors in alcohol self-administration. Alcohol Clin Exp Res 24:155-163.
- Le Novere N, Changeux JP (1995) Molecular evolution of the nicotinic acetylcholine receptor: an example of multigene family in excitable cells. J Mol Evol 40:155-172.
- Le Novere N, Corringer PJ, Changeux JP (2002) The diversity of subunit composition in nAChRs: evolutionary origins, physiologic and pharmacologic consequences. J Neurobiol 53:447-456.
- Levin ED, Mead T, Rezvani AH, Rose JE, Gallivan C, Gross R (2000) The nicotinic antagonist mecamylamine preferentially inhibits cocaine vs. food selfadministration in rats. Physiol Behav 71:565-570.
- Lisoprawski A, Herve D, Blanc G, Glowinski J, Tassin JP (1980) Selective activation of the mesocortico-frontal dopaminergic neurons induced by lesion of the habenula in the rat. Brain Res 183:229-234.

- Lister RG (1987) The effects of ethanol on exploration in DBA/2 and C57Bl/6 mice. Alcohol 4:17-19.
- Liu Y, Dilger JP, Vidal AM (1994) Effects of alcohols and volatile anesthetics on the activation of nicotinic acetylcholine receptor channels. Mol Pharmacol 45:1235-1241.
- Lovinger DM (1991) Ethanol potentiation of 5-HT3 receptor-mediated ion current in NCB-20 neuroblastoma cells. Neurosci Lett 122:57-60.
- Lovinger DM (1993) High ethanol sensitivity of recombinant AMPA-type glutamate receptors expressed in mammalian cells. Neurosci Lett 159:83-87.
- Lovinger DM, Zhou Q (1994) Alcohols potentiate ion current mediated by recombinant 5-HT3RA receptors expressed in a mammalian cell line. Neuropharmacology 33:1567-1572.
- Lovinger DM, White G, Weight FF (1989) Ethanol inhibits NMDA-activated ion current in hippocampal neurons. Science 243:1721-1724.
- Lovinger DM, White G, Weight FF (1990) NMDA receptor-mediated synaptic excitation selectively inhibited by ethanol in hippocampal slice from adult rat. J Neurosci 10:1372-1379.
- Lukas SE, Mendelson JH (1988) Electroencephalographic activity and plasma ACTH during ethanol-induced euphoria. Biol Psychiatry 23:141-148.
- Lundahl LH, Henningfield JE, Lukas SE (2000) Mecamylamine blockade of both positive and negative effects of IV nicotine in human volunteers. Pharmacol Biochem Behav 66:637-643.

- Lynch WJ, Sughondhabirom A, Pittman B, Gueorguieva R, Kalayasiri R, Joshua D,
 Morgan P, Coric V, Malison RT (2006) A paradigm to investigate the regulation of cocaine self-administration in human cocaine users: a randomized trial.
 Psychopharmacology (Berl) 185:306-314.
- MacLaren EJ, Bennett B, Johnson TE, Sikela JM (2006) Expression profiling identifies novel candidate genes for ethanol sensitivity QTLs. Mamm Genome 17:147-156.
- Madden PA, Bucholz KK, Martin NG, Heath AC (2000) Smoking and the genetic contribution to alcohol-dependence risk. Alcohol Res Health 24:209-214.
- Maisonneuve IM, Glick SD (2003) Anti-addictive actions of an iboga alkaloid congener: a novel mechanism for a novel treatment. Pharmacol Biochem Behav 75:607-618.
- Maisonneuve IM, Visker KE, Mann GL, Bandarage UK, Kuehne ME, Glick SD (1997) Time-dependent interactions between iboga agents and cocaine. Eur J Pharmacol 336:123-126.
- Malmanger B, Lawler M, Coulombe S, Murray R, Cooper S, Polyakov Y, Belknap J, Hitzemann R (2006) Further studies on using multiple-cross mapping (MCM) to map quantitative trait loci. Mamm Genome 17:1193-1204.
- Marks MJ, Smith KW, Collins AC (1998) Differential agonist inhibition identifies multiple epibatidine binding sites in mouse brain. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 285:377-386.
- Marks MJ, Whiteaker P, Collins AC (2006) Deletion of the alpha7, beta2, or beta4 nicotinic receptor subunit genes identifies highly expressed subtypes with relatively low affinity for [3H]epibatidine. Mol Pharmacol 70:947-959.

- Marley RJ, Arros DM, Henricks KK, Marley ME, Miner LL (1998) Sensitivity to cocaine and amphetamine among mice selectively bred for differential cocaine sensitivity.
 Psychopharmacology (Berl) 140:42-51.
- Marubio LM, Gardier AM, Durier S, David D, Klink R, Arroyo-Jimenez MM, McIntosh JM, Rossi F, Champtiaux N, Zoli M, Changeux JP (2003) Effects of nicotine in the dopaminergic system of mice lacking the alpha4 subunit of neuronal nicotinic acetylcholine receptors. Eur J Neurosci 17:1329-1337.
- Mascia MP, Mihic SJ, Valenzuela CF, Schofield PR, Harris RA (1996) A single amino acid determines differences in ethanol actions on strychnine-sensitive glycine receptors. Mol Pharmacol 50:402-406.
- McClatchy DB, Fang G, Levey AI (2006) Elongation factor 1A family regulates the recycling of the M4 muscarinic acetylcholine receptor. Neurochem Res 31:975-988.
- McClearn GE, Wilson SG, Meredith W (1970) The use of isogenic and heterogenic mouse stocks in behavioral research. In: Contributions to behavior-genetic analysis: the mouse as a protoype (Thiessen DD, ed), pp 3-22. New York: Appleton-Century-Crofts.
- McDonough JH, Jr., Shih TM (1995) A study of the N-methyl-D-aspartate antagonistic properties of anticholinergic drugs. Pharmacol Biochem Behav 51:249-253.
- McGehee DS (1999) Molecular diversity of neuronal nicotinic acetylcholine receptors. Ann N Y Acad Sci 868:565-577.

- Meldgaard M, Fenger C, Lambertsen KL, Pedersen MD, Ladeby R, Finsen B (2006)Validation of two reference genes for mRNA level studies of murine diseasemodels in neurobiology. J Neurosci Methods 156:101-110.
- Melega WP, Williams AE, Schmitz DA, DiStefano EW, Cho AK (1995)
 Pharmacokinetic and pharmacodynamic analysis of the actions of D-amphetamine and D-methamphetamine on the dopamine terminal. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 274:90-96.
- Meng Y, Dukat M, Bridgen DT, Martin BR, Lichtman AH (1999) Pharmacological effects of methamphetamine and other stimulants via inhalation exposure. Drug Alcohol Depend 53:111-120.
- Miner LL (1997) Cocaine reward and locomotor activity in C57BL/6J and 129/SvJ inbred mice and their F1 cross. Pharmacol Biochem Behav 58:25-30.
- Miner LL, Marley RJ (1995) Chromosomal mapping of the psychomotor stimulant effects of cocaine in BXD recombinant inbred mice. Psychopharmacology (Berl) 122:209-214.
- Moisset B (1977) Genetic analysis of the behavioral response to d-amphetamine in mice. Psychopharmacology (Berl) 53:269-276.
- Moisset B, Welch BL (1973) Effects of d-amphetamine upon open field behaviour in two inbred strains of mice. Experientia 29:625-626.
- Morse AC, Erwin VG, Jones BC (1993) Strain and housing affect cocaine self-selection and open-field locomotor activity in mice. Pharmacol Biochem Behav 45:905-912.

- Mortensen OV, Amara SG (2003) Dynamic regulation of the dopamine transporter. Eur J Pharmacol 479:159-170.
- Moser N, Mechawar N, Jones I, Gochberg-Sarver A, Orr-Urtreger A, Plomann M, Salas R, Molles B, Marubio L, Roth U, Maskos U, Winzer-Serhan U, Bourgeois JP, Le Sourd AM, De Biasi M, Schroder H, Lindstrom J, Maelicke A, Changeux JP, Wevers A (2007) Evaluating the suitability of nicotinic acetylcholine receptor antibodies for standard immunodetection procedures. J Neurochem 102:479-492.
- Mulligan MK, Ponomarev I, Hitzemann RJ, Belknap JK, Tabakoff B, Harris RA, Crabbe JC, Blednov YA, Grahame NJ, Phillips TJ, Finn DA, Hoffman PL, Iyer VR, Koob GF, Bergeson SE (2006) Toward understanding the genetics of alcohol drinking through transcriptome meta-analysis. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 103:6368-6373.
- Murrell RD, Haydon DA (1991) Actions of n-alcohols on nicotinic acetylcholine receptor ion channels in cultured rat muscle cells. Ann N Y Acad Sci 625:365-374.
- Nakahiro M, Arakawa O, Narahashi T (1991) Modulation of gamma-aminobutyric acid receptor-channel complex by alcohols. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 259:235-240.
- National Institutes of Health (1985) Principles of laboratory animal care. Publication 85-23. Bethesda, MD: National Institute of Health.
- National Research Council (1996) Guide for the Care and Use of Laboratory Animals. Washington, DC: National Academy Press.
- Nestler EJ (2005) Is there a common molecular pathway for addiction? Nat Neurosci 8:1445-1449.
- Newlin DB, Thomson JB (1991) Chronic tolerance and sensitization to alcohol in sons of alcoholics. Alcohol Clin Exp Res 15:399-405.

- Newlin DB, Thomson JB (1999) Chronic tolerance and sensitization to alcohol in sons of alcoholics: II. Replication and reanalysis. Exp Clin Psychopharmacol 7:234-243.
- Nicke A, Wonnacott S, Lewis RJ (2004) Alpha-conotoxins as tools for the elucidation of structure and function of neuronal nicotinic acetylcholine receptor subtypes. Eur J Biochem 271:2305-2319.
- Nishikawa T, Fage D, Scatton B (1986) Evidence for, and nature of, the tonic inhibitory influence of habenulointerpeduncular pathways upon cerebral dopaminergic transmission in the rat. Brain Res 373:324-336.
- Oakman SA, Faris PL, Kerr PE, Cozzari C, Hartman BK (1995) Distribution of pontomesencephalic cholinergic neurons projecting to substantia nigra differs significantly from those projecting to ventral tegmental area. J Neurosci 15:5859-5869.
- Office of National Drug Control Policy (2001) The economic costs of drug abuse in the United States, 1992 - 1998. Washington, DC: Executive Office of the President (Publication No. NCJ-190636).
- Oliverio A, Eleftheriou BE (1976) Motor activity and alcohol: genetic analysis in the mouse. Physiol Behav 16:577-581.
- Oliverio A, Eleftheriou BE, Bailey DW (1973) Exploratory activity: genetic analysis of its modification by scopolamine and amphetamine. Physiol Behav 10:893-899.
- Omelchenko N, Sesack SR (2005) Laterodorsal tegmental projections to identified cell populations in the rat ventral tegmental area. J Comp Neurol 483:217-235.

- Pace CJ, Glick SD, Maisonneuve IM, He LW, Jokiel PA, Kuehne ME, Fleck MW (2004) Novel iboga alkaloid congeners block nicotinic receptors and reduce drug selfadministration. Eur J Pharmacol 492:159-167.
- Palmer AA, Phillips TJ (2002) Quantitative trait locus (QTL) mapping in mice. In: Methods in Alcohol-Related Neuroscience Research (Liu Y, Lovinger DM, eds), pp 1-30. Boca Raton: CRC Press.
- Palmer AA, McKinnon CS, Bergstrom HC, Phillips TJ (2002) Locomotor activity responses to ethanol, other alcohols, and GABA-A acting compounds in forwardand reverse-selected FAST and SLOW mouse lines. Behav Neurosci 116:958-967.
- Palmer AA, Low MJ, Grandy DK, Phillips TJ (2003) Effects of a Drd2 deletion mutation on ethanol-induced locomotor stimulation and sensitization suggest a role for epistasis. Behav Genet 33:311-324.
- Palmer AA, Lessov-Schlaggar CN, Ponder CA, McKinnon CS, Phillips TJ (2006) Sensitivity to the locomotor-stimulant effects of ethanol and allopregnanolone: a quantitative trait locus study of common genetic influence. Genes Brain Behav 5:506-517.
- Palmer AA, Verbitsky M, Suresh R, Kamens HM, Reed CL, Li N, Burkhart-Kasch S, McKinnon CS, Belknap JK, Gilliam TC, Phillips TJ (2005) Gene expression differences in mice divergently selected for methamphetamine sensitivity. Mamm Genome 16:291-305.
- Papke RL, Sanberg PR, Shytle RD (2001) Analysis of mecamylamine stereoisomers on human nicotinic receptor subtypes. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 297:646-656.

- Parker MJ, Beck A, Luetje CW (1998) Neuronal nicotinic receptor beta2 and beta4 subunits confer large differences in agonist binding affinity. Mol Pharmacol 54:1132-1139.
- Perry DC, Xiao Y, Nguyen HN, Musachio JL, Davila-Garcia MI, Kellar KJ (2002)
 Measuring nicotinic receptors with characteristics of alpha4beta2, alpha3beta2
 and alpha3beta4 subtypes in rat tissues by autoradiography. J Neurochem 82:468-481.
- Petrushenko ZM, Budkevich TV, Shalak VF, Negrutskii BS, El'skaya AV (2002) Novel complexes of mammalian translation elongation factor eEF1A.GDP with uncharged tRNA and aminoacyl-tRNA synthetase. Implications for tRNA channeling. Eur J Biochem 269:4811-4818.
- Phillips TJ, Dudek BC (1991) Locomotor activity responses to ethanol in selectively bred long- and short-sleep mice, two inbred mouse strains, and their F1 hybrids.
 Alcohol Clin Exp Res 15:255-261.
- Phillips TJ, Shen EH (1996) Neurochemical bases of locomotion and ethanol stimulant effects. Int Rev Neurobiol 39:243-282.
- Phillips TJ, Belknap JK (2002) Complex-trait genetics: emergence of multivariate strategies. Nat Rev Neurosci 3:478-485.
- Phillips TJ, Huson MG, McKinnon CS (1998) Localization of genes mediating acute and sensitized locomotor responses to cocaine in BXD/Ty recombinant inbred mice. J Neurosci 18:3023-3034.
- Phillips TJ, Hen R, Crabbe JC (1999) Complications associated with genetic background effects in research using knockout mice. Psychopharmacology (Berl) 147:5-7.

- Phillips TJ, Burkhart-Kasch S, Terdal ES, Crabbe JC (1991) Response to selection for ethanol-induced locomotor activation: genetic analyses and selection response characterization. Psychopharmacology (Berl) 103:557-566.
- Phillips TJ, Lessov CN, Harland RD, Mitchell SR (1996) Evaluation of potential genetic associations between ethanol tolerance and sensitization in BXD/Ty recombinant inbred mice. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 277:613-623.
- Phillips TJ, Huson M, Gwiazdon C, Burkhart-Kasch S, Shen EH (1995) Effects of acute and repeated ethanol exposures on the locomotor activity of BXD recombinant inbred mice. Alcohol Clin Exp Res 19:269-278.
- Phillips TJ, Belknap JK, Hitzemann RJ, Buck KJ, Cunningham CL, Crabbe JC (2002a) Harnessing the mouse to unravel the genetics of human disease. Genes Brain Behav 1:14-26.
- Phillips TJ, Shen EH, McKinnon CS, Burkhart-Kasch S, Lessov CN, Palmer AA (2002b)
 Forward, relaxed, and reverse selection for reduced and enhanced sensitivity to
 ethanol's locomotor stimulant effects in mice. Alcohol Clin Exp Res 26:593-602.
- Pierce RC, Kalivas PW (1997) A circuitry model of the expression of behavioral sensitization to amphetamine-like psychostimulants. Brain Res Brain Res Rev 25:192-216.

Pohorecky LA (1977) Biphasic action of ethanol. Biobehav Rev 1:231-240.

- Poikolainen K (2000) Risk factors for alcohol dependence: a case-control study. Alcohol Alcohol 35:190-196.
- Quintanilla ME (1999) Effect of low doses of ethanol on spontaneous locomotor activity in UChB and UChA rats. Addict Biol 4:443-448.

- Ralph RJ, Paulus MP, Geyer MA (2001) Strain-specific effects of amphetamine on prepulse inhibition and patterns of locomotor behavior in mice. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 298:148-155.
- Randall CL, Carpenter JA, Lester D, Friedman HJ (1975) Ethanol-induced mouse strain differences in locomotor activity. Pharmacol Biochem Behav 3:533-535.
- Remington G, Anisman H (1976) Genetic and ontogenetic variations in locomotor activity following treatment with scopolamine or d-amphetamine. Dev Psychobiol 9:579-585.
- Resnick RB, Kestenbaum RS, Schwartz LK (1977) Acute systemic effects of cocaine in man: a controlled study by intranasal and intravenous routes. Science 195:696-698.
- Rezvani AH, Overstreet DH, Yang Y, Maisonneuve IM, Bandarage UK, Kuehne ME,
 Glick SD (1997) Attenuation of alcohol consumption by a novel nontoxic
 ibogaine analogue (18-methoxycoronaridine) in alcohol-preferring rats.
 Pharmacol Biochem Behav 58:615-619.
- Risinger FO, Malott DH, Prather LK, Niehus DR, Cunningham CL (1994) Motivational properties of ethanol in mice selectively bred for ethanol-induced locomotor differences. Psychopharmacology (Berl) 116:207-216.
- Robinson TE, Camp DM (1990) Does amphetamine preferentially increase the extracellular concentration of dopamine in the mesolimbic system of freely moving rats? Neuropsychopharmacology 3:163-173.

- Rocha BA, Odom LA, Barron BA, Ator R, Wild SA, Forster MJ (1998) Differential responsiveness to cocaine in C57BL/6J and DBA/2J mice. Psychopharmacology (Berl) 138:82-88.
- Rodd ZA, Bell RL, McKinzie DL, Webster AA, Murphy JM, Lumeng L, Li TK,
 McBride WJ (2004) Low-dose stimulatory effects of ethanol during adolescence
 in rat lines selectively bred for high alcohol intake. Alcohol Clin Exp Res 28:535543.
- Romanelli MN, Gualtieri F (2003) Cholinergic nicotinic receptors: competitive ligands, allosteric modulators, and their potential applications. Med Res Rev 23:393-426.
- Romanelli MN, Gratteri P, Guandalini L, Martini E, Bonaccini C, Gualtieri F (2007) Central Nicotinic Receptors: Structure, Function, Ligands, and Therapeutic Potential. ChemMedChem 2:746-767.
- Rosenthal R (1994) Parametric measures of effect size. In: The handbook of research synthesis (Cooper H, Hedges LV, eds), pp 231-244. New York: Russel Sage Foundation.
- Rothman RB, Baumann MH (2003) Monoamine transporters and psychostimulant drugs. Eur J Pharmacol 479:23-40.
- Rubinstein M, Phillips TJ, Bunzow JR, Falzone TL, Dziewczapolski G, Zhang G, Fang Y, Larson JL, McDougall JA, Chester JA, Saez C, Pugsley TA, Gershanik O, Low MJ, Grandy DK (1997) Mice lacking dopamine D4 receptors are supersensitive to ethanol, cocaine, and methamphetamine. Cell 90:991-1001.

- Ruth JA, Ullman EA, Collins AC (1988) An analysis of cocaine effects on locomotor activities and heart rate in four inbred mouse strains. Pharmacol Biochem Behav 29:157-162.
- Salas R, Cook KD, Bassetto L, De Biasi M (2004) The alpha3 and beta4 nicotinic acetylcholine receptor subunits are necessary for nicotine-induced seizures and hypolocomotion in mice. Neuropharmacology 47:401-407.
- Salminen O, Murphy KL, McIntosh JM, Drago J, Marks MJ, Collins AC, Grady SR (2004) Subunit composition and pharmacology of two classes of striatal presynaptic nicotinic acetylcholine receptors mediating dopamine release in mice. Mol Pharmacol 65:1526-1535.
- Schoffelmeer AN, De Vries TJ, Wardeh G, van de Ven HW, Vanderschuren LJ (2002) Psychostimulant-induced behavioral sensitization depends on nicotinic receptor activation. J Neurosci 22:3269-3276.
- Schwartz RD, Kellar KJ (1983) Nicotinic cholinergic receptor binding sites in the brain: regulation in vivo. Science 220:214-216.
- Shen EH, Harland RD, Crabbe JC, Phillips TJ (1995) Bidirectional selective breeding for ethanol effects on locomotor activity: characterization of FAST and SLOW mice through selection generation 35. Alcohol Clin Exp Res 19:1234-1245.
- Shirley RL, Walter NA, Reilly MT, Fehr C, Buck KJ (2004) Mpdz is a quantitative trait gene for drug withdrawal seizures. Nat Neurosci 7:699-700.
- Shoblock JR, Sullivan EB, Maisonneuve IM, Glick SD (2003) Neurochemical and behavioral differences between d-methamphetamine and d-amphetamine in rats. Psychopharmacology (Berl) 165:359-369.

Shuster L, Yu G, Bates A (1977) Sensitization to cocaine stimulation in mice.

Psychopharmacology (Berl) 52:185-190.

- Sly WS, Hu PY (1995) Human carbonic anhydrases and carbonic anhydrase deficiencies. Annu Rev Biochem 64:375-401.
- Smith BR, Horan JT, Gaskin S, Amit Z (1999) Exposure to nicotine enhances acquisition of ethanol drinking by laboratory rats in a limited access paradigm.
 Psychopharmacology (Berl) 142:408-412.
- Smoothy R, Berry MS (1985) Time course of the locomotor stimulant and depressant effects of a single low dose of ethanol in mice. Psychopharmacology (Berl) 85:57-61.
- Sulzer D, Rayport S (1990) Amphetamine and other psychostimulants reduce pH gradients in midbrain dopaminergic neurons and chromaffin granules: a mechanism of action. Neuron 5:797-808.
- Sulzer D, Sonders MS, Poulsen NW, Galli A (2005) Mechanisms of neurotransmitter release by amphetamines: a review. Prog Neurobiol 75:406-433.
- Sulzer D, Chen TK, Lau YY, Kristensen H, Rayport S, Ewing A (1995) Amphetamine redistributes dopamine from synaptic vesicles to the cytosol and promotes reverse transport. J Neurosci 15:4102-4108.
- Sutherland RJ (1982) The dorsal diencephalic conduction system: a review of the anatomy and functions of the habenular complex. Neurosci Biobehav Rev 6:1-13.
- Swan GE, Carmelli D, Cardon LR (1997) Heavy consumption of cigarettes, alcohol and coffee in male twins. J Stud Alcohol 58:182-190.

- Szumlinski KK, Balogun MY, Maisonneuve IM, Glick SD (2000a) Interactions between iboga agents and methamphetamine sensitization: studies of locomotion and stereotypy in rats. Psychopharmacology (Berl) 151:234-241.
- Szumlinski KK, McCafferty CA, Maisonneuve IM, Glick SD (2000b) Interactions between 18-methoxycoronaridine (18-MC) and cocaine: dissociation of behavioural and neurochemical sensitization. Brain Res 871:245-258.
- Tabakoff B, Kiianmaa K (1982) Does tolerance develop to the activating, as well as the depressant, effects of ethanol? Pharmacol Biochem Behav 17:1073-1076.
- Talcott GW, Poston WS, 2nd, Haddock CK (1998) Co-occurrent use of cigarettes, alcohol, and caffeine in a retired military population. Mil Med 163:133-138.
- Talley TT, Olivera BM, Han KH, Christensen SB, Dowell C, Tsigelny I, Ho KY, Taylor P, McIntosh JM (2006) Alpha-conotoxin OmIA is a potent ligand for the acetylcholine-binding protein as well as alpha3beta2 and alpha7 nicotinic acetylcholine receptors. J Biol Chem 281:24678-24686.
- Thomas SE, Drobes DJ, Voronin K, Anton RF (2004) Following alcohol consumption, nontreatment-seeking alcoholics report greater stimulation but similar sedation compared with social drinkers. J Stud Alcohol 65:330-335.
- Tolliver BK, Carney JM (1994) Comparison of cocaine and GBR 12935: effects on locomotor activity and stereotypy in two inbred mouse strains. Pharmacol Biochem Behav 48:733-739.
- Tolliver BK, Belknap JK, Woods WE, Carney JM (1994) Genetic analysis of sensitization and tolerance to cocaine. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 270:1230-1238.

Torkamanzehi A, Boksa P, Ayoubi M, Fortier ME, Ng Ying Kin NM, Skamene E,
Rouleau G, Joober R (2006) Identification of Informative Strains and Provisional
QTL Mapping of Amphetamine (AMPH)-Induced Locomotion in Recombinant
Congenic Strains (RCS) of Mice. Behav Genet 36:903-913.

- Tritto T, Dudek BC (1994) Differential activating effects of ethanol in C57BL/6Abg and DBA/2Abg mice. Alcohol 11:133-139.
- Tritto T, Marley RJ, Bastidas D, Stitzel JA, Collins AC (2001) Potential regulation of nicotine and ethanol actions by alpha4-containing nicotinic receptors. Alcohol 24:69-78.
- True WR, Xian H, Scherrer JF, Madden PA, Bucholz KK, Heath AC, Eisen SA, Lyons MJ, Goldberg J, Tsuang M (1999) Common genetic vulnerability for nicotine and alcohol dependence in men. Arch Gen Psychiatry 56:655-661.
- Tsuang MT, Bar JL, Harley RM, Lyons MJ (2001) The Harvard Twin Study of Substance Abuse: what we have learned. Harv Rev Psychiatry 9:267-279.
- Tureci O, Sahin U, Vollmar E, Siemer S, Gottert E, Seitz G, Parkkila AK, Shah GN,
 Grubb JH, Pfreundschuh M, Sly WS (1998) Human carbonic anhydrase XII:
 cDNA cloning, expression, and chromosomal localization of a carbonic anhydrase
 gene that is overexpressed in some renal cell cancers. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A
 95:7608-7613.
- Tzavara ET, Bymaster FP, Davis RJ, Wade MR, Perry KW, Wess J, McKinzie DL, Felder C, Nomikos GG (2004) M4 muscarinic receptors regulate the dynamics of cholinergic and dopaminergic neurotransmission: relevance to the

pathophysiology and treatment of related CNS pathologies. Faseb J 18:1410-1412.

- van den Bree MB, Johnson EO, Neale MC, Pickens RW (1998) Genetic and environmental influences on drug use and abuse/dependence in male and female twins. Drug Alcohol Depend 52:231-241.
- Van Dyke C, Jatlow P, Ungerer J, Barash PG, Byck R (1978) Oral cocaine: plasma concentrations and central effects. Science 200:211-213.
- Veenstra-VanderWeele J, Qaadir A, Palmer AA, Cook EH, Jr., de Wit H (2006) Association between the casein kinase 1 epsilon gene region and subjective response to D-amphetamine. Neuropsychopharmacology 31:1056-1063.
- Vidal C, Changeux JP (1993) Nicotinic and muscarinic modulations of excitatory synaptic transmission in the rat prefrontal cortex in vitro. Neuroscience 56:23-32.
- Vollm BA, de Araujo IE, Cowen PJ, Rolls ET, Kringelbach ML, Smith KA, Jezzard P, Heal RJ, Matthews PM (2004) Methamphetamine activates reward circuitry in drug naive human subjects. Neuropsychopharmacology 29:1715-1722.
- Wahlsten D, Bachmanov A, Finn DA, Crabbe JC (2006) Stability of inbred mouse strain differences in behavior and brain size between laboratories and across decades.Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 103:16364-16369.
- Waller MB, Murphy JM, McBride WJ, Lumeng L, Li TK (1986) Effect of low dose ethanol on spontaneous motor activity in alcohol-preferring and -nonpreferring lines of rats. Pharmacol Biochem Behav 24:617-623.

- Wang PS, Lane M, Olfson M, Pincus HA, Wells KB, Kessler RC (2005) Twelve-month use of mental health services in the United States: results from the National Comorbidity Survey Replication. Arch Gen Psychiatry 62:629-640.
- Wang YM, Gainetdinov RR, Fumagalli F, Xu F, Jones SR, Bock CB, Miller GW, Wightman RM, Caron MG (1997) Knockout of the vesicular monoamine transporter 2 gene results in neonatal death and supersensitivity to cocaine and amphetamine. Neuron 19:1285-1296.
- Wehner JM, Radcliffe RA, Bowers BJ (2001) Quantitative genetics and mouse behavior. Annu Rev Neurosci 24:845-867.
- Wenger GR (1989) The role of control activity levels in the reported strain differences to the behavioral effects of drugs in mice. Pharmacol Biochem Behav 32:241-247.
- Whiteaker P, Jimenez M, McIntosh JM, Collins AC, Marks MJ (2000) Identification of a novel nicotinic binding site in mouse brain using [(125)I]-epibatidine. Br J Pharmacol 131:729-739.
- Whiteaker P, Peterson CG, Xu W, McIntosh JM, Paylor R, Beaudet AL, Collins AC, Marks MJ (2002) Involvement of the alpha3 subunit in central nicotinic binding populations. J Neurosci 22:2522-2529.
- Womer DE, Jones BC, Erwin VG (1994) Characterization of dopamine transporter and locomotor effects of cocaine, GBR 12909, epidepride, and SCH 23390 in C57BL and DBA mice. Pharmacol Biochem Behav 48:327-335.
- Wood SC, Tonner PH, de Armendi AJ, Bugge B, Miller KW (1995) Channel inhibition by alkanols occurs at a binding site on the nicotinic acetylcholine receptor. Mol Pharmacol 47:121-130.

- Woolf NJ (1991) Cholinergic systems in mammalian brain and spinal cord. Prog Neurobiol 37:475-524.
- Wu G, Tonner PH, Miller KW (1994) Ethanol stabilizes the open channel state of the Torpedo nicotinic acetylcholine receptor. Mol Pharmacol 45:102-108.
- Xiao Y, Kellar KJ (2004) The comparative pharmacology and up-regulation of rat neuronal nicotinic receptor subtype binding sites stably expressed in transfected mammalian cells. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 310:98-107.
- Xu W, Gelber S, Orr-Urtreger A, Armstrong D, Lewis RA, Ou CN, Patrick J, Role L, De Biasi M, Beaudet AL (1999) Megacystis, mydriasis, and ion channel defect in mice lacking the alpha3 neuronal nicotinic acetylcholine receptor. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 96:5746-5751.
- Young EM, Mahler S, Chi H, de Wit H (2005) Mecamylamine and ethanol preference in healthy volunteers. Alcohol Clin Exp Res 29:58-65.
- Zachariou V, Caldarone BJ, Weathers-Lowin A, George TP, Elsworth JD, Roth RH, Changeux JP, Picciotto MR (2001) Nicotine receptor inactivation decreases sensitivity to cocaine. Neuropsychopharmacology 24:576-589.
- Zeitlmann L, Sirim P, Kremmer E, Kolanus W (2001) Cloning of ACP33 as a novel intracellular ligand of CD4. J Biol Chem 276:9123-9132.
- Zhang J, Steinbach JH (2003) Cytisine binds with similar affinity to nicotinic alpha4beta2 receptors on the cell surface and in homogenates. Brain Res 959:98-102.

- Zocchi A, Orsini C, Cabib S, Puglisi-Allegra S (1998) Parallel strain-dependent effect of amphetamine on locomotor activity and dopamine release in the nucleus accumbens: an in vivo study in mice. Neuroscience 82:521-528.
- Zoli M, Moretti M, Zanardi A, McIntosh JM, Clementi F, Gotti C (2002) Identification of the nicotinic receptor subtypes expressed on dopaminergic terminals in the rat striatum. J Neurosci 22:8785-8789.